
YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSIONYOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

Regular MeetingRegular Meeting
AGENDAAGENDA

July 25, 2024 - 9:00 a.m. July 25, 2024 - 9:00 a.m. 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS

625 COURT STREET, ROOM 206
WOODLAND, CA 95695

COMMISSIONERS COMMISSIONERS 
BILL BIASI, ACTING CHAIR (CITY MEMBER)

LUCAS FRERICHS (COUNTY MEMBER)
PAMELA MILLER (PUBLIC MEMBER)
GLORIA PARTIDA (CITY MEMBER)

OSCAR VILLEGAS (COUNTY MEMBER)

ALTERNATE COMMISSIONERSALTERNATE COMMISSIONERS
RICHARD DELIBERTY (PUBLIC MEMBER)
TANIA GARCIA-CADENA (CITY MEMBER)

JIM PROVENZA (COUNTY MEMBER)

CHRISTINE CRAWFORD
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ERIC MAY
COMMISSION COUNSEL

Meetings of the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) are held in person in the Board of
Supervisors chambers, located at 625 Court Street, Suite 206, Woodland, CA. LAFCo will, to the best of its
ability, provide hybrid and remote options for LAFCo meeting participants and to the public; however, LAFCo
cannot guarantee these options will be available due to technical limitations outside our control. For
assurance of public comment, LAFCo encourages in-person and written public comments to be submitted.
The Zoom link / phone number and instructions for participating in the meeting through Zoom are set forth in
the "Public Participation Instructions" on the final page of this agenda.

NOTICE:NOTICE:
This agenda has been posted at least five (5) calendar days prior to the meeting in a location freely
accessible to members of the public, in accordance with the Brown Act and the Cortese-Knox-
Hertzberg Act. The public may subscribe to receive emailed agendas, notices and other updates by
contacting staff at lafco@yolocounty.gov.

All persons are invited to testify and submit written comments to the Commission.  If you challenge a
LAFCo action in court, you may be limited to issues raised at the public hearing or submitted as
written comments prior to the close of the public hearing.  If you wish to submit written materials at the
hearing, please supply 8 copies.

FPPC - Notice to All Parties and Participants in LAFCo ProceedingsFPPC - Notice to All Parties and Participants in LAFCo Proceedings
All parties and participants on a matter to be heard by the Commission that have made campaign
contributions totaling more than $250 to any Commissioner in the past 12 months must disclose this
fact, either orally or in writing, for the official record as required by Government Code Section 84308.

Contributions and expenditures for political purposes related to any proposal or proceedings before
LAFCo are subject to the reporting requirements of the Political Reform Act and the regulations of the
Fair Political Practices Commission, and must be disclosed to the Commission prior to the hearing on
the matter.

1

mailto:lafco@yolocounty.gov


AGENDAAGENDA
PL EASE NOT EPL EASE NOT E  - The numerical order of items on this agenda is for convenience of reference.
Items may be taken out of order upon request of the Chair or Commission members. 
 
      

CALL TO ORDERCALL TO ORDER
 

1. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Public Comment: This is an opportunity for members of the public to address the Commission on subjects
relating to LAFCo purview but not relative to items on this Agenda. The Commission reserves the right to
impose a reasonable time limit on any topic or on any individual speaker.

 

 

OATH OF OFFICEOATH OF OFFICE
 

4. Pamela Miller, Public Member  
 

CONSENT AGENDACONSENT AGENDA
 

5. Approve the LAFCo Meeting minutes of June 27, 2024  
 

6. Consider an update to the Yolo LAFCo Administrative Policies and Procedures to add a new Section 3.1
Role of Commissioners and amend Section 5.17 Reimbursement Policies to delete an incorrect reference to
reimbursement for LAFCo meetings

 

 

7. Correspondence  
 

PUBLIC HEARINGPUBLIC HEARING
 

8. Consider approval of Resolution 2024-10Resolution 2024-10 adopting the Municipal Service Review (MSR) for Flood
Protection Services and approving a Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update for Reclamation District (RD)
999, and determine the MSR/SOI is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (LAFCo
No. 23-03)

 

 

REGULAR AGENDAREGULAR AGENDA
 

9. Elect new officers to the Commission to serve the remainder of a one-year term, ending February 1, 2025.  
 

10. Designate two LAFCo members for an Executive Officer working group on reinvigorating the YED Talks  
 

11. Consider CALAFCO 2024 Board of Director Nominations for one County Member for the Central Region and
designate a voting delegate and alternate for the election

 

 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORTEXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT
 

12. A report by the Executive Officer on recent events relevant to the Commission and an update of staff
activity for the month. The Commission or any individual Commissioner may request that action be taken
on any item listed.  

a.  07.25.2024 Long Range Planning Calendar 

b.  EO Activity Report - June 24 through July 19, 2024 

c.  CALAFCO Legislative Summary

 

2



 

COMMISSIONER REPORTSCOMMISSIONER REPORTS
 

13. Action items and reports from members of the Commission, including announcements, questions to be
referred to staff, future agenda items, and reports on meetings and information which would be of interest to
the Commission or the public.

 

 

ADJOURNMENTADJOURNMENT
 

14. Adjourn to the next Regular LAFCo Meeting  
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing agenda was posted by 5:00 p.m. Friday, July 19, 2024, at
the following places:
 

On the bulletin board outside the east entrance of the Erwin W. Meier County Administration Building,
625 Court Street, Woodland, CA;
 
On the bulletin board outside the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 625 Court Street, Room 206,
Woodland, CA: and,
 
On the LAFCo website at: www.yololafco.org.

ATTEST:
Terri Tuck, Clerk

Yolo LAFCO

A.D.A. NOTICEA.D.A. NOTICE
If requested, this agenda can be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a
disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Federal Rules
and Regulations adopted in implementation thereof. Persons seeking an alternative format should contact
the Commission Clerk for further information. In addition, a person with a disability who requires a
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in a public meeting
should contact the Commission Clerk as soon as possible and at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. The
Commission Clerk may be reached at 530-666-8048 or at the following address: Yolo LAFCo, 625 Court
Street, Suite 107, Woodland, CA 95695. 
 
 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION INSTRUCTIONS:PUBLIC PARTICIPATION INSTRUCTIONS:
Meetings of the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) are held in person in the Board of
Supervisors chambers, located at 625 Court Street, Room 206, Woodland, CA. If you cannot attend the
LAFCo meeting in person but desire to follow the meeting remotely, make a public comment, or comment on
a specific item on the agenda, you may do so by:

Joining through Zoom on your computer at  https://yolocounty.zoom.us/j/81457255487, or participate by
phone by calling 1-408-638-0968, Webinar ID: 814 5725 5487. Please note there is no participant code,
you will just hit # again after the recording prompts you.
 
If you are joining the meeting via Zoom and wish to make a comment on an item, press the "raise a
hand" button. If you are joining the meeting by phone, press *9 to indicate a desire to make comment.
The moderator will call you by name or phone number when it is your turn to comment. Press *6 to
unmute. The Commission reserves the right to impose a reasonable limit on time afforded to any topic
or to any individual speaker.
 
If you wish to submit a written comment on a specific agenda item or on an item not on the agenda,
please email the Commission Clerk at lafco@yolocounty.org or send to 625 Court Street, Suite 107,
Woodland, CA 95695. Please include meeting date and item number. Please submit your comment by
2:00pm the day prior to the meeting, if possible, to provide the Commission a reasonable opportunity to
review your comment in advance of the meeting. All written comments are distributed to the
Commission, filed into the record, but will not be read aloud.
 

Please note that LAFCo cannot guarantee that hybrid and remote options will be available due to technical
3

http://www.yololafco.org
https://yolocounty.zoom.us/j/81457255487
mailto:lafco@yolocounty.org


limitations outside our control. For assurance of public comment, LAFCo encourages in-person or written
public comments to be submitted. 

 

4



  
  Consent    Consent    5. 5.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Approve the LAFCo Meeting minutes of June 27, 2024

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve the LAFCo Meeting minutes of June 27, 2024.

AttachmentsAttachments
ATT-Minutes 06.27.24

Form ReviewForm Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 07/02/2024 02:24 PM
Final Approval Date: 07/02/2024

5



6



DRAFT 

  

YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
June 27, 2024 

The Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission met on the 27th day of June 2024, at 9:00 a.m. in 
the Yolo County Board of Supervisors Chambers, 625 Court Street, Room 206, Woodland CA. 
Voting members present were Chair and Public Member Olin Woods, City Members Bill Biasi and 
Gloria Partida, and County Member Lucas Frerichs. Voting Members absent were County 
Member Oscar Villegas. Other participants present were City Member Alternate Tania Garcia-
Cadena, Executive Officer Christine Crawford, Clerk Terri Tuck, and Counsel Eric May. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Woods called the Meeting to order at 9:08 a.m. 

Item № 1 Pledge 

Tom Stallard led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item № 2 Roll Call 

PRESENT: Biasi, Frerichs, Partida, Woods ABSENT: Villegas 

Item № 3 Public Comments 

There were no public comments.  

Item № 4 Closed Session 

Public Employee Performance Evaluation  
(Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957) 
Position Title: LAFCo Executive Officer 

There was nothing to report out of Closed Session. 

The meeting reconvened in Open Session at 9:50 a.m. 

CONSENT 

Item № 5 Approve the LAFCo Meeting Minutes of May 23, 2024 

Item № 6 Ratify Resolution 2024-09 commending Olin Woods on his long tenure with 
the Yolo LAFCo as a Regular Public Member 

Item № 7 Correspondence 

Minute Order 2024-26: The recommended actions were approved. 

MOTION: Frerichs SECOND: Partida 

Item 5 

7



Yolo LAFCo Meeting Minutes  June 27, 2024 
 

 

 2 

AYES: Biasi, Frerichs, Partida, Woods 
NOES: None 

REGULAR AGENDA 

Item № 8 Discussion and direction regarding reinvigorating the YED Talks organized 
by LAFCo 

After an overview report by staff, Don Saylor, former Board of Supervisor and LAFCo 
Commissioner spoke. 

Minute Order 2024-27: This item was discussed and staff was asked to bring back the 
item to the next regular meeting.  

Item № 9 Consider the appointment of a Regular Public Member effective July 1, 2024, 
and an Alternative Public Member effective February 1, 2025 

Minute Order 2024-28: The recommended actions of the Ad Hoc Personnel 
Subcommittee were approved, naming the following appointments: 

1. Pamela Miller – Regular Public Member, effective July 1, 2024 through February 1, 
2027. 

2. Erik Vink – Public Member Alternate, effective February 1, 2025 through February 1, 
2029 

MOTION: Biasi SECOND: Frerichs 
AYES: Biasi, Frerichs, Partida  
ABSTAIN: (Per state law, Public Member Woods did not vote on this item) 
 

Item № 10 Discuss and provide direction regarding city, county, and public alternate 
members sitting at the dais to enhance participation at LAFCo meetings 

Minute Order 2024-29: By consensus, the recommended action was approved, directing 
staff to bring to a future meeting an update of the Administrative Policies and Procedures, 
reflecting that alternate members attend all meetings, sitting at the staff/press table in front 
of the dais to enhance participation in meetings. 

Item № 11 Consider nominations for the CALAFCO 2024 Achievement Awards 

Minute Order 2024-30: The recommended action was approved, directing staff to submit 
the following nominations: 

• Olin Woods – Lifetime Achievement Award; and, 

• Eric May, Counsel – Outstanding LAFCo Professional Award 
 
MOTION: Frerichs SECOND: Partida 
AYES: Biasi, Frerichs, Partida, Villegas, Woods 
NOES: None 

 

8



Yolo LAFCo Meeting Minutes  June 27, 2024 
 

 

 3 

Item № 12 Executive Officer’s Report 

The Commission was given written reports of the Executive Officer’s activities for the 
period of May 20 through June 21, 2024, and was verbally updated on recent events 
relevant to the Commission, including the Long Range Planning Calendar and Legislative 
Summary. 

Staff reminded the Commission that the CALAFCO Conference will be held at the Tenaya 
Lodge in Yosemite this year from October 16-18 and those interested in attending the 
event should contact staff to register them. 

Staff stated that pursuant to the Strategic Plan item to educate the public about LAFCo, 
staff wrote a Letter to the Editor to the Davis Enterprise in response to a related 
commentary, which is included in today’s correspondence.    

Staff noted that 22 applicants applied for the LAFCo analyst position which closed on June 
16th. Human Resources is currently reviewing the applications to ensure all applicants 
meet the minimum qualifications. 

Chair Woods asked for an update regarding the County’s proposal application to dissolve 
the Elkhorn FPD. Staff indicated LAFCo has not received an application yet as the County 
is awaiting a “will-serve” letter from the City of West Sacramento. Staff is doing everything 
possible to get the application submitted as soon as possible.  

Item № 13 Commissioner Reports 

Commissioner Woods was presented LAFCo Resolution 2024-09 by City Member and 
Vice Chair Bill Biasi, commending him for his tenure as Chair and Public Member of the 
Yolo LAFCo. Mr. Woods was also presented a resolution by County Member Lucas 
Frerichs from the Yolo County Board of Supervisors, and City Member Gloria Partida 
presented a resolution by State Assembly Member Cecilia Aguiar-Curry and State Senator 
Bill Dodd.   

Others present to commend Mr. Woods were Sacramento LAFCo Executive Officer Jose 
Henriquez, Napa LAFCo Executive Officer Brendon Freeman, Santa Cruz LAFCo 
Executive Officer Joe Serrano, Calaveras LAFCo Commissioner and CALAFCO Board 
Member Anita Paque, former Yolo LAFCo Commissioners Lynnel Pollock, Tom Stallard, 
and Don Saylor, former CALAFCO Executive Director and recently appointed Public 
Member Pamela Miller, and City Member Alternate Tania Garcia-Cadena.   

Item № 14 Adjournment 
 

Minute Order 2024-31: By order of the Chair, the meeting was adjourned at 11:10 a.m. 
to the next regular meeting.  

____________________________ 
Bill Biasi, Acting Chair 

ATTEST:      Local Agency Formation Commission  
        County of Yolo, State of California 
________________________________ 
Terri Tuck 
Clerk to the Commission 

9



10



  
  Consent    Consent    6. 6.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Consider an update to the Yolo LAFCo Administrative Policies and Procedures to add a new Section 3.1 Role of
Commissioners and amend Section 5.17 Reimbursement Policies to delete an incorrect reference to reimbursement
for LAFCo meetings

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve the recommended updates.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTIONREASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
At the June 7, 2024, meeting, the Commission discussed increasing alternate member's participation in meetings by
having them sit either at the dais or staff table. Upon reviewing our local policies, staff realized they were missing a
more general policy regarding regular and alternate members' participation. Therefore, staff reached out to multiple
other LAFCos for sample policies and synthesized the best elements to develop a policy for Yolo LAFCo as provided
below. This policy makes it clear that alternates are encouraged to attend and participate in all meetings if at all
possible. The policy is flexible whether alternates sit at the dais or staff table. It also clarifies that alternates may not
participate in closed session when the regular member is present. 

While the administrative policies are being considered, staff also suggests an important cleanup item is taken care
of by deleting a reference to costs reimbursed related to LAFCo meetings (Section 5.17). It contradicts with Section
5.15, which states Commissioners do not receive any mileage or compensation to attend LAFCo meetings (which
has been our practice).

BACKGROUNDBACKGROUND
3.1 ROLE OF COMMISSIONERS (new section)3.1 ROLE OF COMMISSIONERS (new section)
While serving on the Commission, all commission members shall exercise their independent judgmentWhile serving on the Commission, all commission members shall exercise their independent judgment
on behalf of the interests of residents, property owners, and the public as a whole in furthering theon behalf of the interests of residents, property owners, and the public as a whole in furthering the
purposes of the CKH Act. Any member appointed on behalf of local governments shall represent thepurposes of the CKH Act. Any member appointed on behalf of local governments shall represent the
interests of the public as a whole and not solely the interests of the appointing authority.interests of the public as a whole and not solely the interests of the appointing authority.

In each member category, the alternate member shall serve and vote in place of a regular member whoIn each member category, the alternate member shall serve and vote in place of a regular member who
is absent or who is disqualif ied or recuses themselves from partic ipating in a specific matter beforeis absent or who is disqualif ied or recuses themselves from partic ipating in a specific matter before
the Commission.the Commission.

Alternate members are encouraged to take an active role in LAFCo business and should attend allAlternate members are encouraged to take an active role in LAFCo business and should attend all
meetings, if at all possible, even if the regular members are present. As a matter of policy, becausemeetings, if at all possible, even if the regular members are present. As a matter of policy, because
alternate members may at any time be called upon to vote in place of a regular member, thealternate members may at any time be called upon to vote in place of a regular member, the
Commission encourages alternate members to partic ipate in discussion of the issues before theCommission encourages alternate members to partic ipate in discussion of the issues before the
Commission, including discussions and deliberations on project proposals, attendance at CALAFCOCommission, including discussions and deliberations on project proposals, attendance at CALAFCO
Annual Conferences, legislative activities and training workshops, inter-agency coordination andAnnual Conferences, legislative activities and training workshops, inter-agency coordination and
communication, and partic ipation in policy development and other working groups. Alternate memberscommunication, and partic ipation in policy development and other working groups. Alternate members
may not vote, however, unless a regular member, from the same representation category as themay not vote, however, unless a regular member, from the same representation category as the
alternate, is absent or disqualif ied from partic ipating in an item before the Commission. All non-votingalternate, is absent or disqualif ied from partic ipating in an item before the Commission. All non-voting
alternates may sit at the dais, if space allows, or in the staff/press section in front of the dais in thealternates may sit at the dais, if space allows, or in the staff/press section in front of the dais in the
Board of Supervisors Chamber.Board of Supervisors Chamber.

An alternate member may not partic ipate in closed session when the regular members are present.An alternate member may not partic ipate in closed session when the regular members are present.

5.17 REIMBURSEMENT POLICIES (edit to existing section below)
Expense reimbursement requests should be submitted monthly, although flexibility is permitted if the claimable

11



amount is not deemed to be significant. Expense claims for costs incurred in one fiscal year should be, whenever
practical, submitted for reimbursement during the same fiscal year.

Claims for reimbursement of costs related to LAFCo meetings, LAFCo meetings, conferences and seminars should be submitted not
later than 60 days following completion of the event for which reimbursement is being claimed. Reimbursement for
meals in conjunction with attendance at conferences and workshops shall not exceed the established IRS thresholds
for the County where attendance occurred. Alcoholic beverages are not reimbursed. Cancelation of attendance at
CALAFCO conferences and workshops shall be made in accordance with CALAFCO cancellation policies.

Use of private automobiles to conduct LAFCo business shall be reimbursed at the current IRS allowable rate.
Individuals receiving a monthly automobile allowance will be reimbursed for authorized travel mileage beyond the
County of Yolo and the City of Sacramento. Travel for commuting between home and office is not reimbursable. For
the purposes of this policy, the LAFCo "office" location is deemed to be the County Administration Building in
Woodland. Travel between home and a LAFCo business destination is reimbursable to the extent that the total
mileage exceeds the normal round-trip commute between the home and the office. This rate shall be considered full
and complete payment for actual expenses for use of private automobiles, including insurance, maintenance, and all
other automobile-related costs. LAFCo does not provide insurance for private automobiles used for LAFCo business.
The owner is responsible for personal liability and property damage insurance when vehicles are used on LAFCo
business.

Meals and incidental expenses are paid at a fixed per diem and paid per the per diem rate guide established by the
U.S. General Services Administration. Receipts or vouchers may be required for reimbursement of all other items of
expense except private automobile mileage and taxis or streetcars, buses, bridge and road tolls and parking fees.
Reimbursement of expenses is not allowed for personal items such as, but not limited to, entertainment, clothing,
laundering, etc. The general rule for selecting a mode of transportation for reimbursement is that method which
represents the lowest reasonable expense to LAFCo and the individual Commissioner or staff member.

AttachmentsAttachments
No file(s) attached.

Form ReviewForm Review
InboxInbox Reviewed ByReviewed By DateDate
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 07/16/2024 01:22 PM
Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 07/16/2024 12:13 PM
Final Approval Date: 07/16/2024

12



  
  Consent    Consent    7. 7.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Correspondence

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION
Review and file the following correspondence:

A.  CHW Bulletin - Update on Public Law

AttachmentsAttachments
ATT A-CHW Bulletin-Update on Public Law 06.26.24

Form ReviewForm Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 07/02/2024 02:27 PM
Final Approval Date: 07/02/2024

13



14



Supreme Court Removes Taxpayer Protection Act 

from the November Ballot 
By Michael G. Colantuono, Esq

On June 20, the California Supreme Court took 

the rare step of removing a measure from the 

statewide ballot. The California Business 

Roundtable’s “Taxpayer Protection and 

Government Accountability Act” — the “TPA,” but 

named the “Taxpayer Deception Act” by its 

detractors in local government and elsewhere — 

would have imposed many new restrictions on 

State revenues and essentially all local revenues 

from taxes to library fines to water rates. It would 

have required two-thirds-voter approval for all 

special taxes, whether proposed by local legislators 

or initiative petition, reversing six recent court 

decisions allowing such taxes by majority vote. 

The California Business Roundtable removed 

essentially the same measure from the 2018 ballot 

in exchange for a multi-year ban on local soda taxes 

and may have intended to trade this measure for a 

ban on vehicle-miles-travelled taxes — taxes on 

peripheral real estate development to fund 

transportation infrastructure briefly considered by 

the San Diego Association of Governments. Rather 

than bargain, the Legislature sued. 

The Legislature, Governor Newsom, and 

former Senate President Pro Tem John Burton  

petitioned the California Supreme Court for a writ 

of mandate ordering Secretary of State Shirley 

Weber to withhold the measure from the ballot. 

Such petitions are very rarely granted, as it is the 

role of the California Supreme Court to decide 

important legal issues on appeal and not as the first 

court to hear them. However, the petitioners, with 

support from several local government associations 

as amici curiae (“friends of the court”), persuaded 

the Court to issue an order to show cause. The 

order invited briefing in December and January 

and the Court heard argument on May 8th. As 

expected, the Court acted by the Secretary of State’s 

June 27th deadline to certify measures for the 

November ballot. 

Legislature v. Weber raised two issues. First, 

petitioners argued the measure would revise the 

state Constitution — which an initiative cannot do 

— rather than amend it. Second, they argued the 

measure would impair essential governmental 

powers — to impose taxes, delegate fee-making 

procedures to the Executive branch, and for that 

branch to fully administer the finances of 

government programs. 

Justice Goodwin Liu’s decision for a unanimous 

Supreme Court ordered Secretary of State Weber 

not to place the initiative on the Fall ballot because 

it is an improper revision. A revision can only be 

proposed by the Legislature or a constitutional 

convention. The Court concluded the initiative is a 

revision because it makes fundamental changes to 

the distribution of authority under our 

Constitution: 

• It would strip the Legislature of the power to

tax, requiring voter approval of any tax

increase, even if affecting only one taxpayer;

Item 7-ATT A

15



 

 

• It would strip the Legislature of the power to 

delegate fiscal functions to the Executive 

Branch, requiring every minor fee increase 

(like that to replace a driver’s license) to come 

to the floor of the Legislature; 

• It would strip local governments of the power 

to delegate fiscal functions to agency staff and 

greatly expand voter approval authority over 

local revenues. 

The Court did not conclude that any one of 

these changes would be a revision beyond the 

reach of the initiative power, only that the 

combination certainly is. 

The case is significant not only because it 

removes a very problematic proposal from the Fall 

ballot but also because it represents a very rare 

action by the California Supreme Court to review 

an initiative proposal before the election. It is also 

only the fourth decision to invalidate an initiative 

constitutional amendment as a revision and the 

first since a 1999 decision striking a proposal to 

delegate to the courts the task of redistricting the 

Legislature. 

This is a huge win for the State’s leaders, for 

local government, and for all who value 

government services. The Court cited the local 

government amicus brief we filed for the League of 

California Cities, the California State Association of 

Counties, the California Special Districts 

Association, and other local government 

associations, referencing its arguments repeatedly. 

The Court quoted our brief: 

Local government amici curiae argue 

that the TPA thus “revises the structure 

of local government, fundamentally 

changing the responsibilities of local 

legislators and administrators, and 

stripping charter counties of their power 

to establish administrative structures 

and charter cities of their ‘plenary 

authority’ (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 5) to 

determine the roles and responsibilities 

of their officials.” Further, they argue 

that the TPA’s restrictions on the ability 

of state and local governments to raise 

revenue without voter approval or to 

enact fees not subject to referendum 

“transform[s] the constitutional 

relationship of state and local 

governments, making the latter 

dependent on the State for fiscal 

survival but stripping the State of the 

ability to provide necessary funding.” 

In three other places it cites our brief to note the 

range of impacts the initiative would have had on 

local governments. 

Now the fight turns to two other constitutional 

amendments the Legislature placed on the Fall 

ballot. ACA 13 (Ward, D-San Diego) would require 

any initiative constitutional amendment that 

imposes a super-majority voting requirement to be 

approved by that same super-majority. Although 

the TPA will no longer be part of this debate, the 

broader question of allowing a simple majority to 

impose super-majority approval requirements 

remains. 

ACA 1 (Aguiar-Curry, D-Woodland) would 

allow voters to approve local government bonds 

for housing and infrastructure (broadly defined) 

with 55 percent approval, rather the two-thirds that 

has been required since 1978’s Proposition 13. This 

is modeled on a 2000 measure which lowered the 

voting threshold for school bonds. As we go to 

press, ACA 10 and AB 2813 are pending the Senate 

Local Government Committee to make adjustments 

to that measure to win the neutrality of the 

California Realtors Association. 

The business interests which spent millions 

qualifying the TPA for the ballot have stated they 

will campaign against these measures. 

Policy debates about how to fund government 

services continue, of course. But June 20, 2024 was 

a good day for local government and its advocates. 

16



 

 

 

Colantuono, Highsmith & Whatley is a law 
firm with five offices around California that 
represents public agencies throughout the 
state. Its municipal law practice includes 
public revenues, land use, housing, CEQA, 
LAFCO matters, public safety liability defense, 
and associated appeals and trial court 
litigation. We are committed to providing 
advice that is helpful, understandable, and 
fairly priced. 

https://chwlaw.us 

17

https://chwlaw.us/


18



  
  Public Hearings    Public Hearings    8. 8.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Consider approval of Resolution 2024-10Resolution 2024-10 adopting the Municipal Service Review (MSR) for Flood Protection
Services and approving a Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update for Reclamation District (RD) 999, and determine the
MSR/SOI is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (LAFCo No. 23-03)

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION

1. Open the Public Hearing to receive staff presentation and public comment on the MSR/SOI Update.
2. Close the Public Hearing and consider the information presented in the staff report and during the Public

Hearing. Discuss and direct staff to make any requested changes.
3. Approve Resolution 2024-10, adopting the MSR for Flood Protection Services and approving the SOI Update

for RD 999.
4. Direct staff to conduct outreach in the Clarkburg Basin regarding potential reorganization of RD 307, RD 765

and RD 999 and return with a later agenda item accordingly. 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTIONREASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
This is an abbreviated version of the Executive Summary and MSR Overview contained in Section 1 of the attached
MSR.

Most of the districts included in this MSR were formed in the late 1800s and early 1900s when farmers could
"reclaim" swampland by building their own levees and acquire the land for $1 per acre. Flood protection has evolved
over the decades since into a patchwork of federal, state, and local maintenance responsibilities for discreet
segments of the overall Sacramento River System, a 1,600-mile system of levees. In 2005, Hurricane Katrina was a
wake-up call for the need to step up flood protection resources and planning. Since then and with more state funding
allocated, there has been extensive flood planning work done through the Department of Water Resources (DWR)
2012 Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP), resulting regional flood management plans, and the DWR
funded 2014 UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study. Yolo LAFCo began to implement the governance
recommendations contained in these framework documents in its 2018 MSR in an attempt to determine one Local
Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each system/basin, because a basin is only as strong as its weakest link. Some of
this reorganization work has already been accomplished with dissolving two inactive RDs in 2018 (RDs 2076 and
2120), the 2020 reorganization of the West Sacramento Basin (involving RD 537 and RD 900), and the 2020
reorganization of the Lower Elkhorn Basin (annexing RD 785 and RD 827 into RD 537). 

The LMAs in each USACE system (i.e. basin) are inexorably tied together. After Hurricane Katrina, USACE
realized it needed to step up its maintenance standards and all the systems were systematically inspected and
deemed unacceptable. Rehabilitation plans for each system (called System Wide Improvement Framework or SWIF
plans) were required for each system to regain standing in the rehabilitation program. If a system loses its "active"
status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, districts are no longer eligible for rehabilitation of flood
damaged facilities at 100% federal cost sharing to pre-disaster conditions. Therefore, the USACE Rehabilitation Plan
is a huge incentive for LMAs to perform. However, any individual LMA can cause the entire system to lose its
status, and therefore, can be a liability to other districts. 

For this 2024 MSR/SOI, the overarching goal is to continue to identify the recommended "single local entity" for
each system/basin. There are 11 systems identified by the US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) in Yolo County,
but 4 of them do not include any LMAs under LAFCo purview (only state agencies). Therefore, this MSR focuses on
the 7 systems that do include LMAs. Of these 7 systems, 3 of them are already down to one LMA. In addition to
conducting an MSR for each of the 13 agencies included, this MSR recommends a successor agency for each of

19



these 4 systems/basins. In particular, it is timely to move forward with reorganization for one of these basins, the
Clarksburg Basin. Correspondingly, staff recommends LAFCo approve an SOI Update for RD 999 as the successor
agency and direct staff to bring back a subsequent item to consider initiating reorganization. 

The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur with LAFCo's governance
recommendations for the successor agency identified for each system/basin included in this MSR. DWR operates
only roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and, therefore, relies heavily
on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing
power.

BACKGROUNDBACKGROUND
The MSR/SOI provides a detailed review of each of the 13 agencies, in addition to an overview section and
executive summary. A list of recommendations for each agency is attached to the resolution. Below is a summary
overview of each basin and its districts from the Executive Officer's perspective.

North County BasinNorth County Basin
This basin extends far up into Colusa County with many agencies involved, and it may be unrealistic to ultimately
have one LMA for this entire basin. However, for the Yolo County portion of it, there are 3 districts: RD 787, RD 108,
and the Sacramento River West Side Drainage District. The latter two are not included in this MSR because Colusa
is their principal county. 

RD 787 is unusual in that River Garden Farms Co. owns 86% of the district and essentially operates the district as
part of its business (somewhat similar to RD 2035 and Conaway Ranch). Surprisingly, the State Controller's Office
and Board of Equalization did not have a record of RD 787 existing. RD 787 generally achieves high ratings from
DWR and works closely with RD 108. The MSR recommends RD 787 create some separation and transparency
separate from River Garden Farms Co. and operate more as a public agency. The MSR recommends that RD 787
eventually be annexed into RD 108, but it's not urgent because they already work closely together and levee
maintenance is not suffering, according to inspection reports. 

Knights Landing BasinKnights Landing Basin
CSA 6 was not performing well up until 8--10 years ago, when the County CSA Manager transitioned to new staff.
Since then, the CSA has been more active with implementing projects and the County's goal has been to bring the
district up to par such that another district would be willing to take it over. DWR funded a Knights Landing Small
Communities Study which determined flood projects that would bring the town of Knights Landing out of the 100-year
flood plain, so development could resume with fewer restrictions. The Knights Landing Flood Management Project is
underway. Once improvements are completed and if a new Prop 218 assessment for maintenance is passed, then
CSA 6 will be in a better position to negotiate a governance change. The MSR recommends Knights Landing Ridge
Drainage District (KLRDD), which already covers the same territory, should be the successor agency. KLRDD is
operated by RD 108, which is a robust, highly functional, and widely respected district. However, a governance
change is premature at this time and therefore, the MSR recommends this be revisited in the next MSR cycle. 

RD 730 no longer maintains levees (incidentally, it used to maintain the levees now maintained by CSA 6) and its
sole function is to operate pump stations to drain farm fields in the event of flooding. The MSR recommends it
consider whether KLRDD could operate the District more efficiently. But in the end, RD 730 doesn't pose a risk
outside its territory. 

Woodland/Conaway BasinWoodland/Conaway Basin
RD 2035 has been the sole LMA in this basin for a long time, and it is performing well in terms of DWR ratings,
finances, and accountability. RD 2035 is the one district in this MSR that is also a purveyor of water, both for
farmland irrigation and a water supplier to the Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency. Similar to RD 787 and River
Garden Farms Co., this District also operates together with Conaway Ranch. However, there's better
separation with its documentation and transparency. There are no recommended governance changes for this
basin. 

Elkhorn BasinElkhorn Basin
DWR is completing the Lower Elkhorn Basin Levee Setback (LEBLS) Project to widen the bypass and increase flow
capacity. This project greatly impacted the three RDs that were operating in Lower Elkhorn (RDs 537, 785, and
827) and therefore, they voluntarily requested LAFCo combine them under RD 537 as the successor district, which
became effective July 2020. Some of RD 537/785/827's poor ratings in the 5-year trend are due to DWR taking
control of the bypass levee during project construction. Currently, only RD 537 and RD 1600 remain in the overall
Elkhorn Basin. RD 537 is the larger of the two, but RD 1600 also functions reasonably well. Also, DWR is studying a
similar widening project for Upper Elkhorn which has the potential to greatly impact RD 1600 (the Upper Yolo

20



Bypass Regional Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study). It's possible that a cross-levee will
be constructed such that RD 1600 would become its own basin altogether. Therefore, the MSR recommends that,
tentatively, RD 537 should be the successor agency, but this should be revisited in the next MSR cycle once the
Upper Elkhorn project is determined.

West Sacramento BasinWest Sacramento Basin
This basin was reorganized, detaching RD 537 out of the northern portion of the City and aligning RD 900 with the
City boundary. Part of this reorganization was also making RD 900 a subsidiary district under the City of West
Sacramento. According to those met with during the MSR process, being a successor district has been a positive
change for the RD 900, and it now operates more professionally. The only downside is that the City
Council meeting as its Board may not have the same level of technical flood management expertise as before.
However, its excellent staff operate the District well. At one point, the City was investigating special legislation
which would allow the City Council to appoint several subject-matter experts to the Board, but that effort was
abandoned. 

RD 900 is very well funded by a robust assessment and has a large fund balance ($12M) that continues to grow (at
17% per year averaging the last 5 years). This balance makes sense because it is the only district in this MSR held
to urban flood protection standards and RD 900 is hoping to fund future improvements without carrying any debt.
The MSR recommends the District adopt a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), not because it doesn't have sufficient
funds, but because it may want to explain the rationale for the funds it's collecting.   

Clarksburg BasinClarksburg Basin
This basin includes three RDs, two of which are not performing well overall, and reorganization is needed. RD 307
and RD 765 have had consistently unacceptable ratings from DWR 2019-2021 and recent improvements to
minimally acceptable may only be a result of the USACE SWIF Rehabilitation Plan. Neither of these RDs participate
in training, conduct audits, have a website, or have been responsive to staff during this MSR process. RD 765 in
particular only has three landowners and maintains only 1.78 miles of levee. RD 999 is a larger, more robust district
with five full-time employees and is a relatively functional, accountable district. Therefore, the MSR recommends
RD 999 be the successor agency and LMA for the entire basin, and the SOI Update reflects these future boundaries
accordingly. Staff recommends the Commission consider conducting additional outreach and potentially initiating
reorganization of these districts at a later date, presumably dissolving RD 307 and RD 765 and annexing the
territory into RD 999. Limited feedback from RD 307 has been opposed to the MSR's recommendation and there's no
interest in working with RD 999 in any capacity. RD 765 is open to consolidation regarding levee maintenance and
drainage responsibilities, but there's a concern about water rights being sought after even though these rights are
privately held and not District-owned.

Merritt Is land BasinMerritt Is land Basin
RD 150 has always been the sole district for this basin and is performing reasonably well. It struggles with sufficient
funding because it has many levee miles to maintain as an island and not a lot of acreage to spread assessments
across to generate revenue. No governance changes are recommended for this basin.  

Agency/Public OutreachAgency/Public Outreach
Staff began this MSR/SOI process in August 2023 by emailing an introductory letter and requesting an in-person
meeting/site tour with each agency, which occurred during the August through October 2023 timeframe (RD 307 is
the only district that would not meet with the Executive Officer). In addition, information was requested from each
agency (all eventually responded except RD 307 and RD 765). Staff stayed in sporadic touch with the districts over
the winter with questions here and there. Administrative draft MSRs were emailed to each agency for review and
comment in early May 2024. Comments were received from all the agencies, except RD 765. A public hearing notice
was published in the West Sacramento News-Ledger on June 28, 2024. Staff also prepared social media information
that was posted by the City of West Sacramento, Yolo County, and potentially some of the Commissioners' elected
official newsletters/social media accounts. A Public Draft MSR/SOI incorporating district comments was posted on
the LAFCo website on Monday, July 8th and emails were sent to all 13 agencies notifying them. Additional more
targeted follow-up emails were sent on July 12th to the Clarksburg RDs in particular, emphasizing the governance
recommendation.

Staff's understanding is that most of the agencies are reasonably okay with the MSR recommendations and some
even support them.  But since the Draft MSR was posted on July 8th, we have not received any formal comments or
any requested changes. In the Clarksburg Basin, RD 765 indicates an openness to reorganization as noted above,
and will be submitting correspondence that will be shared in a supplemental packet. RD 999 indicated they would
attend the meeting, offer comments and provide input on moving forward. RD 307 has not responded. 

CEQACEQA
LAFCo staff has reviewed the MSR pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and determined

21



that the proposed MSR and SOI Update are exempt from CEQA pursuant to Section 15061 (b)(3) and Section 15320
of the State CEQA Guidelines. CEQA Guidelines section 15061(b)(3) sets forth the general rule exemption, which
provides that CEQA only applies to projects which "have the potential for causing a significant effect on the
environment." Section 15320 is a Categorical Exemption for reorganization of local governmental agencies where
the changes do not change the geographical area in which previously existing powers are exercised. Where it can
be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the
environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA.

AttachmentsAttachments
ATT A-Flood Protection Districts Performance Indicators and Map
ATT B-Reso 2024-10 Adopting MSR-SOI for Flood Protection Services July 25 2024
ATT C-Draft MSR-SOI for Flood Protection Services July 8,2024

Form ReviewForm Review
InboxInbox Reviewed ByReviewed By DateDate
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 07/18/2024 01:21 PM
Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 07/15/2024 10:34 AM
Final Approval Date: 07/18/2024

22



2024 MSR District Performance Indicators (Organized by Basin) 

Districts 
DWR Ratings Accountability 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
% items 

corrected 
Spr 2024 

Flood 
Fight 

Material 

Recent 
Training 
(~5 yr) 

Does 
Audit 

Has 
Website 

Responsive 
to MSR 

North County Basin 
RD 108 (not part of this MSR – principal county is Colusa) 
RD 787 100% 
Knights Landing Basin 
CSA 6 97% 
KLRDD 90% 
RD 730i NA 
Woodland/Conaway Basin 
RD 2035 96% 
Elkhorn Basin 
RD 537 
RD 785ii 
RD 827 

85% 

RD 1600 99% 
West Sacramento Basin 
RD 900 82% 
Clarksburg Basin 
RD 307 53% 
RD 765 62% 
RD 999 68% 
Merritt Island Basin 
RD 150 80% 
Matrix Legend: 

 = fully meets criteria/DWR Acceptable Rating 
 = mostly meets criteria/DWR Minimally Acceptable Rating 
  = does not meet criteria/DWR Unacceptable Rating 

District in blue color indicates the recommended successor entity for each basin. Nuances and timing details are 
included in each MSR.  

i RD 730 does not maintain levees, only drainage pump stations. 
ii RD 785 and RD 827 were dissolved by LAFCo and annexed into RD 537 effective July 2020, but DWR still 
maintained separate LMA inspection reports per previous RD territories through fall 2023. In spring 2024, DWR 
consolidated the RD 537 units and gave it an overall M* rating. 

Item 8-ATT A

23



80

5

5

505

16

16

113

Esparto

Zamora

Yolo

Knights
Landing

Clarksburg

Dunnigan

Woodland

Winters

Davis

Madison

Capay

Sacramento
County

Napa
County

Sutter County

Colusa County

Solano County

RD 2098

RD 765

RD 307

RD 900

RD 2068

RD 150
RD 999

RD 537

RD 1600

RD 2035

RD 730

RD 108

RD 787

RD 2093

RD 900

CSA 6

Knights
Landing Ridge
Drainage District

80

HWY 50

I 5

I 5

HWY 113

I 505

COUNTY
ROAD 36

CO
U

N
TY

R
O

AD
104

EA
ST

COUNTY

ROAD 86

CO
U

N
TY

R
O

AD
 1

04

JE
FF

ER
SO

N

MAIN

MAIN

RUSSELL

CO
U

N
TY

R
O

AD
 9

8

COUNTYROAD93A

LO
CU

ST

RUSSELL

YO
LO

RICHARDS

CO
U

N
TY

R
O

AD
 9

9WOODLAND
BEAMER

SACRAMENTO

HW
Y

12
8

FCO
UN

TY
RO

AD
93

A

VI
LL

AG
EPO

LE
LI

N
E SO

U
TH

R
IVER

WEST

CAPITOL

CO
U

N
TY

 R
O

AD
 9

8

GIBSON

RUSSELL SO
UTH

PO
RT

CO
U

N
TY

R
O

AD
 102

PO
LE

LI
N

E

COUNTY ROAD 31

Districts Providing Flood Protection Services

±
Map created 7/16/2024

RD 108

RD 150

RD 307

RD 537

RD 730

RD 765

RD 787

RD 900

RD 999

RD 1600

RD 2035

RD 2068

RD 2093

RD 2098

Reclamation
District SOI

CSA 6

Knights Landing
Ridge Drainage
District

0 3.5 7 10.5 141.75
Miles

(Solano)

(Solano)

(Colusa)

24



1 Resolution 2024-10 
Adopted July 25, 2024 

YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
Resolution № 2024-10 

Adopting the Municipal Service Review (MSR) for Flood Protection Services and a 
Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update for Reclamation District 999 

(LAFCo No. 23-03) 

WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 governs 
the organization and reorganization of cities and special districts by local agency formation 
commissions (LAFCos) established in each county, as defined and specified in Government Code 
Sections 56000 et seq. (unless otherwise indicated all statutory references are to the Government 
Code); and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56425 et seq. provides that the LAFCo in each county shall develop and 
determine the sphere of influence (SOI) of each local governmental agency within the county, and 
enact policies designed to promote the logical and orderly development of areas within the SOI, 
as more fully specified in Sections 56425 et seq.; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56430 requires that LAFCos conduct a municipal services review (MSR) 
prior to, or in conjunction with, consideration of actions to establish or update an SOI in 
accordance with Sections 56076 and 56425; and, 

WHEREAS, in summer 2023, the Yolo LAFCo began conducting an MSR and SOI Update for the 
agencies that provide flood protection services, comprised of 10 reclamation districts (RDs), 
County Service Area (CSA) 6, Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District (KLRDD), and the West 
Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency (WSAFCA) Joint Powers Authority (JPA); and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCo staff worked with each agency involved in the MSR to the extent each was 
willing to respond, and emailed an administrative draft of each agency’s MSR for review and 
comment prior to the Public Draft MSR; and,  

WHEREAS, based on the results of the MSR, LAFCo staff has determined that an SOI Update is 
needed for RD 999 to implement accountability, structure, and efficiencies recommendations; 
and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCo staff has reviewed the MSR pursuant to the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) and determined that the proposed MSR and SOI Update are exempt from CEQA 
pursuant to Section 15061 (b)(3) and Section 15320 of the State CEQA Guidelines. CEQA 
Guidelines section 15061(b)(3) sets forth the general rule exemption, which provides that CEQA 
only applies to projects which “have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment.” Section 15320 is a Categorical Exemption for reorganization of local governmental 
agencies where the changes do not change the geographical area in which previously existing 
powers are exercised. Where it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the 
activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the activity is not subject to 
CEQA”; and,  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer set a public hearing on July 25, 2024, for consideration of the 
draft MSR and SOI Update and caused notice thereof to be posted and published at the times 
and in the manner required by law at least twenty-one (21) days in advance of the date; and, 

Item 8-ATT B

25



2 Resolution 2024-10 
  Adopted July 25, 2024 

WHEREAS, on July 25, 2024, the draft MSR and SOI Update was heard before LAFCo, at the 
time and place specified in the Notice of Public Hearing; and, 
 
WHEREAS, at said hearing, LAFCo reviewed and considered the draft MSR and SOI Update, 
and the Executive Officer’s Report and Recommendations; each of the policies, priorities, and 
factors set forth in Government Code Sections Section 56425(e) and 56430 et seq.; LAFCo’s 
Guidelines and Methodology for the Preparation and Determination of MSRs and SOIs; and all 
other matters presented as prescribed by law; and, 
 
WHEREAS, at that time, an opportunity was given to all interested persons, organizations, and 
agencies to present oral or written testimony and other information concerning the proposal and 
all related matters; and, 
 
WHEREAS, LAFCo received, heard, discussed, and considered all oral and written testimony 
related to the SOI Update, including but not limited to protests and objections, the Executive 
Officer's report and recommendations, the environmental determinations, and the MSR. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED, AND ORDERED that the Yolo Local 
Agency Formation Commission hereby: 
 

1. Finds the MSR and SOI Update for Flood Protection Services exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to the California Code of Regulations, Title 
14, Division 6, Chapter 3 (State CEQA Guidelines) Sections 15061(b)(3) and 15320; and, 

 
2. Adopts Resolution 2024-10 approving the MSR for Flood Protection Services and 

approving an SOI Update for RD 999 as set forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference, subject to the following findings and 
recommendations for each agency set forth in Exhibit B. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
1.  Finding: Approval of the MSR and SOI Update is consistent with all applicable state laws and 

local LAFCo policies. 
 

Evidence: The project was prepared consistent with the requirements in the Cortese-Knox-
Hertzberg Act for an MSR and SOI Update and all applicable Yolo LAFCo policies and 
adopted Standards for Evaluation. The MSR includes written determinations for each district 
as required by Section 56430. The SOI Update include written statements for each applicable 
district as required by Section 56425(e). The new SOI for RD 999 supports the MSR 
recommendations to promote improved services, strengthening community identities and 
increasing efficiencies. Changes in RD 999’s SOI will not affect agricultural land or be growth 
inducing. The MSR evaluated the existing services in light of the governance goal of 
establishing one Local Maintaining Agency for each hydrologic system/basin and 
recommended reorganization where appropriate as indicated in the MSR.  

 
2.  Finding: The proposed MSR and SOI Update are exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Sections 15061(b)(3) and Section 15320 of the State CEQA 
Guidelines. 

 
Evidence: CEQA requires analysis of agency approvals of discretionary “projects.” A “project,” 
under CEQA, is defined as “the whole of an action, which has a potential for resulting in either 

26



3 Resolution 2024-10 
  Adopted July 25, 2024 

a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical 
change in the environment.” Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines describes the 
”common sense rule” that CEQA only applies to projects which “have the potential for causing 
a significant effect on the environment; where it can be seen with certainty that there is no 
possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the 
activity is not subject to CEQA.” Section 15320 is a Categorical Exemption for reorganization 
of local governmental agencies that do not change the geographical area in which previously 
existing powers are exercised. Approval of the MSR and SOI Update, and the district 
reorganization that might follow, do not approve any development project. No physical 
construction or activity is contemplated as a result of this action. The SOI Update does not 
change the geographical area in which flood protection services are exercised. The project, 
therefore, will not have the potential to result in individual or cumulative significant effects on 
the environment. Furthermore, no special circumstances exist that would create a reasonable 
possibility that approving the MSR and SOI Update would have a significant effect on the 
environment. Therefore, the project is exempt from CEQA, and no further environmental 
review is necessary. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Local Agency Formation Commission, County of Yolo, State of 
California, this 25th day of July 2024, by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:  
Noes:  
Abstentions:  
Absent:  

 
 
_____________________________________ 
Bill Biasi, Vice Chair 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Christine Crawford, Executive Officer 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Eric May, Commission Counsel 

27



28



Clarksburg

RD 2098

RD
900

RD 2068

RD 150

RD 900

RD 2093

RD 999

RD 999

Major Streets

RD 999

Proposed RD 999 SOI

Parcel Lines

±
Map created 4/24/2024

0 1.5 30.8
Miles

Reclamation District 999 and Sphere of Influence

Adopted July 25, 2024

Exhibit A

29



30



2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

North County Basin 

RD 787 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: 
1. RD 787 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report:
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection.

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Consider undergoing a proposition 218 preceding to establish a special assessment or bill owners a

set amount annually to secure a reliable revenue source and provide a positive cash flow to pay
expenditures without relying on the receipt of intergovernmental grants and subventions.

3. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks,
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be
(and fund accordingly).

4. Separate the RD 787 accounts from River Garden Farms so that financial analysis is transparent and
accountable.

5. Develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all transactions posted
to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate.

6. Begin filing the special district State Controller’s Financial Transaction Reports annually (due 7 months
after close of the fiscal year).

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
7. For the Sacramento River West Bank (North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the

basin and should eventually absorb RD 787 as the single entity for the Yolo County portion of the basin.
However, RD 787 is functioning well and both districts already work closely together, so combining the
RDs is not urgent but is the eventual goal.

8. Secure independent audits of financial reports (separate from River Garden Farms) that meet California
State Controller requirements every two years.

9. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize
risk of error or misconduct.

10. Establish a records retention policy to archive important District records.

11. Improve the District’s 23% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.

Knights Landing Basin 

CSA 6 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. CSA 6 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and correct

issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report:
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access.
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection.

Exhibit B

31

https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. To ensure accurate year-end balances, CSA 6 staff should work with County Department of Financial 

Services to record all relevant material balances. 

3. CSA staff should work with County Treasury staff to come up with a plan to manage the capital project 
fund cash flow.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. 

However, it is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood 
Management Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood 
protection to Knights Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the 
next MSR/SOI cycle once CSA 6’s levees and assessments are brought up to standard.  

KLRDD 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: 
1. KLRDD should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

None. 
Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. For the Knights Landing System, CSA 6 and KLRDD should eventually combine as a single entity. 

However, it is premature to combine them due to the Knights Landing Flood Management Project 
underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to the town of 
Knights Landing. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity 
successor agency.  

3. Initiate discussions with RD 730 to determine if an agreement to provide services or absorbing it 
altogether makes sense. 

4. KLRDD should improve its 62% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

RD 730  
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: (Drainage Only, No Levee Maintenance) 
None. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
1. RD 730 should develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all 

transactions posted to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate. 

2. Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. RD 730 should explore whether a contract for services with RD 108 would be more effective and 

efficient, or potentially consider annexation into the KLRDD altogether.   

4. RD 730 should immediately have audits completed for FYs ending 2022 and 2023 if not already done.  

5. RD 730 should adopt policies for District operations and financial management including such topics 
as: board compensation, travel and expense reimbursements, purchasing and contracting, employee 
policies, safe practices and operating procedures, etc. (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation). 

32

https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

6. RD 730 is legally required to maintain a website. Please see the “website resources” section of the 
website transparency scorecard for website recommendations and scholarship information at 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards (repeat of 2018 
MSR recommendation).  

 

Woodland/Conaway Basin 
 

RD 2035 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 2035 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. RD 2035 should improve its 20% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-

government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

 

Elkhorn Basin 
 

RD 1600 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 1600 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. RD 1600 should continue to increase its fund balance and create a policy for, and establish, an 

emergency reserve. Once the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study determines improvements and they 
are designed, a more detailed Capital Improvement Plan should be considered. 
 

3. The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to ensure 
financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 

entity. However, it is premature to combine them in 2024 due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional 
Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the 
Yolo Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be 
reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity successor agency.  

5. RD 1600 should improve its 47% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

33

https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

RD 537 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 537 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
• The LMA should enhance its rodent control program.  
• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

3. The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to ensure 
financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 

entity. However, it is premature to combine them due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning 
Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo 
Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated 
in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single LMA successor agency.  

5. RD 537 should improve its 24% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

West Sacramento Basin 
 

RD 900 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 900 should implement the Fall 2023 DWR Inspection Report Recommendations as follows: 

• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 

and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. 

4. RD 900 should improve its website transparency score of 61% https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

WSAFCA 
Capacity and Adequacy Recommendation(s): 
None.  

34

https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
1. WSAFCA received a 74% score in the 2023 Yolo Local Government Website Transparency Scorecard. 

Please review the report appendix to see what improvements can be made: 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards. 

 

Clarksburg Basin 
 

RD 765 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. Prior to the next flood season, obtain an adequate amount of flood fighting materials and store them in 

a centralized location. 

2. Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 
“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

3. RD 765 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
4. RD 765 should use the County Treasury to maintain its funds for improved accounting controls and 

accuracy.  

5. Institute regular annual landowner assessments rather than on an as-needed basis with an automatic 
inflator to provide for a secure ongoing revenue source and to accumulate reserves. 

6. Adopt annual budgets (if not already doing so). Budgets and other financial records/information should 
be provided to the public and LAFCo consistent with state law, including Section 56386 of the Cortese-
Knox-Hertzberg Act Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

7. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

8. Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
9. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

35

https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards
https://musrflood.squarespace.com/


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

10. Secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State Controller requirements every 
two years (repeat from 2018 MSR).  

11. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct (repeat from 2018 MSR). 

12. Create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with Government Code sections 
6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate information about the district 
(repeat from 2018 MSR).  

 

RD 307 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 

“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

2. RD 307 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• There is woody vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
• There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
3. RD 307 may wish to consider increasing revenues via a Proposition 218 preceding to increase the 

special assessment including an automatic inflationary factor because revenues may not keep up with 
inflation. 

4. RD 307 should review financial data on a regular basis to ensure County Treasury discrepancies are 
identified, investigated and corrective action taken in a timely manner. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
5. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

6. RD 307 should immediately secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State 
Controller requirements every two years (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

7. RD 307 should adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, 
board member and meetings, purchasing/contracting, and segregating financial and accounting duties 
among staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (repeat of 2018 MSR 
recommendation). 

8. RD 307 is required to create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with 
Government Code sections 6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate 
information about the district (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

36

https://musrflood.squarespace.com/


2024 MSR for Flood Protection Services (LAFCo No. 23-03) 
Agency Recommendations 

 

 

Adopted July 25, 2024 

RD 999 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 999 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 

itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• The LMA should ensure that the levee crown and access roads are able to be driven in all weather 

conditions. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 
• The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last Structure 

inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

 

Merritt Island Basin 
 

RD 150 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 150 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 

itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
• There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
• The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
• The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 

and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

37



38



Municipal Service Review (MSR) and 
Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update 

for 

Flood Protection Services 
LAFCo No. 23-03 

County Service Area 6 (Snowball) 
Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 

RD 150 (Merritt Island) 
RD 307(Lisbon) 
RD 537(Lovdal) 

RD 730 (Knights Landing) 
RD 765 (Glide) 

RD 787 (Fair) 
RD 900 (West Sacramento) 

RD 999 (Netherlands) 
RD 1600 (Mull) 

RD 2035 (Conaway) 
West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency JPA 

Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

Public Review Draft July 8, 2024 

Item 8-ATT C 

39



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 i 

SUBJECT AGENCIES: 
This MSR/SOI includes the following RDs (RDs) and other agencies that provide flood protection and/or 
drainage services (and may have other services as well): 

· County Service Area (CSA) 6 (Snowball) 
· Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 
· RD 150 (Merritt Island) 
· RD 307 (Lisbon) 
· RD 537 (Lovdal) 
· RD 730 (Knights Landing) 
· RD 765 (Glide) 
· RD 787 (Fair) 
· RD 900 (West Sacramento) 
· RD 999 (Netherlands) 
· RD 1600 (Mull) 
· RD 2035 (Conaway) 
· West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency Joint Powers Authority (WSAFCA) 

The following additional agencies also provide flood protection and/or drainage services in Yolo County 
and are mentioned as an integral part of the overall system but are not a subject agency in this study 
because the agency is mostly located in a neighboring county and its LAFCo has jurisdiction and is 
responsible for conducting its MSR/SOI (including the RDs listed below). 

· Colusa Basin Drainage District (Colusa) 
· Sacramento River Westside Levee District (Colusa County) 
· RD 108 (Colusa County) 
· RD 2068 (Solano County) 
· RD 2093 (inactive - Solano County) 

SUBJECT AGENCIES:  
RD 150 (Merritt Island) 
PO Box 390 
Clarksburg, CA 95612 
Contact: David Ogilvie, Trustee 
http://www.rd150.com/ 
 

RD 307 (Lisbon) 
PO Box 518 
Clarksburg, CA 95612 
Contact: Peter Dwyer Jr., Trustee 
lisbon307@gmail.com 
 

RD 537 (Lovdal) 
PO Box 655 
Woodland, CA 5776 
Contact: Will Mattos Jr., General Manager 
https://rd537.specialdistrict.org/ 
 

RD 730 (Knights Landing) 
429 First Street 
Woodland, CA 95695 
Contact: Todd Tommeraason, District Engineer 
rnakken@yololaw.com 
 

RD 765 (Glide)  
1745 Yolo Street 
West Sacramento, CA 95605 
Contact: David Dickson, Trustee 
david.dickson79@gmail.com 
 

RD 787 (Fair)  
c/o River Garden Farms 
Knights Landing, CA 95645 
Contact: Dominic Bruno, Trustee 
http://www.rd787.org/ 
 

40



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 ii 

RD 900 (West Sacramento) 
889 Drever Street 
West Sacramento, CA 95691 
Contact: Blake Johnson, General Manager 
http://www.rd900.org/ 
 

RD 999 (Netherlands) 
38563 Netherlands Road 
Clarksburg, CA 95612 
Contact: Tom Slater, Trustee 
http://rd999.org/ 
 

RD 1600 (Mull) 
PO Box 655 
Woodland, CA 95695 
Contact: Ammy Reyes, Trustee 
https://rd1600.specialdistrict.org/ 
 

RD 2035 (Conaway) 
45332 County Road 25 
Woodland, CA 95776 
Contact: Jesse Clark, Water Master 
https://rd2035.specialdistrict.org/ 
 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 
PO Box 50 
Grimes, CA 9550 
Contact: Meegan Nagy, General Manager 
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-
district 
 

Snowball County Service Area (CSA 6) 
292 West Beamer Street 
Woodland, CA 95695 
Contact: Elisa Sabatini, Yolo County Natural Resources 
Manager 
YoloCSA@yolocounty.org 
 

West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency (WSAFCA) 
1110 West Capitol Avenue 
West Sacramento, CA 95691 
Contact: Greg Fabun, Flood General Manager 
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/flood-protection 
 
 
CONDUCTED BY: 
 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 
625 Court Street, Suite 107 
Woodland, CA 95695 
(530) 666-8048 
www.yololafco.org 
 
Commissioners: 
Bill Biasi, Vice Chair, City Member 
Lucas Frerichs, County Member 
Pamela Miller, Public Member 
Gloria Partida, City Member 
Oscar Villegas, County Member 
 

Commissioner Alternates: 
Richard DeLiberty, Public Member 
Tania Garcia-Cadena, City Member 
Jim Provenza, County Member 
 

Staff: 
Christine Crawford, Executive Officer 
Mark Krummenacker, Financial Analyst 
Terri Tuck, Administrative Specialist/Commission Clerk 
Eric May, Commission Counsel  

41



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 iii 

Contents 
Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

2024 MSR/SOI Agency Recommendations........................................................................................... 3 

MSR/SOI Background and Context ............................................................................................................ 12 
Yolo County Flood Protection Context ........................................................................................................ 13 

Flood Management Framework Agencies Involved ............................................................................ 13 

Climate Change ................................................................................................................................... 15 
Federal Oversight and Management of State Plan of Flood Control ................................................... 15 

UC Davis Flood Governance Study (2014) ......................................................................................... 18 

2018 LAFCo Municipal Service Review & Subsequent Reorganizations ............................................ 18 
Regional Flood Management Facilities in Yolo County ....................................................................... 21 

Levee System Governance ................................................................................................................. 24 

Yolo County Levee Systems/Basins ........................................................................................................... 25 
District Services Provided ........................................................................................................................... 38 

DWR Levee Inspections & Rating ....................................................................................................... 39 

Agency Financing ................................................................................................................................ 40 
2023/24 MSR Governance Recommendations Overview ................................................................... 42 

Individual MSR/SOI Studies (Organized by System/Basin from North to South) 
North County System Overview ................................................................................................................ 1.0 

RD 787 .......................................................................................................................................... 1.1 

Knights Landing System Overview ........................................................................................................... 2.0 

County Service Area 6 (CSA 6)  .................................................................................................. 2.1 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District (KLRDD)  ..................................................................... 2.2 

RD 730 .......................................................................................................................................... 2.3 

Woodland/Conaway System Overview ...................................................................................................... 3.0 

RD 2035 ........................................................................................................................................ 3.1 

Elkhorn System Overview .......................................................................................................................... 4.0 

RD 1600 ........................................................................................................................................ 4.1 

RD 537 .......................................................................................................................................... 4.2 

West Sacramento System Overview ......................................................................................................... 5.0 

RD 900 .......................................................................................................................................... 5.1 

WSAFCA ....................................................................................................................................... 5.2 

Clarksburg System Overview ..................................................................................................................... 6.0 

RD 765 .......................................................................................................................................... 6.1 

42



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 iv 

RD 307 .......................................................................................................................................... 6.2 

RD 999 .......................................................................................................................................... 6.3 

Merritt Island System Overview ................................................................................................................. 7.0 

RD 150 .......................................................................................................................................... 7.1 

43



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 1 

Executive Summary 

MSR Purpose 
The purpose of this Municipal Services Review (MSR) is to provide a comprehensive inventory and analysis 
of the services provided by these special districts and evaluate the governance structure and operation, 
and suggest ways to improve service delivery, financial controls, and accountability. The MSR also informs 
any recommended sphere of influence (SOI) updates based on the MSR’s governance recommendations.  

Levee Management Framework 
Federal agencies are partners with DWR in oversight and management of the State Plan of Flood Control 
(SPFC). The US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Sacramento District is the district directly involved with 
the SPFC, and partners with Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB) to develop new flood 
management projects in the Sacramento River watershed. USACE has prepared O&M manuals that guide 
O&M of the various SPFC units.  

DWR maintains and operates all works after completion in accordance with regulations prescribed by the 
USACE. DWR inspects levees maintained by many separate local agencies, and then reports its findings 
to USACE. 

Local levee districts and reclamation districts, known collectively as Local Maintaining Agencies (LMA)s, 
regularly patrol, maintain, repair, and conduct flood fights as needed on the levees within their jurisdictions. 
The LMAs have given assurances to the CVFPB that they will operate and maintain the SPFC levees within 
their respective jurisdictions in perpetuity, in accordance with criteria established by the USACE.  

Yolo County Levee Systems/Basins 
The USACE has defined levee systems within the overall Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP), 
each being a separate hydrologic basin. If one thinks of each system or basin as a ring of levees that form 
a metaphorical bathtub, multiple state and local agencies maintain a segment of the bathtub. If there’s a 
levee failure somewhere in the bathtub if affects everyone, so there’s an inherent interdependency among 
the agencies in each system.  

There are 11 defined systems/basins in Yolo County, but 4 of them do not include any LMAs that are subject 
to LAFCo purview. Therefore, this MSR does not focus on all 11 systems/basins, only the 7 that include 
special districts subject to this LAFCo MSR review. Each system is maintained by a patchwork of local and 
state agencies as described in more detail in this study. 

District Performance Indicators 
It is difficult to summarize 12-20 pages of analysis for each individual district into a summary table. Each 
individual MSR provides individual recommendations for each district. Important details and explanations 
will unavoidably be glossed over but this information can be found in the individual sections for each district. 
Below are some key indicators that provide a high-level indication of how functional and accountable each 
district is performing.  

44



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 2 

District Performance Indicators 

District
s 

DWR Ratings Accountability 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
% items 

corrected 
Spr 2024 

Flood 
Fight 

Material 

Recent 
Training 
(~5 yr) 

Does 
Audit 

Has 
Website 

Responsive 
to MSR 

CSA 6      97%      
KLRDD      90%      
RD 150       80%      
RD 307      53%      
RD 537  
RD 7851 
RD 827 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

85%      

RD 730 NA    
RD 765       62%      
RD 787       100%      
RD 900       82%      
RD 999       68%      
RD 1600      99%      
RD 2035      96%      
* Matrix Legend:  = fully meets criteria;  = mostly meets criteria;   = does not meet criteria 
 

RD 730 does not maintain levees, it only provides interior drainage services, therefore it has no DWR 
ratings. So, although it should improve its accountability issues, failure to do so doesn’t impact anyone 
outside of its own landowners.  

RD 307 and RD 765’s DWR rating and accountability issues do have the potential to impact RD 999 and 
the Clarksburg community. These three RDs are linked together by each maintaining its levee segments in 
the same system/basin. And if any of these RDs fail to perform, it could result in the entire system/basin 
losing eligibility for the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, and no longer eligible for rehabilitation at 
100-percent federal cost sharing of flood damaged facilities. 

2024 MSR/SOI Overall Governance Recommendation 
There has been extensive ground laid through the 2012 CVFPP, 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study, 
and the 2018 Yolo LAFCo MSR that establish and reinforce the goal of determining one LMA for each 
system/basin. Some of this has already been accomplished with the 2020 reorganization of RD 900 in the 
West Sacramento Basin and combining three RDs into one, RD 537, in the Elkhorn Basin.  

For this 2024 MSR/SOI, the overarching goal is to continue this work to identify the recommended “single 
local entity” for each system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were 
consulted and concur with LAFCo’s governance recommendations included in this MSR2. DWR operates 
roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on 
LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and 
borrowing power.  

 

1 RD 785 and RD 827 were dissolved by LAFCo and annexed into RD 537, but DWR still maintained 
separate LMA inspection reports by these old RD territories through fall 2023. However, in Spring 2024, 
DWR consolidated the RD 537 units, and it received an overall M* rating.  
2 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

45



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 3 

Below is a summary table of the districts in each basin, and the single recommended successor district. 
Three of the basins already have only one local LMA.  

Districts in Each Levee System/Basin 

 
* MSR recommended “single entity” for each system/basin 

Some of these basins are more ready for combining than others. For the Sacramento River West Bank 
(North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the basin and should eventually absorb RD 
787 as the single entity for the basin. However, RD 787 is functioning well and both districts already work 
closely together, so combining the RDs is not urgent but is the eventual goal.  

For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. However, it 
is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood Management 
Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to Knights 
Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle. 

For the Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) System it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 1600 into a single 
entity due to the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass 
east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next 
MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity successor agency.  

For the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should 
absorb RD 307 and RD 765 as the single entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project 
has not yet received funding. This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) has found RD 307 and RD 765 are 
not functioning as responsive, accountable, and transparent government agencies, therefore, the timing is 
appropriate now in 2024. 

2024 MSR/SOI Agency Recommendations 

North County Basin 
 

RD 787 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: 
1. RD 787 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Consider undergoing a proposition 218 preceding to establish a special assessment or bill owners a 

set amount annually to secure a reliable revenue source and provide a positive cash flow to pay 
expenditures without relying on the receipt of intergovernmental grants and subventions.    

46



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 4 

3. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

4. Separate the RD 787 accounts from River Garden Farms so that financial analysis is transparent and 
accountable.  

5. Develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all transactions posted 
to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate. 

6. Begin filing the special district State Controller’s Financial Transaction Reports annually (due 7 months 
after close of the fiscal year). 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
7. For the Sacramento River West Bank (North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the 

basin and should eventually absorb RD 787 as the single entity for the Yolo County portion of the basin. 
However, RD 787 is functioning well and both districts already work closely together, so combining the 
RDs is not urgent but is the eventual goal.  

8. Secure independent audits of financial reports (separate from River Garden Farms) that meet California 
State Controller requirements every two years.  

9. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. 

10. Establish a records retention policy to archive important District records. 

11. Improve the District’s 23% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

Knights Landing Basin 
 

CSA 6 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. CSA 6 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and correct 

issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. To ensure accurate year-end balances, CSA 6 staff should work with County Department of Financial 

Services to record all relevant material balances. 

3. CSA staff should work with County Treasury staff to come up with a plan to manage the capital project 
fund cash flow.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. 

However, it is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood 
Management Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood 

47



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 5 

protection to Knights Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the 
next MSR/SOI cycle once CSA 6’s levees and assessments are brought up to standard.  

 

KLRDD 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: 
1. KLRDD should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

None. 
Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. For the Knights Landing System, CSA 6 and KLRDD should eventually combine as a single entity. 

However, it is premature to combine them due to the Knights Landing Flood Management Project 
underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to the town of 
Knights Landing. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity 
successor agency.  

3. Initiate discussions with RD 730 to determine if an agreement to provide services or absorbing it 
altogether makes sense. 

4. KLRDD should improve its 62% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

RD 730  
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services: (Drainage Only, No Levee Maintenance) 
None. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
1. RD 730 should develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all 

transactions posted to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate. 

2. Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. RD 730 should explore whether a contract for services with RD 108 would be more effective and 

efficient, or potentially consider annexation into the KLRDD altogether.   

4. RD 730 should immediately have audits completed for FYs ending 2022 and 2023 if not already done.  

5. RD 730 should adopt policies for District operations and financial management including such topics 
as: board compensation, travel and expense reimbursements, purchasing and contracting, employee 
policies, safe practices and operating procedures, etc. (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation). 

6. RD 730 is legally required to maintain a website. Please see the “website resources” section of the 
website transparency scorecard for website recommendations and scholarship information at 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards (repeat of 2018 
MSR recommendation).  

 

48



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 6 

Woodland/Conaway Basin 
 

RD 2035 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 2035 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. RD 2035 should improve its 20% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-

government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

 

Elkhorn Basin 
 

RD 1600 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 1600 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

 
Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. RD 1600 should continue to increase its fund balance and create a policy for, and establish, an 

emergency reserve. Once the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study determines improvements and they 
are designed, a more detailed Capital Improvement Plan should be considered. 
 

3. The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to ensure 
financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 

entity. However, it is premature to combine them in 2024 due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional 
Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the 
Yolo Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be 
reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity successor agency.  

5. RD 1600 should improve its 47% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

49



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 7 

RD 537 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 537 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 

correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
· The LMA should enhance its rodent control program.  
· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

3. The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to ensure 
financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
4. For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 

entity. However, it is premature to combine them due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning 
Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo 
Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated 
in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single LMA successor agency.  

5. RD 537 should improve its 24% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

West Sacramento Basin 
 

RD 900 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 900 should implement the Fall 2023 DWR Inspection Report Recommendations as follows: 

· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 

and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. 

4. RD 900 should improve its website transparency score of 61% https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

50



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 8 

WSAFCA 
Capacity and Adequacy Recommendation(s): 
None.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
1. WSAFCA received a 74% score in the 2023 Yolo Local Government Website Transparency Scorecard. 

Please review the report appendix to see what improvements can be made: 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards. 

 

Clarksburg Basin 
 

RD 765 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. Prior to the next flood season, obtain an adequate amount of flood fighting materials and store them in 

a centralized location. 

2. Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 
“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

3. RD 765 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
4. RD 765 should use the County Treasury to maintain its funds for improved accounting controls and 

accuracy.  

5. Institute regular annual landowner assessments rather than on an as-needed basis with an automatic 
inflator to provide for a secure ongoing revenue source and to accumulate reserves. 

6. Adopt annual budgets (if not already doing so). Budgets and other financial records/information should 
be provided to the public and LAFCo consistent with state law, including Section 56386 of the Cortese-
Knox-Hertzberg Act Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

7. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

8. Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
9. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 

51



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 9 

accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

10. Secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State Controller requirements every 
two years (repeat from 2018 MSR).  

11. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct (repeat from 2018 MSR). 

12. Create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with Government Code sections 
6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate information about the district 
(repeat from 2018 MSR).  

 

RD 307 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 

“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

2. RD 307 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· There is woody vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
· There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
3. RD 307 may wish to consider increasing revenues via a Proposition 218 preceding to increase the 

special assessment including an automatic inflationary factor because revenues may not keep up with 
inflation. 

4. RD 307 should review financial data on a regular basis to ensure County Treasury discrepancies are 
identified, investigated and corrective action taken in a timely manner. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
5. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

6. RD 307 should immediately secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State 
Controller requirements every two years (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

52



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 10 

7. RD 307 should adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, 
board member and meetings, purchasing/contracting, and segregating financial and accounting duties 
among staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (repeat of 2018 MSR 
recommendation). 

8. RD 307 is required to create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with 
Government Code sections 6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate 
information about the district (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

 

RD 999 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 999 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 

itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· The LMA should ensure that the levee crown and access roads are able to be driven in all weather 

conditions. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 
· The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last Structure 

inspection. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
2. The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 

become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

53



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 11 

Sphere of Influence Update Recommended for RD 999  
The following SOI Update is recommended to implement the recommendation to either annex or 
consolidate with RDs 307 and 765: 

 
 

Merritt Island Basin 
 

RD 150 
Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
1. RD 150 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 

itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 
· There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
· The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
· The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
2. Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 

infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 
3. Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 

and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

  

54



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 12 

MSR/SOI Background and Context  

Role and Responsibility of LAFCo 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, as amended (“CKH Act”) 
(California Government Code §§56000 et seq.), is LAFCo’s governing law and outlines the requirements 
for preparing Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs) for periodic Sphere of Influence (SOI) updates.  MSRs 
and SOIs are tools created to empower LAFCo to satisfy its legislative charge of “discouraging urban 
sprawl, preserving open-space and prime agricultural lands, encouraging the efficient provision of 
government services, and encouraging the orderly formation and development of local agencies based 
upon local conditions and circumstances.” (§56301.) CKH Act Section 56301 further establishes that “[o]ne 
of the objects of the commission is to make studies and to obtain and furnish information which will 
contribute to the logical and reasonable development of local agencies in each county and to shape the 
development of local agencies so as to advantageously provide for the present and future needs of each 
county and its communities.” 

Purpose of a Municipal Service Review (MSR) 
The CKH Act gives LAFCo broad discretion in deciding how to conduct MSRs. The commission shall decide 
in the area designated for service review the county, the region, the subregion, or any other geographic 
area as is appropriate for an analysis of the service or services to be reviewed. The commission may assess 
various alternatives for improving efficiency and affordability of infrastructure and service delivery within 
and contiguous to the sphere of influence, including, but not limited to, the consolidation of governmental 
agencies.  

The purpose of a MSR in general is to provide a comprehensive inventory and analysis of the services 
provided by local municipalities, service areas, and special districts and evaluate the structure and 
operation of the local municipalities, service areas, and special districts and suggest ways to improve 
efficiency and affordability of infrastructure and service delivery. A written statement of the study’s 
determinations must be made in the following areas: 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

2. The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or 
contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure 
needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial 
water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or 
contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

5. Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

6. Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational 
efficiencies. 

7. Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy. 

a. Local policy requires the MSR to address broadband availability for local agencies that either 
serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband connection is critical 
(i.e. cities, community services districts, county service areas, fire protection districts and RDs); 
and 

b. The status of past MSR recommendations. 

The MSR is organized according to these determinations listed above. Information regarding each of the 
above issue areas is provided in this document. 

55



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 13 

Purpose of a Sphere of Influence (SOI) 
In 1972, LAFCos were given the power to establish SOIs for all local agencies under their jurisdiction. As 
defined by the CKH Act, “‘sphere of influence’ means a plan for the probable physical boundaries and 
service area of a local agency, as determined by the commission.” (§56076.) SOIs are designed to both 
proactively guide and respond to the need for the extension of infrastructure and delivery of municipal 
services to areas of emerging growth and development. Likewise, they are also designed to discourage 
urban sprawl and the premature conversion of agricultural and open space resources to urbanized uses.  
Regular periodic updates of SOIs should be conducted every five years (§56425(g)) with the benefit of 
better information and data through MSRs (§56430(a)). 

Pursuant to Yolo County LAFCo policy, an SOI includes an area adjacent to a jurisdiction where 
development might be reasonably expected to occur in the next 10-20 years. A MSR is conducted prior to, 
or in conjunction with, the update of a SOI and provides the foundation for updating it.  

LAFCo is required to make five written determinations when establishing, amending, or updating an SOI 
for any local agency that address the following (§56425(c)): 

1. The present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands. 

2. The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. 

3. The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides 
or is authorized to provide. 

4. The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the commission 
determines that they are relevant to the agency. 

5. For an update of an SOI of a city or special district that provides public facilities or services related 
to sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, the present and probable 
need for those public facilities and services of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities 
within the existing sphere of influence. 

Organization of this MSR/SOI Study 
This report has been organized in a checklist format to focus the information and discussion on key issues 
that may be particularly relevant to the subject agency while providing required LAFCo’s MSR and SOI 
determinations. There is one section per district, grouped by hydrologic basin. The checklist questions are 
based on the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act, the LAFCo MSR Guidelines prepared by the Governor’s Office 
of Planning and Research, and Yolo LAFCo’s local policies and procedures.  

District Outreach 
Requests for information were sent to each agency in September 2023. Most districts, but not all, eventually 
responded. During September and October LAFCo staff met with and/or received district tours from most 
districts who were willing. Questions were emailed back and forth periodically throughout the process. 
Process outreach culminated in emailing administrative draft MSRs to each agency for review and comment 
before the public draft was posted for the public hearing.  

Yolo County Flood Protection Context 

Flood Management Framework Agencies Involved 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) 

At the Federal level, USACE is primarily responsible for planning, designing, and constructing Federally 
authorized flood management facilities including dams, levees, and other structures. It also develops the 
operational rules for federally funded flood management reservoirs, which includes most of the major 
reservoirs on Central Valley streams. Following the Hurricane Katrina Gulf Coast disaster of 2005, USACE 

56



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 14 

implemented a National Levee Safety Program, promulgated strict vegetation management guidelines, and 
strengthened its national levee inspection program. 

Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB) 

The CVFPB, with regulatory authority over the State Plan of Flood Control (SPFC) levees, has given 
assurances to the USACE that the Federally authorized Project levees will be operated and maintained in 
accordance with USACE criteria. It can serve as the non-Federal sponsor for capital improvement projects 
for levees in the Region, regulate encroachments, and provide that the various components function as a 
system. 

Department of Water Resources (DWR) 

DWR, primarily acting through the Division of Flood Management, is responsible for State-level flood 
management in the region, including cooperating with USACE in project planning, design and funding flood 
and water supply forecasting, operating the Flood Operations Center, providing flood fight assistance for 
local agencies, and maintaining portions of the system (Maintenance Areas MA 4 and 9 in the region). DWR 
also conducts the annual levee inspection reports.  

Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs) 

Local levee districts and reclamation districts, known collectively as LMAs, regularly patrol, maintain, repair, 
and conduct flood fights as needed on the levees within their jurisdictions. The LMAs have given 
assurances to the CVFPB that they will operate and maintain the SPFC levees within their respective 
jurisdictions in perpetuity, in accordance with criteria established by the USACE. Yolo County Flood Control 
and Water Conservation District also provides flood management O&M and drainage, but it is not an LMA. 

Faced with limited funding and staffing, increasing regulatory constraints, and changing expectations for 
the multiple uses of the flood management system, it is increasingly difficult for local agencies in the Region 
to operate and maintain levees and channels. Among the most significant constraints are the cost and 
difficulty of navigating the regulatory process and the constricted time windows in the year when 
maintenance work can be carried out. Lack of clear and consistent requirements from State and Federal 
agencies make it more difficult for agencies to comply.  

USACE Vegetation Policy Change 

There are also complex permitting terms and conditions which end up being costly and cumbersome. A 
recent change in the USACE (beginning in 2006) approach toward woody levee vegetation also poses new 
challenges for those who operate and maintain the existing system of levees. Since the levee system 
failures along the Gulf Coast caused by Hurricane Katrina in 2005, USACE has strengthened their position 
that no woody vegetation should be tolerated on or near Federal project levees. 

However, vegetation can reduce erosion, provide ecological and aesthetic value and is extremely costly for 
local agencies to remove because USACE policy requires excavating roots down to 1” in diameter, 
necessitating levee reconstruction when trees are removed. Vegetation can also cause O&M problems like 
obscuring potential problems and preventing access for flood fighting. Inconsistent policies have made 
vegetation management more difficult. 

Woody vegetation on levees has the potential to compromise the effectiveness of levees. This, however, is 
a complex issue, as observation and research suggests there are instances where vegetation may be 
beneficial or at least not a problem. There are existing efforts, such as the California Levee Vegetation 
Research Program (CLVRP), a partnership of Federal, State, and local agencies, which are researching 
whether removing vegetation may actually amplify the probability of levee failure due to other risk factors. 

The CVFPP adopts a levee vegetation management approach that is intended to protect public safety while 
reducing the cost and environmental impacts that would be associated with strict adherence to the USACE 
policy. This approach allows the retention of vegetation on the lower waterside slope, pruning of vegetation 

57



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 15 

elsewhere in the levee system for access and inspection, and regular inspection and removal of hazard 
trees anywhere in the levee system. The CVFPP promotes adaptive management of levee vegetation and 
the modification of policy based on continued research by the CLVRP and USACE. 

Climate Change 
Uncertainty of future hydrology is another problem facing the flood management system in the Region. 
Earlier snowmelt and shifts from snowfall to rainfall will place increased demands on the operation of the 
reservoirs. Climate change also has the potential to increase the severity of storms in the Region and in 
wildfires in the watershed which could increase runoff and sedimentation. 

Anticipated sea-level increases of 17 to 66 inches by 2100 due to climatic changes will affect water-level 
stages in the Delta and the lower reaches of the Sacramento River. A rise in sea level would increase 
exposure to waves and wind set-up, increasing the pressure on levees currently protecting low-lying land, 
much of which is already below sea level. These effects would contribute to the threat of catastrophic levee 
failures that could inundate communities, damage infrastructure, and interrupt water supplies throughout 
the State. Federal and State regulations require studies and projects consider climate change, and 
subsequent sea-level rise, in planning and design. 

 

 

Federal Oversight and Management of State Plan of Flood Control3  
Federal agencies are partners with DWR in oversight and management of the State Plan of Flood Control 
(SPFC). The US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Sacramento District is the district directly involved with 
the SPFC, and partners with CVFPB to develop new flood management projects in the Sacramento River 
watershed. USACE has prepared O&M manuals that guide O&M of the various SPFC units. DWR maintains 
and operates all works after completion in accordance with regulations prescribed by the USACE.  

DWR inspects levees maintained by many separate local agencies, and then reports its findings to USACE. 
From the inspection information submitted, USACE may choose to conduct follow-up inspections in certain 
areas. USACE uses its own follow-up inspections and the State’s inspection findings to make Public Law 
84-99 eligibility determinations for each local agency. 

State Central Valley Flood Protection Plan 
The Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP) is a guide to managing flood risk in the Central Valley 
adopted by the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB). Originally adopted in 2012, it is updated 

 

3 Central Valley Flood Protection Plan State Plan of Flood Control 2022 Update 

58



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 16 

every five years (2017 and 2022). The goal of the CVFPP is to improve flood risk management with the 
following supporting goals: 

· Improve operations and maintenance 

· Promote ecosystem functions 

· Improve institutional support 

· Promote multi-benefit projects 

 
Flood infrastructure is to be planned and managed centrally, but O&M, flood response, and infrastructure 
implementation can be implemented either regionally or by local maintaining agencies (LMAs). The CVFPP 
promotes regional governance via local consolidation and collaboration among partnering agencies.  

59



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 17 

CVFPP Sacramento System Local Maintaining Agencies 

 

60



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 18 

DWR Regional Flood Management Plans (2014) 
Following adoption of the 2012 CVFPP, the Department of Water Resources funded six regionally led 
Regional Flood Management Plans (RFMPs) that describe local and regional flood management priorities, 
challenges, and potential funding mechanisms along with site-specific improvement needs. The six regions 
span from Chico to Stockton and Yolo County is included in two regions: (1) the Mid Sacramento River 
region (just north of Knights Landing into Colusa County) and (2) the Lower Sacramento River/Delta North 
region (from Knights Landing south to Rio Vista). These Regional Flood Management Plans were 
completed in 2014 and were developed by a regional working group comprised of the counties, cities, flood 
management agencies, local maintaining agencies (LMA), water agencies, emergency response agencies, 
citizen groups, tribes, and other interested stakeholders in the Region. The West Side Coordinating 
Committee, the regional working group for the Lower Sacramento River/Delta North region, is made up of 
stakeholder representatives from relevant agencies on the west side of the Sacramento River.  

UC Davis Flood Governance Study (2014) 
In addition to the RFMPs, funding was requested from DWR to conduct a flood governance study to analyze 
and make recommendations on governance for the agencies in Yolo County. This study was undertaken 
by the UC Davis Collaboration Center and was completed in August 2014. As part of an overall, integrated, 
regional flood management approach, the Collaboration Center worked with the various agencies and 
stakeholders to assess their capacities to address regional flooding issues, their willingness and feasibility 
of joining together, collaborating and/or consolidating certain functions, and their interests in collaborative 
flood governance. 

The authors engaged with the districts and considered a wide range of existing flood governance models 
in the nation. The study considered a broad range of six alternatives, from maintaining the status quo to 
consolidating all the agencies into one new agency. The Study found that while RDs are well suited to 
continue routine O&M and on-site emergency response, some flood work would benefit from more 
regionalization and coordination. 

Ultimately, the Study recommended a combination of the “regional communication and collaboration 
network” (Alternative 2) and a “hydrologic basin” approach (Alternative 3). The RDs/local maintaining 
agencies within Yolo County were loosely divided into five (5) hydrologic basin areas: 1) North 
County/Knights Landing; 2) Elkhorn; 3) Woodland/Conaway; 4) West Sacramento; and 5) Clarksburg. The 
hydrologic basins are loosely defined by their geography, community connections, and interdependence of 
levees and structural flood control needs. 

The study recommended that each of the five hydrologic basins develop their own version of coordinated 
governance. These designations are consistent with current engineering logic, and formally coordinate 
areas that are either already working together, and/or depend on each other’s compliant flood infrastructure 
management. According to the Study, Yolo County residents would be better served if each basin provided 
a consistent level of maintenance and flood response and either functioned as one entity or in a coordinated 
manner to accomplish this objective. 

2018 LAFCo Municipal Service Review & Subsequent Reorganizations 
LAFCo 2018 Municipal Service Review  
Tiering from the CVFPP and UC Davis study, the 2018 MSR/SOI recommended the agencies responsible 
for levee O&M in each hydrologic basin develop governance solutions that will provide for a uniform level 
of operation and maintenance so that the protected area is not at risk due to inconsistent maintenance or 
flood response capabilities. The governance solution for each basin could take a variety of forms including 
agency merger/consolidation, contracts for shared services, MOUs, or JPAs. The goal for each basin is to 
achieve equal service standards, consistent maintenance standards (which may require consistent 
fee/assessment structures), and improved coordination during flood events.  

The MSR did not recommend any substantive changes in governance for the Clarksburg, North 
County/Knights Landing, Woodland/Conaway, and Elkhorn hydrologic basins, noting the Clarksburg Basin 
and the North County/Knights Landing Basin should actively participate in DWR’s Small Communities 

61



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 19 

Feasibility Studies for their basins. For the Elkhorn Basin, the MSR recommended that the districts continue 
the path to consolidation. Following adoption of the MSR/SOI, the lower Elkhorn RDs applied to dissolve 
RD 785 and RD 827 and annex the territory into RD 537, which was approved and was effective July 1, 
2020. 

For the West Sacramento Basin, after much analysis and discussion the MSR ultimately recommended RD 
900 become a subsidiary district to the City of West Sacramento, shifting RD 537’s boundary north to the 
city boundary and taking over DWR Maintenance Area (MA) #4 such that the boundaries of RD 900 
generally aligned with the City’s and the ring levy. This reorganization was approved by LAFCo and became 
effective July 1, 2020, although RD 900 is still working with the state on taking over MA#4. The Yolo County 
Grand Jury investigated LAFCo’s proceedings and issued a report in FY 2018-194. 

Overarching/Common Issues Found 

Many of the Districts did not have policies for District operations and financial management for such topics 
as board compensation, travel/expense reimbursement, purchasing and contracting, employee policies, 
and other operating procedure. The MSR recommended adopting operations and financial management 
policies. 

The MSR included recommendations for each district related to necessary improvements detailed in the 
2016 Department of Water Resources Inspection Report. Most of the districts had erosion sites that needed 
to be repaired as well as vegetation controlled to maintain visibility and access. Many of the districts also 
had rodent control issues. Operations and Maintenance (O&M) is an ongoing LMA function and DWR 
inspects levee segments annually.  

The Regional Flood Management Plan details specific improvements necessary for each Reclamation 
District/Local Maintaining Agency, including the estimated cost, design, permitting, and funding readiness. 
Most of these improvements did not have local funding sources identified and the MSR recommended 
Districts work with State and Federal Resources to identify funding for these projects. 

In terms of transparency, most of the LMAs did not have a website and the MSR recommended the districts 
consider websites. 

Agency Specific Issues 

The MSR recommended LAFCo dissolve the two inactive RDs in Yolo County, RD 2076 and RD 2120, 
pursuant to Section 56879 of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000. 
LAFCo took action to dissolve these inactive RDs on July 26, 2018. 

The MSR included a recommendation that RD 1600 may need to consider approving a new assessment to 
maintain an adequate level of service and build up reserves for needed improvements. The MSR 
recommended RD 785 consider adopting a regular meeting schedule for consistency and transparency 
purposes, but this became a moot point because the district was dissolved an annexed into RD 537 effective 
July 1, 2020. 

A few Districts, including RD 765 and RD 307, did not have formal audits prepared (and still do not). The 
MSR indicated audits should be completed and provided to the State Controller’s Office, the Yolo County 
Department of Financial Services and LAFCo as required by law. 

Yolo County Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs) 
At the local level along the Sacramento River System in Yolo County, there are 21 separate DWR levee 
inspection areas, 7 of which are maintained by the state. Of the 14 areas maintained locally, 3 are managed 
by RD 108, 2 by Yolo County, and the remaining 9 are individual RDs (two of these RDs, RD 785 and RD 
827, were dissolved and annexed into RD 537 effective July 1, 2020. DWR’s 2022 annual inspection report 
acknowledges LAFCo’s efforts as follows:  

 

4 https://www.yolocounty.org/living/grand-jury/yolo-county-grand-jury-reports  

62



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 20 

In 2021, the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission approved the reorganization of the Lower 
Elkhorn Reclamation Districts, dissolving RD 785 and RD 827, and concurrently annexing both 
territories into RD 537 through the adoption of Resolution 2019-06. RD 900 is also absorbing 
portions of RD 537 located south of the Sacramento Bypass. DWR acknowledges there is a formal 
process CVFPB will need to follow to complete the reorganization. Starting 2021, RD 537 has and 
will continue to report on levees that protect the dissolved RD 785 and RD 827 areas5. 

The United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) also maintains the Navigation Levee constructed in 
association with the Deep-Water Ship Channel. 

Each entity has varying capacities and responsibilities related to funding, operations and maintenance 
(O&M), planning, and policy. Further, there is a great variety in geography, historical development, and the 
presence of other enterprise activities, such as water sales. The common thread between all flood agencies 
in Yolo County is the recognition that the flood network is an inter-dependent system. In many cases 
individual district levees rely on neighboring levee’s success. In many areas, if one levee fails, the adjacent 
levee and the population and land it protects are at risk. 

Reclamation Districts (RDs) in Yolo County 

 

 

5 Inspection and Local Maintaining agency Report, DWR 2022, page 34. 

63



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 21 

Regional Flood Management Facilities in Yolo County 
· Colusa Basin Drain6 provides essential storage which detains and attenuates peak flood flows.  

Colusa Basin Drain extends from its junction with Willow Creek south to the vicinity of Colusa and 
then follows the alignment of RD 108’s back levee, terminating at the Knights Landing Outfall Gates 
in Yolo County.  

· Willow Slough Weir – Conveys stormwater to the Yolo Bypass and the added capacity protects the 
City of Davis from flooding. 

· Knights Landing Ridge Cut – The Knights Landing Ridge Cut drains the Colusa Basin Drain to the 
Yolo Bypass.  

· Cache Creek Settling Basin – Located along the Yolo Bypass near Cache Creek, this settling basin 
collects water before entering the Yolo Bypass controlling flow rates and sediment which helps to 
maintain the flood conveyance integrity of the Yolo Bypass. 

· Fremont Weir – Located just south of Knights Landing Outfall Structure at the junction of the 
Sacramento River and the joint Feather River/Sutter Bypass channel, the Fremont Weir controls 
the hydraulic energy of flowing water as it enters the Yolo Bypass.  

· Sacramento Weir – diverts water from the Sacramento River into the Sacramento Bypass, which 
discharges into the Yolo Bypass. This bypass protects Sacramento, West Sacramento, and other 
riverside communities by conveying approximately 80 percent of flood flows through the greater 
Sacramento Area. 

· Storm Water Pump Stations – Storm water pump stations are located along many of the levees 
and stream channels in the Region. These facilities are used to drain the areas adjacent to the 
channels protected by levee systems. 

Regional Flood Management Facilities in Yolo County 

 
 

 

6 Mid & Upper Sacramento River Regional Flood Management Plan Nov 10, 2014 

64



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 22 

FloodSAFE/CVFPP 
In response to flooding concerns, Hurricane Katrina, and legislation (Senate Bill 5), DWR is currently 
implementing FloodSAFE, a long-term strategic initiative developed to reduce flood risk in California. One 
important planning document of FloodSAFE is the Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP), which is 
a critical document to guide California’s participation (and influence federal and local participation) in 
managing flood risk within lands protected by the SPFC. The CVFPP, adopted in 2012, promotes a State 
Systemwide Investment Approach (SSIA) for sustainable, integrated flood management in areas currently 
protected by facilities of the SPFC. 

The goals and objectives for the Regional Flood Management Plan (RFMP) in Yolo County is: 

· Develop the long-term vision for sustainable, integrated flood management in the Region through 
a collaborative process involving regional stakeholders 

· Recommend feasible structural and nonstructural improvements to achieve 200-year level of 
protection in urban and urbanizing areas including Davis, West Sacramento, and Woodland. 

· Recommend feasible structural and nonstructural improvements to achieve 100-year level of 
protection in small communities including Clarksburg, Knights Landing, and Yolo. 

· Develop financing strategies for identified flood risk reduction activities in small communities, rural, 
and urban areas consistent with the CVFPP system wide investment approach. 
 

West Side Coordinating Committee 

The Lower Sacramento River Flood Plain Coordinating Committee existed prior to the RFMP and includes 
flood managers from the west side of the Sacramento River. For the purposes of the RFMP, this existing 
committee is referred to as the West Side Coordinating Committee, and its function is to broadly represent 
the interests on the west side of the river, including assessing regional flood risk, prioritizing projects, and 
evaluating funding options. Members include: the Counties of Yolo and Solano; the Cities of West 
Sacramento, Woodland, Rio Vista, and Davis; Solano County Water Agency; WSAFCA; Yolo County Flood 
Control and Water Conservation District; DWR Maintenance Areas; and Reclamation Districts (RD) 108, 
900, 501, 536, 2060, 730, 1600, 2035, 827, 537, 765, 785, 307, 150, 999, 2068, 2093, 2098, 2104, 2084; 
and Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District. 

Project Focus Areas in Yolo County 

· Yolo Bypass Widening 
· Yolo Rail Relocation (Freemont Trestle) 
· Small Community Studies to achieve 100-year flood protection for Clarksburg, Knights Landing, 

and Yolo. 

65



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 23 

Regional Mid-Term Projects7 

 

 

7 Lower Sacramento/Delta North RFMP Input for Conservation Strategy Advisory Committee (Draft), Aug 
2018 

66



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 24 

Regional Long-Term Projects8 

 

 

Levee System Governance 
Problems arise from levees getting evaluated individually rather than as a system (or as a whole), and 
critical non-project levees being overlooked. Other institutional problems include LMAs struggling with 
permitting involving multiple agencies and varying requirements. Particularly, LMAs have difficulty 
conducting routine operation and maintenance of the levee system because increasingly, the resource 
agencies are requiring compensatory mitigation. The timelines and cost of permitting, along with those of 
mitigation are not sustainable for LMAs. A streamlined approach is necessary to meet the public safety 
needs of the Region, while providing adequate conservation of ecological resources to compensate for 
impacts from flood projects. 

 

8 Lower Sacramento/Delta North RFMP Input for Conservation Strategy Advisory Committee (Draft) Aug 
2018 

67



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 25 

· Lack of formalized coordination between adjacent LMAs and their cities and counties (OAs), to 
include mutual aid agreements 

· Many LMAs don’t have the funding to maintain adequate staff, plans, and resources 
· Some LMAs have inadequate funding and staff for proper O&M or to put together proposals for 

DWR grant funding. 
· Inadequate or nonexistent emergency response or action plans 
· No record of updating, practicing, or implementing a plan that does exist 
· Incomplete understanding of flood fight roles 
· Insufficient or no flood fight training 
· No record of participating in any exercises 

Yolo County Levee Systems/Basins 
Although the 2014 Yolo Flood Governance Study and 2018 LAFCo Municipal Service Review grouped the 
districts into 5 hydrologic basins for governance purposes, from an engineering perspective there are 
additional levee systems that are a hydraulically connected flood zone. These levee systems are defined 
by the National Levee Database maintained by the USACE.  

Several of these levee systems are owned, operated, and maintained by the CVFPB (DWR) and do not 
contain any local maintaining agencies (LMAs) included in this MSR. All 11 levee systems are briefly 
described below for countywide context, however this MSR focuses on the 7 systems/basins where special 
districts act as LMAs of the overall Sacramento River System.  

The levee system names correlate to the USACE database and the name in parenthesis corresponds to 
the name used in the MSRs. For this 2024 MSR, the North County/Knights Landing have been separated 
and Merritt Island has been separated out from the Clarksburg basin because they are hydraulically 
separate systems. Therefore, the previous 5 basins from the 2018 MSR has expanded to 7 basins for this 
2024 MSR (as shown in bold text below). 

1. Sacramento River West Bank (North County Basin) 
2. Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 (Knights Landing Basin) 
3. Cache Creek Unit 1 – Yolo Bypass Unit 2 – Knights Landing Unit 1 
4. Yolo Bypass West Levee – Cache Creek Unit 4 
5. Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass (Woodland/Conaway Basin) 
6. Putah Creek Unit 1 – Yolo Bypass – Willow Slough Unit 2 Levee System 
7. Putah Creek Right Bank Unit 2 
8. SacYolo North (Elkhorn Basin) 
9. West Sacramento Levee System (West Sacramento Basin) 
10. SacYolo South (Clarksburg Basin) 
11. RD 150 Merritt Island Levee System (Merritt Island Basin) 

 

68



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 26 

Yolo County Levee System Basins for 2024 MSR 

 
The levee systems/basins information below is sourced from the USACE National Levee Database 
https://levees.sec.usace.army.mil/#/. 

 

Sacramento River West Bank (North County Basin) 
North County Basin (Yolo Portion) – Maintaining Agencies Entire Basin (into Colusa County) 

  
 

69



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 27 

Sacramento River West Bank is a system of earthen levees spanning multiple counties in the Sacramento 
River Valley in California. The levee system is 119.72 miles long and contains 8 segments. The eastern 
portion is made up of five segments along the west bank of the Sacramento River from Ord Bend in Glenn 
County to Knights Landing in Yolo County. The western portion includes three levee segments along the 
left bank of Colusa Drain from Colusa to Knight’s Landing.  

This levee was one of many levees along the Sacramento Valley constructed by local landowners in the 
late 1800’s to reduce the risk of flooding. The exact date of construction and who specifically built it is not 
known by the USACE. The levees were completed by 1930s. Flood water rose above the top of the levee 
and caused the levee to breach, or break open, many times during floods after the 1930s construction. The 
system was reconstructed by the USACE in the 1940s and 1950s. Since then, additional emergency repairs 
and improvements have been made to the levee system, including installation of stone protection on the 
banks and increasing the levee height and width. The City of Colusa is the most populated area behind the 
levee, compared to most of the leveed area which is primarily agricultural. 

The levee is in an area that is subject to seasonal flooding. The levee has experienced widespread 
seepage, or leaking of water through the soils, and erosion, deterioration of the levee soils, as a result of 
previous flood events. Water has risen high on the levee during past floods.  

The foundation soils and soils that were used to build the levee are susceptible to further erosion and can 
be easily washed away by the fast-moving water expected during flood events. These soils also allow water 
to seep through them easily. Animal burrows, trees and bushes, discharge pipes, utility poles, and irrigation 
ditches also provide paths for water to travel through and weaken the levee. Past flooding events have 
caused erosion and caving on the levee banks at numerous locations, which make the levee more at risk 
for failure. It is highly likely that future flood events could result in additional seepage and erosion and 
increase the potential for a levee breach.  

If the levee were to break, the northern half of the leveed area (which includes the city of Colusa) would 
experience shallow flooding, less than 2 feet in depth. South of Colusa, flood water anywhere between 2 
and 15 feet deep. The worst of the flooding would occur at the southernmost part of this levee system, near 
Knight’s Landing, where flooding could be greater than 15 feet deep. The majority of major flooding inside 
the leveed area would occur in primarily agricultural land. 

This 119.72-mile moderate risk levee system (which includes large portions in Colusa and Glenn counties) 
protects an estimated 10,681 population, 3,770 buildings, and $3.25B in property value. 

LMAs maintaining segments of this system in Yolo County include:  

· Sacramento River West Side Drainage District (not reviewed in this MSR because Colusa County 
is its principal county) 

· RD 108 (not reviewed in this MSR because Colusa County is its principal county) 
· RD 787 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program.  

70



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 28 

Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 (Knights Landing Basin) 
Knights Landing Basin – Maintaining Agencies 

 
Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River 
Flood Control Project, a large-scale levee project authorized by Congress and constructed in 1952. The 
map of the levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence 
of a levee. Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system reduces the risk of flooding 
for Yolo and Sutter County and adjacent agricultural lands from flood waters in Kings River. A nonurban 
population and a small number of structures are present within the leveed area. Knights Landing Unit 2 – 
Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system is constructed of earthen embankments and requires year-
round maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the 
responsible agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

This 15.2-mile moderate risk levee system protects an estimated 1,192 population, 406 buildings, and a 
property value of $101M.  

Districts either acting as LMAs maintaining segments of this system or pumping water out of this levee 
system include:  

· County Service Area No. 6 Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District  
· Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 
· RD 730 (provides drainage/pumping services only and does not maintain any levees) 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

71



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 29 

Cache Creek Unit 1 – Yolo Bypass Unit 2 – Knights Landing Unit 1 
Maintaining Agencies 

 
The Cache Creek Unit 1 - Yolo Bypass Unit 2 - Knights Landing Unit 1 levee system is a portion of the 
Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a large-scale levee project authorized by congress. The map of 
the levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence of a 
levee. The Cache Creek Unit 1 - Yolo Bypass Unit 2 - Knights Landing Unit 1 levee system reduces the risk 
of flooding for the community of Yolo and surrounding agricultural lands from flood waters in Cache Creek, 
the Cache Creek Settling Basin, Yolo Bypass, and Knights Landing Ridge Cut. In addition to the mostly 
rural population within the leveed area, a significant number of structures, with property values estimated 
in the millions of dollars, are present within the leveed area. Highway 113 and Interstate 5 cross through 
the leveed area. The levees of the Cache Creek Unit 1 - Yolo Bypass Unit 2 - Knights Landing Unit 1 levee 
system are constructed of earthen embankments and require year-round maintenance. The Central Valley 
Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible agency for operation and 
maintenance of the levee system. 

This 19.61-mile moderate risk levee system protects an estimated 1,030 population, 396 buildings, and a 
property value of $101M.  

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

· Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

72



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 30 

Yolo Bypass West Levee – Cache Creek Unit 4 
Maintaining Agencies 

 
Cache Creek runs from west to east and passes by the City of Woodland about three miles north of the 
city. About four miles northeast of Woodland, Cache Creek is diverted into the Cache Creek Stilling Basin 
before joining with the Yolo Bypass. This levee system includes two segments within the Cache Creek 
Stilling Basin along Cache Creek and a part of the west levee of the Yolo Bypass.  

This system was designed to direct the flow of water and sediment from Cache Creek to the Yolo Bypass. 
The federal government authorized this system in 1917, and the two segments were constructed in the 
years 1937 and 1991. The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) maintains this levee system, 
and Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the levee sponsor. 

This low risk 3.68-mile levee system protects an estimated 14 population, 4 buildings, and a property value 
of $1.16M.  

The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) maintains this levee system and no special districts 
maintain this system. 

73



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 31 

Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass (Woodland/Conaway Basin) 
Woodland/Conaway Basin – Maintaining Agencies 

 
The Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood 
Control Project, a large-scale levee project authorized by congress. The map of the levee system shows 
the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. The Cache Creek – 
RD 2035 – Willow Bypass levee system reduces the risk of flooding for a portion of the City of Woodland 
and surrounding agricultural lands from flood waters in Cache Creek, the Cache Creek Settling Basin, Yolo 
Bypass, and Willow Slough Bypass. In addition to the urban population within the leveed area, a significant 
number of structures, with property values estimated in the millions of dollars, are present within the leveed 
area. Highway 113 and Interstate 5 cross through the leveed area. The levees of the Cache Creek – RD 
2035 – Willow Bypass levee system are constructed of earthen embankments and require year-round 
maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible 
agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

This 29.1-mile high risk levee system protects an estimated 8,975 population, 2,227 buildings, and $1.61B 
in property value. 

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

· RD 2035 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

74



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 32 

Putah Creek Unit 1 – Yolo Bypass – Willow Slough Unit 2 Levee System 
Maintaining Agencies 

 
Putah Creek Unit 1 - Yolo Bypass - Willow Slough Unit 2 is a soil levee located in Davis, California. The 
levee is a roughly 20 mile long, U-shaped system that extends from Brooks Road, west of the I-80/State 
Route 113 interchange, eastward along the north side of Putah Creek, a northward along a portion of the 
west side of the Yolo Bypass, and westward along the south side of Willow Slough Bypass, extending 
upstream to County Road 101A. 

The levee was built from 1946 to 1951 by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to reduce the risk of flooding 
in Davis, which included re-routing Putah Creek from the historical channel through town to the current 
channel location. The leveed areas include housing structures, farms, commercial and residential buildings, 
rural agricultural fields and structures, a Union Pacific Railroad line, recreational areas (parks and golf 
courses), major road crossings and the University of California, Davis. 

This moderate risk 19.89-mile levee system protects an estimated 30,649 population, 12,337 buildings, and 
a property value of $6.56B.  

The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) maintains this levee system and no special districts 
maintain this system. 

75



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 33 

Putah Creek Right Bank Unit 2 
Maintaining Agency 

 
Putah Creek Right Bank - Unit 2 is an earthen levee located just south of Davis, California. The levee is 
7.53 miles long and is situated at the southeast portion of Yolo County and the northeast portion of Solano 
County. 

The levee begins about a mile east of the intersection of Vineyard Lane and Pedrick Road, and extends 
east along the southern bank of Putah Creek, ending near the intersection of County Road 35 and County 
Road 106. The levee terminates at the Yolo bypass Channel, where floodwater is capable of coming around 
the downstream end of the levee. 

The levee was built from 1946 to 1951 by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to reduce the risk of flooding 
in rural areas south of Davis, which included re-routing Putah Creek from the historical channel through 
town to the current channel location. The area behind the levee includes agricultural fields, houses, and 
farms that are south of Putah Creek and west of the Yolo Bypass. Major roadways that cross the levee 
include Interstate 80, Old Davis Road, County Road 102, and County Road 104, and The Union Pacific 
Railroad tracks near Old Davis Road. 

This low risk 7.2-mile levee system protects an estimated 529 population, 132 buildings, and a property 
value of $87.1M.  

The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) maintains this levee system and no special districts 
maintain this system. 

76



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 34 

SacYolo North (Elkhorn Basin) 
Elkhorn Basin Maintaining Agencies 

 
RD 1600, 0827, 0785, and 0537 – SacYolo North is a roughly 32-mile-long levee system that runs along 
the right bank of the Sacramento River and left bank of Yolo Bypass between the Sacramento Bypass and 
Fremont Weir, in Yolo County, California, northwest of the city of Sacramento, and the intersection of 
interstates 80 and 5. The levee surrounds mostly agricultural lands, with some residential use. The levee, 
made of compacted soils, was originally constructed by locals in the 1800s, though the exact construction 
history is unknown to the USACE. In the early 1900’s, reconstruction of the levee by the USACE occurred 
under the Sacramento River Flood Control Project.  Throughout the 1900’s, the levee was improved after 
flood events, including placement of rock on the waterside slope to lower the likelihood of erosion, or 
washing away of the levee soils, and enlarging segments of the levee and flattening the slopes in the 1960s. 
The Sponsor for this system is the Central Valley Flood Protection Board. 

This levee is considered a low-risk system. The Oroville Dam regulates flows into the Sacramento River 
upstream of the levee and lowers the expected damages to the levee during a storm. Flood waters have 
risen more than 70 percent of the way up the levee at some locations in this system. The levee has shown 
signs of seepage, or water leaking through the levee soils, unstable slopes, and erosion. Unauthorized 
encroachments, animal burrows, and vegetation on the levee all increase the likelihood for seepage to 
occur in the future. If the levee were to fail, flood waters are expected to be between 6 and 15 feet for most 
of the leveed area, with deepest flooding to depths greater than 15 feet occurring at the south end of the 
leveed are, near the Sacramento Bypass. Yolo County has an Emergency Operations Plan for the system 
with guidance for how to respond in a flood emergency. The population living inside the leveed area is 
sparse and there should not be traffic during an evacuation. 

This 33.91-mile low risk levee system protects an estimated 102 population, 17 buildings, and $11.8M in 
property value. 

77



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 35 

Even though LAFCo annexed RD 785 and RD 827 into RD 537 in 2019, the state has not yet combined 
these units/districts and still produces separate levee inspection reports. It is anticipated that the state will 
combine these reports after the Yolo Bypass Setback Levee Project is completed.  

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

· RD 537 
· RD 1600 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

West Sacramento Levee System (West Sacramento Basin) 
West Sacramento Basin 

 
The West Sacramento levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a large-
scale levee project. The West Sacramento levee system is comprised of levees authorized by congress 
and a non-federal levee, levee which was locally constructed and is locally operated and maintained. The 
map of the levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence 
of a levee. The West Sacramento levee system reduces the risk of flooding for a northern portion of the 
City of West Sacramento and adjacent agricultural lands from flood waters in the Sacramento River, Deep 
Water Ship Channel, and the Yolo Bypass. In addition to the urban population within the leveed area, a 
significant number of structures, with property values estimated in the billions of dollars, are present within 
the leveed area. Highway 50 and Interstate 80 cross through the leveed area. The West Sacramento levee 
system is constructed of a combination of earthen embankments, floodwalls, and four closure structures 
and which they all require year-round maintenance. The closure structures are closable openings in the 
levee, which when closed prevent flood flows from entering the leveed area. The Central Valley Flood 
Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor of the congressionally authorized portion and RD 900 sponsors 

78



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 36 

the non-federal portion and both are the responsible agencies for operation and maintenance of the levee 
system. 

This 46.98-mile levee system is considered high risk and protects an estimated 49,927 population, 17,617 
buildings, and $4.35B in property value. 

Even though LAFCo reorganized RD 537 out of this basin in 2019, the state has not yet combined these 
units/districts and still produces separate levee inspection reports.  

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

· RD 900 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency 

The WSAFCA operates under a board-manager form of government and provides flood protection to the 
City of West Sacramento’s residents, businesses, and assets. The Agency provides services related to the 
construction, maintenance, and regulation of West Sacramento’s levee system. Services include the capital 
expansion and improvement of levee facilities, regulatory services to fulfill legal requirements associated 
with Federal and State programs that relate to the Agency’s activities, surveying and mapping services, 
and planning services that relate to and provide for the public’s health and safety in regard to flood 
prevention, control, and emergency response. 

WSAFCA is a joint powers authority created by an agreement made between the City of West Sacramento, 
RD 900, and RD 537. The three member WSAFCA Board formulates and enacts policy for the Agency. 
The elected boards of RD 900, RD 537, and the West Sacramento City Council each appoint a director and 
alternate director to serve as a member of the WSAFCA Board. 

SacYolo South (Clarksburg Basin) 
Clarksburg Basin Maintaining Agencies 

 
The SacYolo South levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a large-scale 
levee project. The map of the levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be prone to 

79



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 37 

flooding in the absence of a levee. The SacYolo South levee system reduces the risk of flooding for a 
portion of a rural area and agricultural lands in Yolo County from flood waters in the Sacramento River, Elk 
Slough, Sutter Slough, Minor Slough and the Yolo Bypass. In addition to the rural population within the 
leveed area, a significant number of structures, with property values estimated in the millions of dollars, are 
present within the leveed area. The SacYolo South levee system is constructed of earthen embankments 
and requires year-round maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal 
sponsor and is the responsible agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

This 40.47-mile levee system is considered moderate risk and protects an estimated 1,113 population, 569 
buildings, and $167M in property value. 

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

· RD 307 
· RD 765 
· RD 999 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

RD 150 Merritt Island Levee System (Merritt Island Basin) 
Merritt Island Basin Maintaining Agency 

 
The RD 0150 - Merritt Island levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a 
large-scale levee project. The map of the levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be 
prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. The RD 0150 - Merritt Island levee system reduces the risk of 
flooding for agricultural lands located on Merritt Island from flood waters in Elk Slough, Sutter Slough, and 
the Sacramento River. In addition to the rural population within the leveed area, a significant number of 
structures, with property values estimated in the millions of dollars, are present within the leveed area. The 
RD 0150 - Merritt Island levee system is constructed of earthen embankments and requires year-round 
maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible 
agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

This 17.75-mile levee system is considered moderate risk and protects an estimated 119 population, 93 
buildings, and $29.4M in property value. 

LMAs maintaining segments of this system include:  

80



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 38 

· RD 150 

This system is in active/eligible standing in the USACE Rehabilitation Program. 

District Services Provided 

District Powers and Services  
The following list includes the services of the agencies included in this MSR/SOI.  

Flood Control & Drainage Agencies Authorized Services 

 

Department of Water Resources (DWR) Levee Evaluation Program 
DWR annually inspects the State-federal portions of the flood management system within California's 
Central Valley and develops a summary report documenting the results of these annual levee, channel, 
and structure inspections, as well as other activities. It also creates detailed inspection reports documenting 
the deficiencies found in each Local Maintaining Agency (LMA), which are used by the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE), DWR, the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB), and other interested 
parties9. 

LMAs are required to report specific information related to the project levees by September 30 of each year. 
DWR consolidates this information and provides an Annual Report to the Central Valley Flood Protection 
Board (CVFPB) by December 31 of each year. The Annual Report is a summary of information collected 
from LMAs responsible for the operation and maintenance of the 1,600 miles of project levees in the State-
federal flood protection system. 

 

9 https://water.ca.gov/Programs/Flood-Management/Maintenance/Levee-Inspections 

Districts
Agricultural 

Water/Irrigation

  
Levee 

Maintenance
Stormwater 

Drainage/Pumping
CSA 6 ●
KLRDD ●
RD 150 ● ●
RD 307 ● ●
RD 537 ● ●
RD 730 ●
RD 765 ● ●
RD 787 ● ●
RD 900  ● ●
RD 999 ● ●
RD 1600 ● ●
RD 2035 ● ● ●

81



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 39 

 

DWR Levee Inspections & Rating 
DWR annually inspects the State-federal portions of the flood management system within California's 
Central Valley and develop a summary report including detailed inspection reports documenting the 
deficiencies found in each Local Maintaining Agency (LMA), which are used by the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE), DWR, the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB), and other interested 
parties. 

DWR is responsible for developing and administering a program to facilitate LMA reporting requirements. 
LMAs are required to report to us specific information related to the project levees by September 30 of each 
year. This information is consolidated in an Annual Report and provided to the Central Valley Flood 
Protection Board (CVFPB) by December 31 of each year. The Annual Report is a summary of information 
collected from LMAs responsible for the operation and maintenance of the 1,600 miles of project levees in 
the State-federal flood protection system. 

The summary ratings for the LMAs in Yolo County are listed below. Please note RD 730 is not included in 
this chart because it does not maintain levees (drainage only). The unacceptable ratings are highlighted.  

Each area received one of three possible ratings based on the state of its levees: 

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected. However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required. 

82



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 40 

DWR Levee Inspections Overall Rating for each LMA 

M Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
CSA 6 U M M* M M* 5.87 
KLRDD A A A A A  
RD 150  M* M* M* M* U 17.74 
RD 307 U U U U M 12.39 
RD 537  M* M* M* U U 5.93 

RD 78510 M M* M* M* M* 5.57 
RD 827 M A A A U 4.12 
RD 765  U U U M M* 1.72 
RD 787  A A A U A 4.45 
RD 900  A A A A M* 12.96 
RD 999  M U M* M M* 32.17 
RD 1600  U M* M* M* U 14.69 
RD 2035  A A A A A 12.15 

RD 108 (Colusa) A A A A M* 20.92 
Sacramento River 
Westside Levee 
District (Colusa) 

A A M* M* A 49.64 

RD 2068 (Solano) A M M* M* M 8.71 
Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report of the Central Valley State-Federal Flood 
Protection System 

 

Agency Financing 
California State Law (California Water Code section 50000 et seq.) grants a RD and drainage districts the 
authority to use taxes and fees as financing tools to raise money locally to pay for facilities and services. 
Districts may also charge for provision of water or for other services, including drainage. According to the 
Public Policy Institute of California (PPIC), RDs may also issue bonds to finance improvements. In addition, 
districts located in the Delta are eligible to receive reimbursements for flood control work under the 
Subventions Program and the Delta Levees Program. 

Two RDs receive a portion of the 1% Property Tax increment: RD 307 and a portion of RD 537 (for the 
previous RD 827 territory). The tool most widely used by these districts are special assessments based on 
the specific benefit each parcel receives from the improvements. Assessments are a levy against district 
lands that receive special benefits from operation of the district works. Assessments may be used to pay 
for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of reclamation works. Assessments are 
considered a lien against the benefited property, and the property can be sold to pay delinquent 
assessments. Since Proposition 218 was put into place in 1997, any new or increased assessments may 

 

10 RD 785 and RD 827 were dissolved by LAFCo and annexed into RD 537, but DWR still maintains 
separate LMA inspection reports by these old RD territories. However, in Spring 2024 the consolidated 
RD 537 received an overall M* rating. 

83



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 41 

be imposed only if proportional to the special benefits provided supported by a detailed engineer’s report, 
and approved by a majority vote of the affected landowners. 

Another financing tool is fees or charges, including minimum and standby charges, for services provided 
by the RD. The final financing tool is only available to RD 2035 derived from user fees for the irrigation 
services provided to property owners. 

Revenues by District 
The chart below illustrates the revenues for each of the districts studied in this MSR/SOI. For CSA 6, this 
does not include the Small Community Flood Risk Reduction Program grant funds to improve the levee 
system to provide a minimum 100-year level of protection for the Knights Landing Community. 

 

84



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 42 

The chart below shows the district expenditures per levee mile according to the 2023 DWR Summary 
Report: 

 
 

This chart below compares the size of the district (acres) per levee mile. This is important because it helps 
illustrate that some districts can spread assessments over a larger area than others. For example, RD 150 
is the most limited on the amount of acreage it can assess and has the second highest levee miles to 
maintain, so its revenue capacity is constrained.  

 

2023/24 MSR Governance Recommendations Overview 
There has been extensive ground laid through the CVFPP, 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study, and 
the 2018 Yolo LAFCo MSR that all indicate the goal of establishing one LMA for each system/basin. Some 
of this has already been accomplished with the 2020 reorganization of RD 900 in the West Sacramento 
Basin and the RD 537 reorganization is the Elkhorn Basin.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 

85



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

MSR/SOI for Flood Protection Services  Draft July 8, 2024 
LAFCo No. 23-03 43 

with LAFCo’s governance recommendations11. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

Below is a summary table of the districts in each basin, and the single recommended successor district.  

Districts in Each Levee System/Basin 

 
* MSR recommended successor district for each system/basin 

Some of these basins are more ready for combining than others. For the Sacramento River West Bank 
(North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the basin and should eventually absorb RD 
787 as the single entity for the basin. However, RD 787 is functioning well and both districts already work 
closely together, so combining the RDs is not urgent but is the eventual goal.  

For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. However, it 
is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood Management 
Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to Knights 
Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle. 

For the Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) System it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 1600 into a single 
entity due to the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass 
east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next 
MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity successor agency.  

For the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should 
absorb RD 307 and RD 765 as the single entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project 
has not yet received funding; therefore, the timing is appropriate now in 2024. This MSR (and the previous 
one in 2018) has found RD 307 and RD 765 are not functioning as responsive, accountable, and transparent 
as government agencies, therefore the timing is relatively more urgent.  

 

11 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

86



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Sacramento River West Bank Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.0-1 

Sacramento River West Bank (North County Basin) Levee System Overview1  

Summary 
Sacramento River West Bank is a system of earthen levees spanning multiple counties in the Sacramento 
River Valley in California. The levee system is 119.72 miles long and contains 8 segments. The eastern 
portion is made up of five segments along the west bank of the Sacramento River from Ord Bend in Glenn 
County to Knights Landing in Yolo County. The western portion includes three levee segments along the 
left bank of Colusa Drain from Colusa to Knight’s Landing. This levee was one of many levees along the 
Sacramento Valley constructed by local landowners in the late 1800’s to reduce the risk of flooding. The 
exact date of construction and who specifically built it is not known by the USACE. The levees were 
completed by 1930s. Flood water rose above the top of the levee and caused the levee to breach, or break 
open, many times during floods after the 1930s construction. The system was reconstructed by the USACE 
in the 1940s and 1950s. Since then, additional emergency repairs and improvements have been made to 
the levee system, including installation of stone protection on the banks and increasing the levee height 
and width. The City of Colusa is the most populated area behind the levee, compared to the majority of the 
leveed area which is primarily agricultural. 

The Sacramento River West Bank Levee System includes the following Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs) 
in Yolo County: 

· RD 108 (not part of this MSR because Colusa is its principal county) 
· RD 787 
· Sacramento River West Side Drainage District (not part of this MSR because Colusa is its principal 

county) 
 

Sacramento River West Bank Levee System Units and LMAs 

 
The levee system was constructed in 1959 and averages 13 feet in height. Its flooding sources include the 
Colusa Basin Drainage Canal and Sacramento River.  

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 

87



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Sacramento River West Bank Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.0-2 

Performance and Condition 
No levee can completely reduce the risk of flooding. This levee is considered moderate risk based on the 
likelihood of the levee failing and the consequences to the people and property if it were to fail. The levee 
is in an area that is subject to seasonal flooding. The levee has experienced widespread seepage, or leaking 
of water through the soils, and erosion, deterioration of the levee soils, because of previous flood events. 
Water has risen high on the levee during past floods. The foundation soils and soils that were used to build 
the levee are susceptible to further erosion and can be easily washed away by the fast-moving water 
expected during flood events. These soils also allow water to seep through them easily. Animal burrows, 
trees and bushes, discharge pipes, utility poles, and irrigation ditches also provide paths for water to travel 
through and weaken the levee.  

Past flooding events have caused erosion and caving on the levee banks at numerous locations, which 
make the levee more at risk for failure. It is highly likely that future flood events could result in additional 
seepage and erosion and increase the potential for a levee breach. If the levee were to break, the northern 
half of the leveed area (which includes the city of Colusa) would experience shallow flooding, less than 2 
feet in depth. South of Colusa, flood water anywhere between 2 and 15 feet deep. The worst of the flooding 
would occur at the southernmost part of this levee system, near Knight’s Landing, where flooding could be 
greater than 15 feet deep. The majority of major flooding inside the leveed area would occur in primarily 
agricultural land.  

Historic flooding/levee loading data is shown in the following graphic. 

 
 

88



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-1 

RD 787 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1908, Reclamation District (RD) 787 provides drainage services and levee maintenance for 4.45 
levee miles along the Colusa Basin Drain and operates 2 pump stations (with 5 pumps). The District is 
9,868 acres in size and is bounded by the Sacramento River to the north and east, the Colusa Basin Drain 
Canal to the south, and County Road 98A to the west. State Highway 45 and Sycamore Slough bisect the 
District.  

The District has four landowners and costs are apportioned by acreage owned. River Garden Farms 
Company is the largest landowner (87% of the District) and bears most of the costs. The District has no 
employees or equipment itself and has an agreement with River Garden Farms for all levee operations and 
maintenance and equipment needs. The District also contracts for legal and engineering services. 

Reclamation District 787 is an independent special district with a three-member board of trustees, which 
meets annually and calls additional special meetings as needed. Meetings are held at the River Garden 
Farms office.  

 

89



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-2 

 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Sacramento River West Bank levee system that RD 787 is included in has a population of 
approximately 10,681 permanent residents across a very large levee system spread over 119 miles long. 
The southern portion including RD 787 is primarily agricultural with only a few residences. Normal 
fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection standards and District levee 
and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards is not required until the 
area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned to have 10,000 
residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population anticipated in the 
District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

90



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-3 

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 787 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The census 
tract including RD 787 (that is large due to low population) is designated as a disadvantaged unincorporated 
community, but the District provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

91



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

RD 787 achieved an acceptable (i.e., the highest) rating, except in 2022. The flood protection project will 
function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary cyclical maintenance is 
being performed adequately. 

92



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 787 A A A U A 4.45 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

RD 787 contains one segment inspected by DWR that also comprises the overall rating. The unit, length, 
rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Colusa Basin Drain LB 4.45 A 
 

 
 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

93



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-6 

DWR Summary of LMA Report 
As required by Assembly Bill 156 (Laird, 2007), the California Water Code now requires all Local Levee 
Maintaining to submit to DWR, by September 30 of each year, specific information relative to the Project 
Levees they operate and maintain. In turn, DWR is then required to summarize this information in an annual 
report to the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB) by December 31 each year.  

The Agency reported accumulation of drift, trash, or debris between LM 0.0 and 4.0, encroachment issues 
between LM 0.0 and 0.1, sloughing and vegetation issues between LM 0.0 and 4.0. The Agency reported 
that County Road 112 between district levee and SR 45 is in poor condition and need to be improved in an 
emergency to aid RD 787. The Agency provided a list of expenses and maintenance activities performed 
on all levee units. Activities include encroachment control, patrolling, rodent control, surveying and 
engineering, telemetry maintenance, and vegetation control by spraying and other methods. The reported 
total maintenance cost for the previous fiscal year was $65,000. The Agency provided a list of planned 
expenses and maintenance activities for all levee units. Expenses include the cost of encroachment control, 
office overhead, patrolling, sediment removal, surveying and engineering, telemetry maintenance and 
vegetation control by mowing, spraying, tree removal, and other methods. The reported total cost for the 
current fiscal year is $100,000 which corresponds to $22,472 per levee mile. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 787 was inspected on March 5, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has updated O&M Manuals, adequate flood fighting materials shared with RD 108, and works 
jointly with RD 108 on flood fight training and flood response.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 4 0 4 NA 

Total % 100% 0% 4  

 

All the items from the fall 2023 inspection have been corrected and there are no critical issues noted. 

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 787 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.   

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 787 has had acceptable ratings from DWR consistently except for 2022. RD 787 transitioned from 
burning vegetation on the District’s levees to contract grazing in 2022. DWR conducted its 2022 inspection 
in June, before RD 787’s grazing contractor began providing services. RD 787’s grazing contractor provided 
grazing services in the early fall, well before the wet season. But the levee maintenance improved 
significantly in the 2023 inspection and will function as designed and intended with a high degree of 
reliability. It is remarkable that there are 0% maintenance issues cited by DWR. The reported total cost for 
the current fiscal year is $100,000 which corresponds to $22,472 per levee mile. The 2024 Spring inspection 
report indicates 100% of the 4 items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been corrected. 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

94



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-7 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 787 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 
correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

95



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-8 

 
Discussion:  
The District does not use the County Treasury and has only provided data for fiscal years 2020 through 
2023, the last four fiscal years. Fiscal year 2019 data was not provided (River Garden Farms changed 
ownership which essentially operates the District). The data shows potential instability with the District’s 
finances. There were year-end deficits at the end of 2020 and 2021. Also, expenditures for 2023 have not 
yet been posted. Fund balance as of June 30, 2023, was $113,687. RD 787’s operations and maintenance 
expenses have historically been paid by River Garden Farms, which is then reimbursed on an acreage 
basis by the other landowners within the District. In addition, RD 787 receives funds from intergovernmental 
sources (DWR Flood Maintenance Assistance Program, or FMAP) which allow the District to undertake 
additional projects. However, funds must be applied for and as such are not guaranteed. In addition, these 
revenues often take time to receive after approval temporarily impacting cash flow negatively. 

The District has consistently received acceptable levee inspection ratings except for 2022, but it is solely 
relying on state assistance to maintain the levees. The District does not have a capital improvement plan 
and indicates it is working on one. The District does not have any debt issues outstanding nor any pension 
or other postemployment benefits liabilities. 

The District can improve its use of generally accepted accounting principles. The District contracts with 
River Garden Farms for management and administrative services, including accounting. There was a recent 
change of ownership, and some transition is still taking place. The data provided does include data from 
fiscal year 2019 and does not include 2023 expenditures which have been delayed being processed. RD 
787 should consider adopting a process where unpaid expenditures and revenue due can be accrued so 
that the District accounting at year end includes all relevant balances conforms to generally accepted 
accounting principles using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The financials are reviewed at each 
board of trustees meeting by the trustees and audited as part of River Garden Farms.   

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 787 is essentially operated by River Garden Farms which owns 87% of the District. While both entities 
are sharing services, it also creates some comingling and transparency issues. All accounting and audits 

96



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-9 

are part of River Garden Farms. Oddly, the Board of Equalization and State Controller’s Office was unaware 
that RD 787 existed because Yolo County does not act as the treasurer for the District, so RD 787 didn’t 
know annual State Controller’s Financial Transaction Reports are required. RD 787 has consistently high 
DWR inspection ratings, which indicates financial ability to do so. LAFCo’s only concern is that the District’s 
revenues solely come from the DWR Flood Maintenance Assistance Program (FMAP). While RD 787 does 
not assess landowners as other districts do, RD 787’s landowners do cooperate and fund the District’s 
maintenance and operations.  River Garden Farms pays for RD 787’s maintenance and operations costs 
and is reimbursed by the other landowners based on acreage.   

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· Consider undergoing a proposition 218 preceding to establish a special assessment or bill owners 
a set amount annually to secure a reliable revenue source and provide a positive cash flow to pay 
expenditures without relying on the receipt of intergovernmental grants and subventions.    

· Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should 
be (and fund accordingly). 

· Separate the RD 787 accounts from River Garden Farms so that financial analysis is transparent 
and accountable.  

· Develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all transactions 
posted to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate. 

· Begin filing the special district State Controller’s Financial Transaction Reports annually (due 7 
months after close of the fiscal year). 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 787 is hydrologically connected to RD 108 and the Sacramento River West Side Drainage District in 
the Sacramento River West Side Levee System. The agencies in this levee system already operate under 
a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 787 participates as members of the California Central Valley 
Flood Control Association (CCVFCA) and the Westside Committee for the Regional Flood Management 
Plan. RD 787 already utilizes shared services as it is operated by River Garden Farms, which owns 87% 
of the District. It overlaps Sacramento River West Side Drainage District, and it is recommended it 
eventually be subsumed by RD 108.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

97



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-10 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sacramento River West Bank (North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the 
basin and should eventually absorb RD 787 as the single entity for the basin. RD 787 is currently functioning 
reasonably well as operated by River Garden Farms. However, with the goal of evolving to one LMA for 

98



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-11 

each levee system/hydrologic basin, RD 787 should eventually be absorbed by RD 108 as the much larger 
district that already operates the Sacramento River West Side Drainage District.   

All three board member positions are currently filled pursuant to sections 50700 et seq. of the California 
Water Code, and the District is currently transitioning two new members onto the board. The Board of 
Trustees meets at least once per year at the River Garden Farms office and schedules additional meetings 
as needed. RD 787 currently obtains services via an agreement with River Garden Farms for staffing needs. 
RD 787 also contacts with KSN engineers and Downey Brand for legal counsel. There do not appear to be 
any issues with board or staff turnover.  

RD 787 audits are included in the audits for River Garden Farms. It’s unknown if RD 787 has written 
guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. RD 787 does not have its 
own insurance as its employees and offices are covered under River Garden Farms’ policies. RD 787 has 
a website which is an achievement from the 2018 MSR recommendations, but it only received a 23% 
transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
RD 787 is currently performing services well as operated by River Garden Farms, which owns 87% of the 
land within the District. However, the District is essentially run by and comingled with River Garden Farms 
such that it creates some transparency issues. There do not appear to be any issues with board or staff 
turnover. RD 787’s audits are included in River Garden Farms’ audit and its website received a 23% 
transparency score in 2023. With the goal of evolving to one LMA for each levee system/hydrologic basin, 
RD 787 should eventually be absorbed by RD 108 as the much larger and resourced district operating in 
the levee system/basin. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· For the Sacramento River West Bank (North County) System, RD 108 is the more robust district in the 
basin and should eventually absorb RD 787 as the single entity for the Yolo County portion of the basin. 
However, RD 787 is functioning well and both districts already work closely together, so combining the 
RDs is not urgent but is the eventual goal.  

· Secure independent audits of financial reports (separate from River Garden Farms) that meet California 
State Controller requirements every two years.  

· Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. 

· Establish a records retention policy to archive important District records. 

· Improve the District’s 23% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

 

99



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 787   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

1.1-12 

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
RD 787 has varying broadband access depending on location. Near its office, the CPUC California 
Broadband Availability Map5 indicates RD 787 is served with fixed wireless speeds of 50/30 Mbps by AFES 
(but staff is skeptical). However, there is only mobile service east of SR 45 with speeds up to 43/10 Mbps 
from T-Mobile or 38/5 Mbps from AT&T. This may meet the minimum broadband speeds, but mobile service 
is inconsistent across the entire district with many pockets that are unserved. Although the District reports 
some residents also use Starlink satellite broadband service.  

Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that RD 787 eventually be 
annexed by RD 108, however, Yolo LAFCo does not have authority to update RD 108’s SOI since Colusa 
is RD 108’s principal county. Changes to the RD 787’s SOI are not needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

5 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

100



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03   Draft July 8, 2024 

2.0-1 

KL Unit 2–Yolo Bypass–Service Area 6 (Knights Landing Basin) Levee System Overview1  

Summary 
Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River 
Flood Control Project, a large-scale levee project authorized by Congress. The map of the levee system 
shows the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. Knights 
Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system reduces the risk of flooding for Yolo and Sutter 
County and adjacent agricultural lands from flood waters in Kings River. A nonurban population and a small 
number of structures are present within the leveed area. Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service 
Area 6 levee system is constructed of earthen embankments and requires year-round maintenance. The 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible agency for 
operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

The Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 Levee System includes the following Local 
Maintaining Agencies (LMAs): 

· County Service Area 6 
· Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 

Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 System Units and LMAs 

 
The levee system was constructed in 1952 and averages 14 feet in height. Its flooding sources include the 
Colusa Basin Drainage Canal, Knights Landing Ridge Cut, Sacramento River, and the Yolo Bypass. Historic 
flooding/levee loading data is shown in the following graphic.  

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 

101



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03   Draft July 8, 2024 

2.0-2 

 

Knights Landing Flood Management Project 
In 2017, Yolo County received a grant from the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) Small 
Community Flood Risk Reduction Program (SCFFRP) to complete a feasibility study of structural and non-
structural actions that could reduce flood risk to Knights Landing. The County prepared the 2019 Knights 
Landing Small Community Flood Risk Reduction Feasibility Study. In 2020, the County received additional 
grant funding from DWR as part of Phase 2 of the SCFRRP to implement the Knights Landing Flood 
Management Project, which includes four project elements: 

1. The design of levee improvements along the Sacramento River adjacent to Knights Landing and 
the design and permitting of the Knights Landing Ridge Cut levee, and the design and permitting 
of the Mid-Valley Levee Reconstruction to include the construction of Site 9 & 10. 

2. Completion of Phase 1 concepts for Portuguese Bend and Grays Bend Habitat enhancement 
projects. 

3. The design, permitting, and construction of the Drainage Infrastructure Improvements. 
4. The design of the New Cross Levee and New Cross Levee Loop Trail. 

When the Knights Landing Flood Management Project is completed, it will reduce or prevent flooding to a 
population of 995, approximately 321 structures, and 3,500 acres of prime agricultural lands. 

 

102



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-1 

CSA 6 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1975, Snowball County Service Area 6 (CSA 6) is responsible for providing levee maintenance 
for 5.87 miles of levee along the right bank (relative to the view downstream) of the Sacramento River, 
protecting the town of Knights Landing and surrounding agricultural lands within the Knights Landing 
hydrologic basin. The District does not own any pumps nor provide drainage services. CSA 6 is bounded 
by the Sacramento River on the east, the Sycamore Slough on the north, the Knights Landing Ridge Cut 
(“Ridge Cut”) on the west, and the channel of the Old Sacramento River on the south.  

Previously, Reclamation District (RD) 730 provided levee maintenance services to this area until 1954, 
when the State Department of Water Services (DWR) assumed responsibility for the levee system because 
DWR determined RD 730 was inadequately maintaining it. CSA 6 was formed in August 1975, in response 
to the rising cost of State services which were annual fees imposed and not subject to a Prop 218 approval 
process. Reasons for this transition include the State’s concern over its increased maintenance costs; fear 
from local owners that these costs would result in higher fees, taxes, or assessments; and the County’s 
belief that it could provide comparable services at a lower price.  

CSA 6 is under the direct supervision of the Yolo County Board of Supervisors and County staff administer 
the District. The Natural Resources Division has administered CSA-6 since 2016.  

 

103



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 levee system (Knights Landing Levee System) 
that CSA 6 is included in has a population of approximately 1,192 permanent residents. Normal fluctuations 
in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection standards and District levee and drainage 
services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards is not required until the area is 
developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned to have 10,000 residents 
or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population anticipated in the District 
that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

104



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
CSA 6 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. Knights Landing 
is a disadvantaged unincorporated community within CSA 6, but the District provides services 
notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

105



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Ratings for CSA 6 have achieved minimally acceptable ratings the last four years. The flood protection will 
essentially function as designed with a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

106



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
CSA 6 U M M* M M* 5.87 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

CSA 6 contains one segment inspected by DWR. The unit, length, rating is listed in the table and shown in 
the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 5.87 M* 
 

 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

107



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-6 

DWR Summary of LMA Report 
As required by Assembly Bill 156 (Laird, 2007), the California Water Code now requires all Local Levee 
Maintaining to submit to DWR, by September 30 of each year, specific information relative to the Project 
Levees they operate and maintain. In turn, DWR is then required to summarize this information in an annual 
report to the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB) by December 31 each year. For 2023, CSA 6 
(“The Agency”) reported erosion with a 30-foot vertical face encroaching into the levee prism approximately 
800 feet long from levee mile (LM) 5.82 to LM 5.97 (located in Sutter County, whose landowners do not 
contribute to CSA-6 via ad velorum tax), seepage from LM 2.61 to LM 2.71, LM 3.12 to LM 3.31, seepage 
and stability concerns from LM 4.3 to LM 5.36, stability concerns during high-water events due to the levee 
being composed of very sandy soils from LM 0.00 to LM 5.87, and vegetation that do not appear to be 
compliant with current standards between LM 4.0 and 5.0. The Agency reported levee erosion and burrow 
holes throughout the entire levee reach between LM 0.00 and LM 5.87, a historic boil located behind the 
Knights Landing Post Office at LM 0.5, seepage between LM 2.6 and LM 5.4, and seepage during 2023 
high water events at the edge of waterside berm. The Agency provided a list of expenses and maintenance 
activities performed on all levee units. Activities include encroachment control, minor structure repair, 
patrolling, rodent control, and vegetation control. The reported total maintenance cost for the previous fiscal 
year was $140,400). Expenses include the cost of encroachment control, rodent control, and vegetation 
control. The Agency reported that new construction of a 1,000 and 1,100 linear foot seepage cutoff wall, 
regrading of the levee crown and slope, and placement of aggregate base on the levee crown completed 
in July 2023. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $97,500, which corresponds to $16,610 
per levee mile (costs as reported by DWR do not include the separate Small Community Flood Risk 
Reduction Program funds). 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
CSA 6 was inspected on March 21, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has copies of the O&M Manuals, a stockpile of flood fighting materials, and the crew has had 
flood fight training.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 29 1 30 Tree stump (mi 0.29)  

Total % 29 (97%) 1 (3%) 30  
 

There is only one unresolved item, which is merely removal of old tree stump DWR wants removed.  

Small Community Flood Risk Reduction Program (SCFRRP) 
Created as a result of the adoption of the 2012 Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP), the SCFRRP 
is a local assistance program whose objective is to reduce flood risk for small communities protected by 
State Plan of Flood Control facilities, as well as for legacy communities. Small communities are defined in 
the CVFPP as developed areas with between 200 and 10,000 residents. As part of this Program, Yolo 
County completed the Knights Landing Flood Risk Reduction Program Phase 1 Feasibility Study in 2019 
that identified areas of seepage and stability concerns and a plan to improve the levee system to provide a 
minimum 100-year level of protection for the Knights Landing Community.  

Subsequently, Yolo County applied for and received additional funding in the amount of $15.9 million, plus 
a $1.6 million local match, to construct two critical repairs of the Sacramento River levee in CSA 6 (Mid 
Valley Sites 9 and 10), to complete design of a third reach of levee (Site 11), and complete geotechnical 
evaluations and preliminary design for improvements to the remainder of the basin. As of June 2024, the 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

108



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-7 

SCFRRP funding has completed construction of Mid Valley Sites 9 and 10, final design and permits for Site 
11, and preliminary design, including CEQA, for the remainder of the proposed repairs/improvements within 
the Knights Landing basin. These efforts have also resulted in a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
application that has received preliminary approval to provide an additional $40.5 million of grant funding to 
complete design and construction of all remaining phases.      

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
CSA 6 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
CSA 6 has significantly improved its maintenance compared to the 2018 MSR with minimally acceptable 
ratings the last four years. The flood protection will essentially function as designed with a lesser degree of 
reliability than what the project could provide. Improvements were noted from 2022 to 2023 with some 
minimal vegetation and encroachment issues. The Agency reported that new construction of a 1,000 and 
1,100 linear foot seepage cutoff wall, regrading of the levee crown and slope, and placement of aggregate 
base on the levee crown completed in July 2023. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is 
$97,500, which corresponds to $16,610 per levee mile, however, the costs as reported by DWR do not 
include the separate Small Community Flood Risk Reduction Program (SCFRRP) funds. The 2024 Spring 
inspection report indicates 97% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been corrected. 

In addition, as of June 2024 the SCFRRP funding has completed construction of Mid Valley Sites 9 and 10, 
final design and permits for Site 11, and preliminary design, including CEQA, for the remainder of the 
proposed repairs/improvements within the Knights Landing basin. These efforts have also resulted in a 
FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program application that has received preliminary approval to provide an 
additional $40.5 million of grant funding to complete design and construction of all remaining phases. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· CSA 6 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and correct 
issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

109



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-8 

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 
Discussion:  
The District appears to be financially stable but is dependent on the receipt of other grants for maintenance 
and improvements to the levees. The District’s revenue consists of special assessments, earnings, 
intergovernmental revenue, and miscellaneous revenue. Over the past 5 years special assessments were 
31% of annual revenues and intergovernmental revenues comprised 68%. Overall total fund balance has 
increased by $47,369, from $221,245 as of July 1, 2019, to $268,614 as of June 30, 2023. There may be 
an issue with the adequacy of fund balance and having sufficient cash on hand to manage an unanticipated 
levee failure. Although CSA 6 qualifies for an 100% cost share from the USACE, it takes time for federal 
reimbursements to come in and that funding gap needs to be managed.  

The special assessments are enrolled on the County’s tax roll and are subject to proposition 218. The 
District’s revenue most reliable source is from special assessments, while the intergovernmental revenue 
may not be. The intergovernmental revenue is not guaranteed and are subject to change based on policy 
changes of the grantor agencies. 

The District received an overall rating of M for as part of the Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 
inspection. The M rating was first received for the 2020 inspection which was the first year the CSA started 
to receive funding from the State. It appears the CSA may be dependent on State funding to maintain the 
levees to a satisfactory standard. 

The District does not have a formal CIP plan as it has no capital assets, but instead uses the System Wide 
Improvement Framework (SWIF) plan for maintenance of its levees and the SCFRRP for rehabilitation and 
repair of its levee deficiencies. Many deficiencies have been corrected through implementation of the Phase 
1 of the Knights Landing Flood Risk Reduction project, funded by DWR. 

110



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-9 

 

 

111



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-10 

Yolo County applied for and received additional funding in the amount of $15.9 million, plus a $1.6 million 
local match, to construct two critical repairs of the Sacramento River levee in CSA 6 (Mid Valley Sites 9 
and 10), to complete design of a third reach of levee (Site 11), and complete geotechnical evaluations and 
preliminary design for improvements to the remainder of the basin. As of June 2024, the SCFRRP funding 
has completed construction of Mid Valley Sites 9 and 10, final design and permits for Site 11, and 
preliminary design, including CEQA, for the remainder of the proposed repairs/improvements within the 
Knights Landing basin. These efforts have also resulted in a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
application that has received preliminary approval to provide an additional $40.5 million of grant funding to 
complete design and construction of all remaining phases.   

The accounting for the $15.9M SCFRRP grant is maintained in a separate capital project fund (CPF). As 
of June 30, 2023, the County has transferred the required county match into the CPF, however the fund 
had a fund deficit of over $3M and a negative cash balance of $4M. These deficit balances have occurred 
for two reasons: 1) District staff did not accrue grant revenue in the amount of $2.987M as of June 30, 2023 
and 2) There was not a discussion with County Treasury staff on how to manage negative cash flows due 
to the slow grant reimbursement process. 

The District does not have any debt nor any pension or other post-employment benefits liabilities. Budget 
reports of the CSA are provided quarterly to the BOS and annual snapshots are provided twice per year 
(June/October). 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
CSA 6 is financially stable and able to provide its services. However, outside funding comprises roughly 
two-thirds of its revenue and appears necessary to achieve “minimally acceptable” ratings from DWR. CSA 
6 does not have any debt and is financially accountable. Although CSA 6 qualifies for a 100% cost share 
from the USACE in the case of a catastrophic levee failure, it takes time for federal reimbursements to 
come in and that funding gap needs to be managed. Yolo County applied for and received additional funding 
in the amount of $15.9 million, plus a $1.6 million local match, to construct two critical repairs of the 
Sacramento River levee in CSA 6 (Mid Valley Sites 9 and 10), to complete design of a third reach of levee 
(Site 11), and complete geotechnical evaluations and preliminary design for improvements to the remainder 
of the basin. These efforts have also resulted in a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program application that 
has received preliminary approval to provide an additional $40.5 million of grant funding to complete design 
and construction of all remaining phases. CSA 6 plans to initiate a Prop 218 process to fund maintenance 
of the newly constructed SCFRRP projects.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· To ensure accurate year-end balances, CSA 6 staff should work with County Department of Financial 
Services to record all relevant material balances. 

· CSA staff should work with County Treasury staff to come up with a plan to manage the capital project 
fund cash flow.  

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

112



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-11 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
CSA 6 is hydrologically connected to the Knights Landing Ridge Cut Drainage District (KLRDD) and the 
State Department of Water Resources in the Knights Landing Levee System. The agencies in this levee 
system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan.  

Yolo County and its staff participates as members of the Yolo Groundwater Sustainability Agency, California 
Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA), the Lower Sacramento River-Delta North Regional 
Flood Management Program, the Yolo Bypass / Cache Slough Partnership, and quarterly coordinating 
meetings with all other levee maintaining agencies within the County.   

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational efficiencies for the 
Knights Landing Basin. The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta 
North Flood Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary 
stakeholder outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, 
policy/procedure, training requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, 

113



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-12 

operations and maintenance, and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County 
Flood Governance Study (2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately 
recommended the “The Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each 
hydraulically connected basin operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. However, it 
is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood Management 
Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to Knights 
Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle. 
Additionally, there is a portion of levee along the Sacramento River that lies within Sutter County for which 
CSA 6 is unable to collect any revenues from or perform any maintenance on but is shown as the Levee 
Maintaining Agency in the State and Federal records. KLRDD can annex this additional territory in Sutter 
County (while CSA 6 cannot) and collect assessments in both counties. 

The Board of Supervisors serves as the Board of Trustees for CSA 6 and Yolo County staff operates the 
district. Therefore, there are no issues with board or staff turnover.  

CSA 6 has written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. It has 
insurance coverage through YCPARMIA. CSA audits are included in Yolo County’s ACFR. The CSA’s 
financial transactions are processed by County staff and are subject to all the County’s accounting and 
financial reporting polices. CSA 6 information is provided as a page on the Yolo County website (that 
received a 90% transparency score in 2023).  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
CSA 6 is currently functioning well as operated by Yolo County. With the goal of evolving to one LMA for 
each levee system/hydrologic basin, KLRDD is preliminarily recommended as the single entity successor 
agency. However, it is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing 
Flood Management Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood 
protection to Knights Landing, plus the need for ongoing maintenance funding. This recommendation 
including the timing should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle. The Board of Supervisors serves as 
the board of CSA 6, and therefore, there are no issues with board or staff turnover. Audits are included in 
the Yolo County annual audit reports. CSA 6 information is provided as a page on the Yolo County website 
(that received a 90% transparency score in 2023. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· For the Knights Landing System, KLRDD is the recommended single entity successor agency. 
However, it is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD at this time due to the Knights Landing Flood 
Management Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood 
protection to Knights Landing. This recommendation including the timing should be reevaluated in the 
next MSR/SOI cycle once CSA 6’s levees and assessments are brought up to standard.  

 

114



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

County Service Area 6   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.1-13 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

 
Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
CSA 6 has varying broadband access depending on location. In the town of Knights Landing there is fiber 
broadband capable of 1 gig speeds from Astound. In the southern portion of the district outside of town, the 
CPUC California Broadband Availability Map5 indicates CSA 6 is served with fixed wireless speeds of 50/30 
Mbps by AFES (but staff is skeptical). This may meet the minimum broadband speeds, but mobile service 
can be inconsistent.  

Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. There are not changes to CSA 6 boundaries 
recommended in this MSR. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are not needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

5 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

115



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-1 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District Agency Profile 
Formed in 1913, the Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District (KLRDD) provides levee maintenance for 
12.39 miles of levee constructed as part of the Knights Landing Ridge Cut (“Ridge Cut”). It does not operate 
any pumping stations or provide ag water. The District is 44,807 acres in size and has approximately 450 
landowners (300 in Yolo and 150 in Colusa counties) and was formed primarily to construct the Ridge Cut 
which was completed in 1916. The Ridge Cut, along with the Colusa Basin Drainage Canal, provides a 
gravity drainage outlet for the Colusa Basin.  

The KLRDD is an independent special district with a five-member Board of Commissioners; three are 
elected at large from the northern division area and two from the southern division. KLRDD has an MOU 
with RD 108 to provide full services.   

 

116



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 6 (Knights Landing) levee system that KLRDD 
is included in has a population of approximately 1,192 permanent residents. Normal fluctuations in rural 
population will not change current DWR flood protection standards and District levee and drainage services. 
The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards is not required until the area is developed with 
10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned to have 10,000 residents or more within the 
next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population anticipated in the District that will impact the 
subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

117



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-3 

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
KLRDD does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. Knights 
Landing is a disadvantaged unincorporated community within KLRDD, but the District provides services 
notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

118



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Ratings for KLRDD have achieve an acceptable (i.e., the highest) rating all five years. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary cyclical 
maintenance is being performed adequately. 

119



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
KLRDD A A A A A 12.39 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

KLRDD contains two segments inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, length, rating 
is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Knights landing Ridge Cut RB 6.36 A 

Unit No. 02 Knights landing Ridge Cut LB 6.03 A 

 

 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

120



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-6 

The DWR summary from the fall 2023 inspection reported that the District performed annual 
Winter/Summer inspections as required. The District concurs with the information contained in the Spring 
2023 inspection reports with the exception of pipe ownership/responsibility. The District continues to 
perform routine maintenance including, but not limited to visual inspections, rodent baiting, vegetation 
management, and erosion repairs as needed. Encroachment enforcement remains an ongoing process 
that is leading to varied success. The Agency reported multiple erosion sites on Unit Nos. 1 and 2. The 
Agency provided a list of expenses and maintenance activities performed on all levee units. Activities 
include erosion repair, levee crown maintenance, patrolling, rodent control, surveying and engineering, and 
vegetation control by spraying and other methods. The reported total maintenance cost for the previous 
fiscal year was $742,033. The Agency reported a budget of $767,456, which corresponds to $61,942 per 
levee mile. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
KLRDD was inspected on February 27, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall 
rating. The LMA has updated O&M Manuals, a stockpile flood fighting materials, a written response plan, 
and the crew has regular flood fight training.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 17 3 20 Erosion/bank caving (mi. 1.66, 3.78), unauthorized 
gate and culvert (mi 2.58)   

Unit No. 02 10 0 10  

Total % 27 (90%) 3 (10%) 30  

 

The only critical issue noted includes the unauthorized gate and culvert. KLRDD has resolved 90 percent 
of the items found in the fall 2023 inspection.  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
KLRDD currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
KLRDD has had Acceptable ratings from DWR consistently for the past 5 years. The flood protection project 
will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability. There was some minimal vegetation, 
animal control and cracking issues worsening in 2023, but KLRDD still maintains the highest rating from 
DWR. The reported total maintenance cost for the previous fiscal year was $742,033. The Agency reported 
a budget of $767,456, which corresponds to $61,942 per levee mile. The 2024 Spring inspection report 
indicates 90% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been corrected. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· KLRDD should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 
correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

121



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-7 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

122



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-8 

 
 
Discussion:  
The 5-year trend indicates KLRDD appears to be in a stable financial position but had incurred a loss of 
$45,369 in 2023 because of increased services and supplies, without a similar increase in revenue. 
However, there is ample fund balance to cover the loss which increased by $488,379 from 2018 to 2023. 
The District’s revenues consist of special assessments (Yolo County portion enrolled on tax roll), interest, 
rents, intergovernmental revenue other miscellaneous other revenue. In fiscal year 2022 the District’s 
expenditures were $319.289 higher than the previous year, while revenues increased by $226,988 due to 
the receipt of FMAP funding from the State. The increased expenditures were due to two maintenance 
projects. 

Over the past 5 years the District has relied on special assessments and intergovernmental revenue for 
96% of annual funding. Special assessments are very reliable while intergovernmental revenues are not a 
guaranteed source of revenue. It must be applied for and in some case is limited to specific purposes and 
is subject to grantor policy changes. 

The District received an overall rating of A as part of the Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 
inspection which is a good indication that existing revenues are sufficient to fund an adequate level of 
service. The District does not have a capital improvement plan.  

The District does not have any debt issues outstanding nor any pension or other postemployment benefits 
liabilities. The District contracts for accounting and administrative services with Reclamation District No. 
108 and contracts with and independent CPA for an audit annually. The Board reviews financial updates at 
each meeting, three times per year.  

123



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-9 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
KLRDD appears financially stable and is able to provide required services at a consistently high level. The 
District is operated by RD 108 via an MOU agreement. About half of District funding comes from DWR’s 
Flood Maintenance Assistance Program and maintenance may be curtailed should this grant funding ever 
be reduced or the program ended. The District does not have an adopted capital improvement plan but 
maintains a large fund balance. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
KLRDD is hydrologically connected to CSA 6 in the Knights Landing Unit 2 – Yolo Bypass – Service Area 
6 Levee System. The agencies in this levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the 
SWIF plan. KLRDD participates as members of the California Central Valley Flood Control Association 
(CCVFCA) and the Westside Committee for the Regional Flood Management Plan. KLRDD already utilizes 
shared services as it is operated by RD 108.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

124



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-10 

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational efficiencies for the 
Knights Landing Basin. The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta 
North Flood Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary 
stakeholder outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, 
policy/procedure, training requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, 
operations and maintenance, and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County 
Flood Governance Study (2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately 
recommended the “The Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each 
hydraulically connected basin operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Knights Landing System it is premature to combine CSA 6 and KLRDD due to the Knights Landing 
Flood Management Project underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood 
protection to Knights Landing. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a 
single entity successor agency.  

All five board member positions are currently filled by landowner elections. The Board meets three times 
per year at the RD 108 office. KLRDD currently obtains services via an MOU with RD 108 for all staffing 
and equipment needs. KLRDD also contracts with KSN engineers and Downey Brand for legal counsel. 
There do not appear to be any issues with board or staff turnover.  

KLRDD has written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. It has 
insurance coverage through ACWA, JPIA, and State Fund. KLRDD conducts annual audits, but they are 
not posted on its webpage. KLRDD information is provided as a page on the RD 108 website (that received 
a 62% transparency score in 2023).  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
KLRDD is currently functioning well as operated by RD 108. With the goal of evolving to one LMA for each 
levee system/hydrologic basin, CSA 6 and KLRDD should eventually combine as a single entity. It may 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

125



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-11 

make sense for KLRDD to assume CSA 6 responsibilities as the much larger overlapping district that is 
operated well by RD 108. It may make sense for KLRDD to operate or absorb RD 730 as well, however, 
RD 730 does not maintain any levees therefore it’s a separate issue. There do not appear to be any issues 
with board or staff turnover. KLRDD conducts annual audits, but they are not posted on its webpage that 
received a 62% transparency score in 2023. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· For the Knights Landing System, CSA 6 and KLRDD should eventually combine as a single entity. 
However, it is premature to combine them due to the Knights Landing Flood Management Project 
underway to construct new levees and improvements to bring 100-year flood protection to the town of 
Knights Landing. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity 
successor agency.  

· Initiate discussions with RD 730 to determine if an agreement to provide services or absorbing it 
altogether makes sense. 

· KLRDD should improve its 62% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
KLRDD is a large district with varying broadband access depending on location. Near its levee segments, 
the CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates KLRDD is served with fixed wireless speeds of 
50/30 Mbps by AFES (but staff is skeptical). This may meet the minimum broadband speeds, but mobile 
service is inconsistent across the entire district with many pockets that are unserved.  

Recommendation(s) 
None.  

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that KLRDD eventually absorb 
CSA 6 that is already within KLRDD boundaries. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are not needed.  

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

126



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.2-12 

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

127



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-1 

RD 730 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1902, Reclamation District (RD) 730 provides drainage service by pumping annual rainfall and 
irrigation drainage into the Knights Landing Ridge Cut (“Ridge Cut”), protecting 63 parcels and 4,498 acres 
of land. The District does not currently conduct any levee maintenance. RD 730 is located southeast of the 
unincorporated small community of Knights Landing. The District is bounded by the Sacramento River to 
the north and east, County Road 16 to the south, and County Road 102 generally forms the western 
boundary. The Ridge Cut, a channel that diverts water from the Colusa Bain to the Yolo Bypass during 
flood periods, bisects the district.  

Reclamation District 730 is an independent special district with a three-member board of trustees.  

 

128



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
RD 730 provides interior drainage services and operates/maintains 3 pump stations. There are an 
estimated 45 landowners with a population of 78. There is no significant growth and population anticipated 
in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

129



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-3 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 730 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. Knights 
Landing is a disadvantaged unincorporated community, but it is just outside RD 730 boundaries and the 
District provides drainage services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status1.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

 

1 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

130



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-4 

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
None. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 730’s sole function is to maintain three pump stations which drain the agricultural lands as needed into 
the Knights Landing Ridge Cut. Drainage ditches are all maintained by landowners. One pump station is 
brand new as it was recently relocated, and the motors were rebuilt on the two original pumps recently. The 
landowners maintain the drainage canals.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
None.  

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

131



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-5 

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

 
 
Discussion:  
RD 730’s financial position appears to be stable. However, the District has a very slim margin between 
annual revenues and expenditures. The District’s sources of revenue consist of special assessments (billed 
on tax roll), investment earnings, and other miscellaneous revenue. Over the past 5 years The District 
received only a little over $33,000 annually and on average has expended approximately $35,000 annually. 
The District’s total fund balance as of June 30, 2023, was $194,676 a decrease of $8,503 from 2019. The 

132



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-6 

District’s funding is at a very low level, although its infrastructure maintained is only three pump stations 
with 5 pumps total.  

The District’s primary source of revenue are special assessments which are very reliable since they are 
enrolled on the County tax roll. The special assessment accounts for over 90% of the annual revenue. 
There is the ability to increase the assessment if needed without a new Prop 218. 

The annual revenue only averages $33,000. The District has recently rebuilt all five pumps and has 
accumulated a reserve of $194,676, as of June 30, 2023, to mitigate the financial impacts of unexpected 
repairs. The District has no formal CIP. However, the District engineer has indicated a major repair on a 
pump would cost about $30,000, so the Board has determined that a $200,000 reserve is sufficient. The 
District does not have any debt issues outstanding nor any pension or other postemployment benefits 
liabilities. 

RD 730 does not have any written accounting or financial policies. The District processes all invoices and 
deposits through the County’s financial system. In addition, the District’s special assessments are enrolled 
on the County’s tax bills.  The District does not have any accounting staff, nor hires an outside accountant. 
Therefore, the District relies heavily on the County’s accounting staff to record all transactions in 
accordance to generally accepted accounting principles. RD 730 recently began contracts with Laugenour 
& Meikle for administration in addition to engineering services, and staff needs to perform a review of the 
County ledgers. The Board receives does not receive regular financial updates, only the audited financial 
statements every two years.  

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 730 is financially stable although its revenue has been averaging slightly less than expenditures over 
the last five years. Its revenue is funded by a special assessment and is low because its sole function is to 
operate and maintain three pump stations with five pumps total. The assessment can be increased if 
needed without a Prop 218 election process. The District does not have a CIP but maintains a reasonable 
fund balance. RD 730 recently began contracting with Laugenour & Meikle to administer the District in 
addition to engineering services and could improve its financial review and reporting practices.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· RD 730 should develop procedures for the periodic review of the general ledgers to ensure that all 
transactions posted to the District’s funds have been authorized and are accurate. 

· Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 730 does not maintain levees and its pumping services standalone but are located along the Ridge Cut. 
The District contracts for staffing services from Laugenour and Meikle. There have been conversations 

133



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-7 

about RD 108 operating RD 730 via the KLRDD as it maintains the Ridge Cut levees, but nothing has come 
of it yet. In addition, RD 730 is a member of the Yolo Groundwater Sustainability Agency.   

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 

· RD 730 should explore whether a contract for services with RD 108 would be more effective and 
efficient, or potentially consider annexation into the KLRDD altogether.   

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
RD 730 has recently transitioned to Laugenour and Meikle for staffing services since the recent closing of 
the Gardner, Hanes, Nakken, Hugo & Nolan law offices. The District Engineer indicated there have been 
conversations with RD 108 about operating the District via KLRDD. However, since RD 730 is not an LMA, 
there is not the same urgency. 

All three board member positions are currently filled as appointed by the Board of Supervisors. The Board 
of Trustees meets once per year at the Laugenour and Meikle office. District ditches are maintained by 
landowners. Other than the recent transition of staffing services, there do not appear to be any issues with 
board or staff turnover.  

RD 730 does not have written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and 
emergencies. The District Engineer indicates the landowners inspect their fields during flooding events and 

134



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-8 

simply turn the pumps on when needed. RD 730 has Special Liability Insurance Program (SLIP) insurance 
coverage through Alliant Insurance Services, Inc. The last audit provided is for FYs ending 2020 and 2021, 
and it appears behind on FYs 2022 and 2023 because one was not submitted. RD 730 does not currently 
have a website, which was a previous recommendation in 2018, and it is in violation of state law requiring 
one.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
RD 730’s board member positions are currently filled and meets once per year. RD 730 has recently 
transitioned to Laugenour and Meikle for staffing services. The District Engineer indicated there have been 
conversations with RD 108 about operating the District via KLRDD. However, since RD 730 is not an LMA, 
there is not the same urgency. The district appears behind on its audits and is lacking a website.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· RD 730 should explore whether a contract for services with RD 108 would be more effective and 
efficient, or potentially consider annexation into the KLRDD altogether.   

· RD 730 should immediately have audits completed for FYs ending 2022 and 2023 if not already done.  

· RD 730 should adopt policies for District operations and financial management including such topics 
as: board compensation, travel and expense reimbursements, purchasing and contracting, employee 
policies, safe practices and operating procedures, etc. (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation). 

· RD 730 is legally required to maintain a website. Please see the “website resources” section of the 
website transparency scorecard for website recommendations and scholarship information at 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards (repeat of 2018 
MSR recommendation).  

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
RD 730 has varying broadband access depending on location. Near the Ridge Cut, the CPUC California 
Broadband Availability Map2 indicates the district is served with fixed wireless speeds of 50/30 Mbps by 
AFES (but staff is skeptical). This may technically meet the minimum broadband speeds, but mobile service 
can be inconsistent, and speeds are often over-reported by internet providers.  

Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

2 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

135



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 730   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

2.3-9 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. No changes to the District’s SOI are not needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

136



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass (Conaway) Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.0-1 

Cache Creek-RD 2025-Willow Bypass (Woodland/Conaway Basin) Levee System Overview1  

Summary 
The Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood 
Control Project, a large-scale levee project authorized by congress. The map of the levee system shows 
the leveed area, the area which would be prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. The Cache Creek – 
RD 2035 – Willow Bypass levee system reduces the risk of flooding for a portion of the City of Woodland 
and surrounding agricultural lands from flood waters in Cache Creek, the Cache Creek Settling Basin, Yolo 
Bypass, and Willow Slough Bypass. In addition to the urban population within the leveed area, a significant 
number of structures, with property values estimated in the millions of dollars, are present within the leveed 
area. Highway 113 and Interstate 5 cross through the leveed area. The levees of the Cache Creek – RD 
2035 – Willow Bypass levee system are constructed of earthen embankments and require year-round 
maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible 
agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

The Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass Levee System includes the following Local Maintaining 
Agencies (LMAs): 

· RD 2035 
· Yolo County Public Works (not a part of this MSR) 

Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass System Units and LMAs 

 

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 

137



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass (Conaway) Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.0-2 

Performance and Condition 
The risk associated with the levee system is high for overtopping and moderate for prior to overtopping. 
The overtopping annual exceedance probability for the levee system is relatively frequent and is expected 
to breach during overtopping due to erodible levee embankment materials. The levee is not expected to 
perform well under significant loading; the levee has a history of poor performance when loaded to 98% 
and has breached in the past. The levee breached in 1983 and this breach was suspected to be due to 
rodent activity and structural failure; there continues to be observed large animal burrows in the levee 
segment. There are additional embankment seepage concerns due to levee embankment composition of 
silty and sandy soils with the significant amount of large unwanted vegetation, landside irrigation ditches 
and numerous aged culverts of unknown condition. There is also anticipated poor performance of the levee 
due to embankment stability and embankment erosion. Embankment stability concerns are due to the 
unwanted vegetation and encroachments as well as the geologic conditions and past performance. 
Embankment erosion concerns are due to a lack of sod cover and observed erosion extending into the 
levee prism. These performance concerns are somewhat offset by the high level of community awareness 
and flood warning effectiveness, the inundation depths in the populated areas are shallow (<2’), and limited 
volume of flood inundation due to a levee breach. The deeper flood inundation areas occur in agriculture 
areas with significant advance warning.  

The levee system was constructed in 1960 and averages 10 feet in height. Its flooding sources include 
Cache Creek, Willow Bypass, Willow Slough, and Yolo Bypass. Historic flooding/levee loading data was 
not available.  

Long-Term Regional Projects Identified2 
Woodland Flood Protection Project 
A new setback levee would be constructed to replace the Yolo Bypass West Levee and provide protection 
to the City of Woodland, Interstate 5 (I-5), and other infrastructure west of the Yolo Bypass. The new levee 
would tie into the existing Yolo Bypass West Levee at the location where I-5 crosses the Yolo Bypass. It 
would continue southwest to a point where the urban area of Woodland is no longer threatened. This 
setback levee would become a part of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project (federal project levee), 
replacing the existing Yolo Bypass West Levee. A local measure for this project failed at the June 2024 
election, so timing and implementation is unknown.   

Conaway Ranch Transitory Storage Project 
The project would involve the construction of a new setback levee through Conaway Ranch to replace the 
Yolo Bypass West Levee; the construction of new weirs at the existing Yolo Bypass West Levee for passing 
water into and out of Conaway Ranch; the construction of new levees just north of the Willow Slough Bypass 
to protect Yolo County and City of Davis infrastructure; and the construction of new levees and features 
necessary to protect the Conaway Ranch corporate yard.   

West Side Rail Relocation Project 
The rail relocation project would remove the Sierra Northern Railroad Trestle across the Yolo Bypass which 
limits its capacity.  

 

2 Conaway Levee Setback and Transitory Storage Project, Wood Rodgers Nov 2016 

138



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass (Conaway) Levee System Overview  
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.0-3 

 

139



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-1 

RD 2035 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1919, Reclamation District (RD) 2035 provides levee maintenance for 12.15 miles of levee and 
operates and maintains agricultural water delivery systems and drainage facilities, protecting 20,617 acres 
of land. There are 6 landowners in the district, and Conaway Ranch owns the majority of this land (86%). 
The cities of Davis and Woodland own 430 acres in the Yolo Bypass. The District is bounded by County 
Road 103 to the west, County Road 22 to the north, County Road 124 to the east, and various county roads 
to the south. The District lies adjacent to the eastern boundary of the City of Woodland. A portion of the 
Yolo Bypass is located within the District. I-5 also bisects the northern portion of the District.  

RD 2035 diverts water from the western side of the Sacramento River just north of the Vietnam Veterans 
Bridge on Interstate 5. Water is diverted to serve the cities of Woodland and Davis as part of the Davis 
Woodland Water Supply Project and agricultural users of Conaway Ranch, under appropriative and riparian 
water rights held by Conaway Ranch, and a settlement agreement between the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation 
and Conaway Ranch. Conaway Ranch sold water rights to the cities of Davis and Woodland for the Water 
Supply Project.  

RD 2035 is an independent special district with a three-member board of trustees elected by the landowners 
within the District. 

 

140



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Cache Creek – RD 2035 – Willow Bypass levee system that RD 2035 is included in protects a 
population of approximately 8,975 permanent residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not 
change current DWR flood protection standards and District levee and drainage services. The more 
stringent urban level of flood protection standards is not required until the area is developed with 10,000 
residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 

141



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-3 

10 years1. There is no significant growth and population anticipated in the District that will impact the subject 
agency’s service needs and demands. 

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 2035 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. There are no 
disadvantaged unincorporated communities within RD 2035.The District provides services notwithstanding 
any communities’ economic status2.  

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 
2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

142



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
RD 2035 maintains 12.15 mile so levees, 57 miles of canals and ditches, 1 detention basin, and 8 pump 
stations with 55 individual pumps. The district also provides and sells agricultural water conveyed from the 
Sacramento River and ground water pumping.  

The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

RD 2035 has had Acceptable ratings from DWR consistently for the past 5 years. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability. 

143



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 2035 A A A A A 12.15 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

RD 2035 contains three segments inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, length, 
rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Cache Creek Settling Basin Decommissioned 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass RB 7.63 A 

Unit No. 03 Willow Slough Bypass LB 2.51 A 
 

 
 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

144



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-6 

DWR Summary of LMA Report 
As required by Assembly Bill 156 (Laird, 2007), the California Water Code now requires all Local Levee 
Maintaining to submit to DWR, by September 30 of each year, specific information relative to the Project 
Levees they operate and maintain. In turn, DWR is then required to summarize this information in an annual 
report to the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (CVFPB) by December 31 each year. The Agency 
reported deficient freeboard along Levee Unit 2, erosion along Levee Unit 2 at LM 2.80, LM 2.91, and LM 
3.73, and encroachment issues that will be addressed as part of the System-Wide Improvement Framework 
(SWIF) process. The Agency reported deficient freeboard at various locations along Levee Unit 2 and that 
eight-remaining erosion/sloughing sites are anticipated to be completed by the end of October 2022. The 
Agency provided a list of expenses and maintenance activities performed on all levee units. Activities 
include crown roadway repair, gate maintenance, levee repairs, minor structure repair/maintenance, mobile 
equipment costs, patrolling, rodent control, sediment removal, siphon repair, slope dragging, and vegetation 
control by burning, mowing, spraying, and other. The reported total maintenance cost for the previous fiscal 
year was $187,500. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and maintenance activities for all 
levee units. Expenses include the cost of erosion repair, mobile equipment costs, rodent control, slope 
dragging, surveying, and engineering, and vegetation control by burning and mowing. The reported total 
cost for the current fiscal year is $85,000, which corresponds to $6,996 per levee mile.  

The Agency reported that it responded to the USACE comments received on the System-Wide 
Improvement Framework (SWIF) and resubmitted the SWIF back to the USACE and the CVFPB on 
09/15/2021. The Agency reported that it plans to address localized erosion along the west levee of the Yolo 
Bypass and address a couple of unauthorized encroachments. The Agency reported that it plans to 
purchase a Caterpillar 430 F2HRC Backhoe Loader to use for levee maintenance work. The Agency 
reported that Conaway Ranch and the Agency tested its soil at several locations to assess if it can be used 
for repairing and/or construction of levees. The Agency reported that the levee crown road repair project is 
now complete, and the levee patrol roads are now all-weather roads and will be used to patrol the levees 
during high-water events. The Agency reported that USACE plans to repair the remaining landside slip in 
Unit 2 by October 2022. The Agency reported that a request for funding under the DWR's Flood 
Maintenance Assistance Program has been approved for $86,500 for Calendar Year 2023 and a funding 
agreement will be executed soon. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 2035 was inspected on April 4, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has O&M Manuals at its office, flood fighting materials on hand, and the crew is current with flood 
fight training.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 3 0 3  

Unit No. 02 17 1 18 Unauthorized gate/pipe/culvert through levee (mi 
0.38) 

Unit No. 03 4 0 4  

Total % 24 (96%) 1 (4%) 25  

 

The one unresolved item is noted as critical, although RD 2035 has resolved most of the inspection items 
from fall 2023.  

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

145



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-7 

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 2035 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it 
is eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 035 has had Acceptable ratings from DWR consistently for the past 5 years. The flood protection project 
will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability. There are some erosion/bank caving 
and vegetation issues worsening in 2023, but RD 2035 still maintains the highest rating from DWR. The 
reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $85,000, which corresponds to $6,996 per levee mile. The 
2024 Spring inspection report indicates 96% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been 
corrected  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 2035 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 
correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

146



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-8 

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 
Discussion:  
The 5-year trend on the next page indicates RD 2035 appears to be in a stable financial position. The 
District’s fund balance increased by $701,820 from a $151,5993 as of July 1, 2018 to $701,820 as of June 
30, 2023. The District’s revenues consist of water delivery charges, power reimbursements, special 
assessments (billed by District), interest, intergovernmental revenue and other miscellaneous other 
revenue. This District’s revenue and expenditures have not significantly fluctuated over the past 5 years. 
On average it received over 86% of its revenue from irrigation deliveries, power reimbursements for 
WDCWA and special assessments. These sources of revenue are very reliable. Operating revenues have 
increased on average 5% per year, while total revenues and total expenditures were flat. 

The District received an overall rating of A as part of the Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 levee 
inspection which is a good indication that existing revenues are sufficient to fund an adequate level of 
service. 

The District does not have a capital improvement plan but has a portion of its fund balance set aside for 
capital expenditures. The only debt the District has is for a capital lease entered into in 2021 for a backhoe. 
After fiscal year 2023 annual debt service is $28,271 through 2025 and $9,574 in 2026 when it will be paid 
off. 

The District has in-house staff who processes all accounting transactions and budget review. The budget 
review is conducted quarterly with the Water Master and is shared with the Board. The District does have 
a policy handbook that addresses the following accounting/financial topics: budget, procurement, capital 
assets, investment of funds, cash receipts and accounts receivable. All funds are held by the County of 
Yolo Treasury. 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 2035 is financially stable and has the financial ability to provide its services. The District is unique as 
compared to other RDs in the County as it has water rights and sells water, both for ag irrigation use and 
water to the Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency. RD 2035 staff have strong financial policies, 
procedures, and provides timely financial information to its Board. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

 

147



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-9 

 
 

148



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-10 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
The agencies in this levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 2035 
also shares services with the Conaway Preservation Group (the largest landowner), which employs the 
General Manager position and contracts out legal, engineering, and maintenance services from the same 
firms used by other RDs. RD 2035 participates as a member of the Yolo Subbasin Groundwater Agency, 
Integrated Regional Water Management Plan (IRWMP), and the Westside Committee for the Regional 
Flood Management Plan. Therefore, there are no additional opportunities for shared services not already 
utilized.  

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

149



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-11 

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

RD 2035 is currently functioning well and has ample resources. It is already the sole LMA maintaining 
segments of the levee system, therefore no governance changes are needed/recommended.   

All three board member positions are currently filled by landowner representatives as elected. The Board 
of Trustees meets quarterly at the Conaway Ranch office.  

RD 2035 employs a fill time Water Master and a part time Accounting Manager. It shares services with the 
Conaway Preservation Group (the largest landowner), which employs the General Manager position. It also 
contracts with Kronick Moskovitz Tiedemann & Gerard for legal counsel and Wood Rodgers for engineering 
services. The District contracts out for levee and ditch maintenance, legal services, and engineering 
services. Although the long-serving General Manager passed away tragically and unexpectedly in October 
2023, there do not appear to be any chronic issues with board or staff turnover. 

The district has insurance coverage through InterWest Insurance Services (i.e., a broker). The district has 
written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. RD 2035 conducts 
annual audits, but they are not posted on its website. RD 2035 maintains a website, which is an 
achievement since the 2018 MSR, however it only received a 20% transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
RD 2035 is currently functioning well and has ample resources. It is already the sole LMA maintaining 
segments of the levee system, therefore no governance changes are needed/recommended. There do not 
appear to be any issues with board or staff turnover. RD 2035 conducts annual audits, but they are not 
posted on its website. RD 2035 maintains a website, which is an achievement since the 2018 MSR, however 
it only received a 20% transparency score in 2023. 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

150



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 2035    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

3.1-12 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· RD 2035 should improve its 20% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates RD 2035 is only served via mobile service from 
T-Mobile at 43/10 Mbps or AT&T Mobility at 38/5 Mbps. These technically meet the minimum of 25/3 Mbps 
for broadband speeds, but mobile service can be inconsistent.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. No governance or boundary changes are 
recommended by the MSR, therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are not needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

151



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.0-1 

Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn Basin) Levee System Overview1  
Sac Yolo North is a roughly 32-mile-long levee system that runs along the right bank of the Sacramento 
River and left bank of Yolo Bypass between the Sacramento Bypass and Fremont Weir, in Yolo County, 
California, northwest of the city of Sacramento, and the intersection of interstates 80 and 5. The levee 
surrounds mostly agricultural lands, with some residential use. The levee, made of compacted soils, was 
originally constructed by locals in the 1800s, though the exact construction history is unknown to the 
USACE. In the early 1900’s, reconstruction of the levee by the USACE occurred under the Sacramento 
River Flood Control Project. Throughout the 1900’s, the levee was improved after flood events, including 
placement of rock on the waterside slope to lower the likelihood of erosion, or washing away of the levee 
soils, and enlarging segments of the levee and flattening the slopes in the 1960s. The Sponsor for this 
system is the Central Valley Flood Protection Board. 

The Sac Yolo North Levee System includes the following Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs): 

· RD 537 (which annexed RD 785 and RD 827 effective July 1, 2020) 
· RD 1600 

Sac Yolo North System Units and LMAs 

 

Performance and Condition 
This levee is considered a low-risk system. The Oroville Dam regulates flows into the Sacramento River 
upstream of the levee and lowers the expected damages to the levee during a storm. Flood waters have 
risen more than 70 percent of the way up the levee at some locations in this system. The levee has shown 
signs of seepage, or water leaking through the levee soils, unstable slopes, and erosion. Unauthorized 
encroachments, animal burrows, and vegetation on the levee all increase the likelihood for seepage to 
occur in the future. If the levee were to fail, flood waters are expected to be between 6 and 15 feet for most 
of the leveed area, with deepest flooding to depths greater than 15 feet occurring at the south end of the 
leveed are, near the Sacramento Bypass. Yolo County has an Emergency Operations Plan for the system 

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 

152



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.0-2 

with guidance for how to respond in a flood emergency. The population living inside the leveed area is 
sparse and there should not be traffic during an evacuation. 

The levee system was constructed in 1952 and averages 20 feet in height. Its flooding sources include the 
Sacramento Bypass, Sacramento River, Yolo Bypass, Sacramento River. The following graphic shows 
historic flooding occurrences.  

 

Regional Projects Underway2 
Fremont Weir Enhanced Floodplain and Primary Fish Passage Structure 
The Fremont Weir project enlarges the existing fish ladder, making it deeper and wider to allow additional 
Sacramento River water to flow through the structure and improve the connection to the Sacramento River. 
This improved connection will give fish more time to reach the northern Yolo Bypass after the Fremont Weir 
has overtopped. It also will make it easier for fish to locate the much larger fish passage structure and exit 
the Yolo Bypass to return to the Sacramento River. 

Lower Elkhorn Basin Levee Setback Project 
The Lower Elkhorn Basin Levee Setback (LEBLS) Project is the first phase of implementation of 
recommendations from the 2012 Central Valley Flood Protection Plan (CVFPP) and associated studies 
carried out by the Department of Water Resources. The project will contribute to the CVFPP goals of 
providing improved public safety for approximately 780,000 people by: 

· Reducing river levels (stages) in the Sacramento River 
· Increasing the capacity of the Yolo and Sacramento Bypasses near the urban communities of 

Sacramento and West Sacramento, as well as rural communities, Woodland, and Clarksburg 

The improvements will also provide: 

· System resiliency 
· Opportunities to improve ecosystem functions, such as: 
· Increasing inundated floodplain habitat for fish rearing 
· Improving the connection to the Sacramento Bypass Wildlife Area 

The project consists of approximately 7 miles of setback levees in the Lower Elkhorn Basin along the east 
side of the Yolo Bypass, and the north side of the Sacramento Bypass. The project is: 

· Removing all or portions of the existing levees that will be set back 
· Removing portions of local reclamation district cross levees 
· Improving or relocating related infrastructure 

DWR continues to coordinate closely with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), the Central Valley 
Flood Protection Board (CVFPB), U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), and California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) to manage the permits needed for this project. DWR is also coordinating with 
local reclamation district and agencies and utility companies on specific infrastructure relocation and 
improvements. Some of the infrastructure work will be carried out by other agencies. 

 

2 Conaway Levee Setback and Transitory Storage Project, Wood Rodgers Nov 2016 

153



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.0-3 

The project started construction during the summer of 2020 during the COVID pandemic.  Project staff 
continue to maintain safe working practices and are achieving major construction milestones.  Construction 
is anticipated to continue for multiple years. Once the DWR-led project is completed and monitored for 
several years, ongoing operations and maintenance will be turned over to RD 537. 

Long-Term Regional Projects Identified3 
Upper Elkhorn Levee Setback – This project would widen the Yolo Bypass levee, moving it into RD 1600 
impacting ½ to 2/3 of the RD territory.   

Fremont Weir Extension - The weir would need to be extended accordingly to accommodate this 
additional width of the Yolo Bypass.  

Tule Canal Restoration – This project would modify the existing Tule Canal to function as an enhanced 
permanent and seasonal riparian wetland feature, while retaining drainage and water supply functions. The 
Project will benefit fall-run, spring-run, and winter-run Chinook salmon as well as Steelhead trout by 
improving in-channel and floodplain rearing opportunities along the Tule Canal corridor. The Project will 
also benefit aquatic, terrestrial, and amphibian species, including threatened and endangered species. 

 

 

3 Conaway Levee Setback and Transitory Storage Project, Wood Rodgers Nov 2016 

154



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-1 

RD 1600 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1914, Reclamation District 1600 provides drainage and levee maintenance for 14.7 miles of 
levee, protecting 6,647 acres of land. RD 1600 lies between the Sacramento River to the east, the Yolo 
Bypass to the west, the Sacramento River to the east, and RD 537 to the south. There are currently 17 
landowners in the district.  

Reclamation District 1600 is an independent special district with a three-member board of trustees. The 
District has no full-time staff or equipment. Maintenance actions are accomplished by contracts arranged 
by the Board of Directors. RD 1600 has one pump station (with two operational pumps) for the purpose of 
draining the District during the winter/spring resulting from seepage due to water in the Yolo Bypass and 
Tule Canal, and during the summer/fall from agricultural operations within the District. The pump station 
requires occasional maintenance and power for operation. RD 1600 does not provide ag water for irrigation.  

 

155



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Sac Yolo North levee system that RD 1600 is included in has a population of approximately 102 
permanent residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection 
standards and District levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection 
standards is not required until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area 
that is planned to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth 
and population anticipated in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

156



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-3 

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 1600 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status 2 . There are no disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities within RD 1600. 

Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

157



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The flood protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the flood protection project 
that needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed 
with a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Ratings for RD 1600 improved in 2020 but declined last year in 2023.  

158



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 1600 U M* M* M* U 14.69 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

RD 1600 contains two segments inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, length, 
rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 10.46 U 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass LB 4.23 U 

 

 
 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

159



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-6 

The DWR summary of the fall 2023 inspection reported that there is levee erosion and a large crack on 
landside hinge. Cracking and slumping in the lower slope between levee miles 1.64-1.66 was cracking on 
the hinge, but has since filled in and is now just noted for monitoring on Unit No. 2. The Agency provided a 
list of expenses and maintenance activities performed on all levee units. Activities include levee repairs, 
office overhead, patrolling, rodent control, and surveying and engineering. The reported total maintenance 
cost for the previous fiscal year was $125,750. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and 
maintenance activities for all levee units. Expenses include the cost of office overhead, patrolling, rodent 
control, surveying and engineering, and vegetation control by mowing, spraying and other methods. The 
reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $206,000 which corresponds to $14,023 per levee mile. 

RD 1600 reports that several of these erosion/bank caving sites, erosion/vehicle traffic and animal control 
sites have been repaired in early 2024. A large erosion site on the Yolo Bypass is scheduled to be repaired 
summer 2024 by the United States Army Corps of Engineers. Vegetation maintenance practices have 
already increased in 2024 as well. 

The District also received a grant for approximately $366,000 from the Flood System Repair Program 
(FSRP) for roadway repairs, which were completed in 2024.  The funds are paid on a reimbursement basis 
following recording of the Notice of Completion. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 1600 was inspected on April 3 and May 7, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an 
overall rating. The LMA has copies of the O&M Manuals available, a stockpile of flood response material, 
a written flood response plan, and flood fight training.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 61 1 62 Rodent control (mi. 5.78) 

Unit No. 02 7 0 7  

Total % 68 (99%) 1 (1%) 69  

 

A significant number of items have been corrected by RD 1600. All but one item has been resolved, and 
the remaining item is not critical (merely rodent control).  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 1600 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it 
is eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 1600 has received minimally acceptable ratings from DWR for its levees in 2020, 2021, and 2022, but 
in 2023 received an unacceptable rating due to significant need for vegetative removal/thinning and the 
presence of two erosion sites from 2023 storm damage. Vegetation control in 2024 has already increased. 
Additionally, the Sacramento River landside erosion sites that were due to storm damages were repaired 
in 2024. The erosion site that was due to storm damage is scheduled for repair by USACE in summer 2024. 
The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $206,000 which corresponds to $14,023 per levee mile. 
The 2024 Spring inspection report indicates 99% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been 
corrected or resolved.  

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

160



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-7 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 
RD 1600 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 
correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

161



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-8 

 
Discussion:  
RD 1600’s sources of revenue consist of special assessments (billed by district), investment earnings, 
intergovernmental revenue and other miscellaneous revenue. The district incurred a deficit fund balance of 
$34,738 in 2020. At the end of 2023 the district had a fund balance of $1,133,147. The fluctuation in fund 
balance was attributable to delay in FEMA funding for reimbursement of damages due to the 2017 storms, 
an increase in annual assessments resulting from a Proposition 218 election described below, and 
significant grants from the CA Department of Water Resources. 

The District’s primary revenues are special assessments and intergovernmental grants. Over the past 5 
years special assessments made up between 15% – 60% of annual revenue while intergovernmental 
revenue made up 38% - 84%. However, intergovernmental revenues are not guaranteed. They must be 
applied for and often are restricted to specific projects and not for ongoing operations and maintenance. In 
addition, the cost of flood repairs each year is highly variable. While the District has historically received 
both state and federal reimbursements for emergency repairs, it is not unusual for many months (or even 
years) to pass between the initial expenditure by the District and the final receipt of funds by the state or 
federal agency.  

RD 1600 experienced low and deficit fund balances in fiscal years 2020 and 2021 due to the inability to pay 
cash for flood damages as the work was progressing. The district had to incur debt to remain solvent during 
this time. Currently the District has a fund balance of $1,133,147.  

162



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-9 

The District does not have a capital improvement plan, nor has it quantified other risks to quantify an 
adequate reserve amount. The District does not have any debt nor any pension or other postemployment 
benefits liabilities. The Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway has the potential to substantially 
change flood conditions and facilities within the District’s purview. These variables make it difficult for the 
District to commit to detailed capital improvement plans for facilities until these improvements are 
determined and designed.   

Although RD 1600 does not have any written accounting and/or financial policies, it contracts with an 
independent CPA to maintain the financial records of the District. In addition, the District contracts with a 
different independent CPA to perform audits every two years. The audited financial statements are 
presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and as such presents all relevant 
balances of the District. The CPA’s tasks include the review of financial transactions posted to the County 
maintained fund and combines these transactions to those processed through the other accounts 
maintained outside the County Treasury to create reports submitted to the trustees at their quarterly 
meetings.  

At each meeting the board receives a financial report which is prepared and presented by the CPA. The 
report includes a summary of significant transactions, cash balances, partial general ledger, listing of 
receivables, listing of unpaid bills, balance sheet and profit and loss statement with budget-actual data. 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 1600 is generally stable, however, it experienced low and deficit fund balances in fiscal years 2020 and 
2021 because there were not sufficient funds to pay for flood repairs. In response, the District established 
a new Levee and Drainage Facilities Improvement Assessment in 2021, replacing the prior assessment 
methodology. The new formula increased overall revenue and provided for an annual, optional cost-of-
living adjustment, capped at 4%. Since February 2021, the District has used the formula described in the 
Engineer’s Report and has annually approved an increase in the assessment based on the applicable CPI. 
For fiscal year 2023-2024, the annual increase was 4%; for fiscal year 2024-2025, the annual increase will 
be 2.6% which reflects the CPI for the previous year. Despite these financial improvements, it’s 
unreasonable to except RD 1600 to fund maintenance of its portion of Regional Flood Management 
Facilities, yet the District must plan for these potential additional maintenance costs accordingly. The District 
contracts with a CPA to manage financial records and it performs audits regularly. The Board receives 
regular financial reports.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· RD 1600 should continue to increase its fund balance and create a policy for, and establish, an 
emergency reserve. Once the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study determines improvements and they 
are designed, a more detailed Capital Improvement Plan should be considered. 
 

· The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to ensure 
financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  

163



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-10 

None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 1600 is hydrologically connected to RD 537 in the Sac Yolo North Levee System. The agencies in this 
levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 1600 participates as a 
member of the California Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA). RD 1600 is currently 
contracting for its staffing services with the same legal (Downey Brand) and engineering firm (MBK 
Engineers) used by many of the RDs in Yolo County. The trustees work closely with their legal counsel and 
engineers to operate and maintain the District in accordance with applicable law and standards for 
reclamation districts in the area. 

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
There are long-term recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational 
efficiencies for the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) Basin. The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and 
Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action 
step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder outreach and coordination to develop organizational 

164



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-11 

structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training requirements and synchronization to consolidate 
Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, and emergency response activities”. DWR 
funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study (2014) in collaboration with all the local district 
stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs 
would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) System it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 1600 into a single 
entity due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive 
Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 
1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity 
successor agency.  

RD 1600 conducts through biennial audits performed by Perry Bunch Johnston Inc. and posts them on the 
District’s website. Perry Bunch Johnston Inc. is currently completing the audit for FY 2022-2021. The district 
has insurance coverage through Gladfelter insurance (a broker). 

All three board member positions are currently filled by landowner representatives as appointed by the 
Board of Supervisors. The Board of Trustees meets quarterly at the Bypass Farms office. RD 1600 does 
not have any employees and contracts with Downey Brand LLP for legal counsel and MBK Engineers for 
engineering services. There do not appear to be any issues with board or staff turnover.  Minutes from each 
meeting are posted on the District’s website following approval by the Board of Trustees. 

The District is working on written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and 
emergencies. RD 1600 maintains a website, which is an achievement since the 2018 MSR, however it 
received a 47% transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
There are long-term recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational 
efficiencies for the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) Basin. However, it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 
1600 into a single entity due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass 
Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass east levee that may 
significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to 
identify a single entity successor agency. RD 1600 is accountable and operationally efficient but should 
improve its website transparency.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 
entity. However, it is premature to combine them in 2024 due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional 
Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the 
Yolo Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be 
reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity successor agency.  

· RD 1600 should improve its 47% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

165



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 1600    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.1-12 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates RD 1600 is partially served with fixed wireless 
speeds of 50/30 Mbps by AFES (but staff is skeptical). The northern portion of the district has only mobile 
service up to 43/10 Mbps by T-Mobile or 38/5 Mbps from AT&T. These speeds may meet the minimum 
broadband speeds, but mobile service is expensive and inconsistent.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that RD 537 and RD 1600 
eventually evolve into a single entity, however, there are no specific recommended changes to the District 
boundaries in this MSR/SOI cycle. Therefore, no changes to the District’s SOI are currently needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

166



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-1 

RD 537 AGENCY PROFILE 
As originally formed in 1891, Reclamation District (RD) 537 provided levee maintenance for 6 miles of 
levee. Effective July 1, 2020, RD 537 annexed RD 785 and RD 827 into its district and detached from West 
Sacramento, so it now maintains 13.41 miles of levee, 16 miles of canals/ditches, and one new pump station 
with 5 pumps constructed as part of the bypass setback levee project that drains the agricultural area north 
of the Sacramento Bypass. 

RD 537 is an independent special district which expanded to a five-member Board of Trustees with 
annexation of the additional territory elected by the estimated 51 landowners within the District. RD 537 
remains a member of WSAFCA.  

 

167



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  
The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  
 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 

recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Sac Yolo North levee system that RD 537 is included in has a population of approximately 102 
permanent residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection 
standards and District levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection 
standards is not required until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area 
that is planned to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth 
and population anticipated in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

168



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-3 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 537 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status 2 . There are no disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities within RD 537. 

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

169



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-4 

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Acceptable and Minimally Acceptable ratings were found during the first three years, But ratings went down 
in 2022 and 2023. The Yolo Bypass Setback Levee Project is under construction, and therefore, some 
areas within the LMA are under construction and as such, the contractor has operation and maintenance 
obligations in those areas during project construction and completion. 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 537 M* M* M* U U 5.93 
RD 785 M M* M* M* M* 5.57 
RD 827 M A A A U 4.12 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

The Fall 2023 DWR inspection reports are not aligned to RD 537 and RD 900 as reorganized effective July 
2020 and still report per the previous boundaries. RD 537 contains two-unit segments inspected by DWR 
that comprise the overall rating, however, a portion of Unit 1 and all of Unit 2 has been taken over by RD 

170



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-5 

900. In addition, RD 537 is also responsible for the units in the previous RD 785 and RD 827 territory. Each 
unit, length, rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD 537 Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating (Fall 2023) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 4.74 U 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass RB Maintained by RD 900 

 

 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

171



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-6 

RD 785 Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating Fall 2023 (Annexed and Maintained by RD 537) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 2.26 M* 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass LB 3.31 A 

 

 

172



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-7 

RD 827 Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating Fall 2023 (Annexed and Maintained by RD 537) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 1.34 M 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass LB 2.78 U 

 

 

173



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-8 

The DWR summary of the fall 2023 inspection report indicated RD 537 provided DWR a list of expenses 
and maintenance activities performed on all levee units. Activities include levee repairs, office overhead, 
surveying and engineering, and vegetation control by spraying. The reported total maintenance cost for the 
previous fiscal year was $184,000. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and maintenance 
activities for all levee units. Expenses include the cost of levee repairs, minor structure repairs, rodent 
control, surveying and engineering, and vegetation control by mowing, spraying, trimming and tree removal. 
The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $352,000 which corresponds to $26,249 per levee mile4. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)5 
The DWR Spring 2024 inspections report that many of these repairs noted in fall 2023 have been 
completed. RD 537 was inspected on April 25, 2024, updating all the levee segments into the five units 
below from the previous RD 785 and RD 827 to match the boundaries as reorganized in 2020.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 15 4 19 Tree stump (mi 0.42), animal control (mi 2.10), 
erosion/rills (mi 2.32, 2.81)  

Unit No. 02 21 1 22 Tree stump (mi 1.68)  

Unit No. 03 8 2 10 Animal control (mi 0.28), thin/trim trees (mi 1.03) 

Unit No. 04 0 1 1 Vegetation (0.03-0.23) 

Unit No. 05 0 0 0  

Total % 44 (85%) 8 (15%) 52  

 

The LMA has updated O&M Manuals, adequate flood fighting materials, and the crew is current with flood 
fight training. There were no critical issues noted. The erosion/rills sites need to be scheduled for repair 
prior to the fall inspection.  

DWR spring inspection reports do not typically provide an overall rating, however DWR did for RD 537 due 
to all the levee unit reassignments correlating to the 2020 reorganization boundaries. And because of the 
unique circumstances of RD 537 inspections being broken up into multiple outdated LMAs and the Yolo 
Bypass Setback Project, DWR staff agreed to prepare an updated Spring 2024 overall rating for the 
consolidated RD 537 below.  

This table combines 785 and 827 into RD 537 and removed RD 900’s sections from the reports. Since 
DWR inspectors do not have new line work to reflect the new set back levee, Units 4 and 5 are still included, 
even though they are in the process of being degraded but have been removed all the maintenance issues. 

 

4 Edited DWR’s calculation to reflect 13.41 levee miles with reorganization, not previous 5.93 levee miles. 
5 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

174



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-9 

Spring 2024 DWR Inspection Overall Rating 

 
USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 537 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
The Spring 2024 DWR inspection report indicates RD 537 has addressed many of the previous issues and 
has achieved a “minimally acceptable” overall rating (the rating would be “acceptable” if there were not 0.13 
miles of “unacceptable” miles out of 13.41 miles total). Some areas within RD 537 are under construction 
with the Yolo Bypass Setback Project and as such, the contractor has operation and maintenance 
obligations in those areas. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $352,000 which corresponds 
to $26,249 per levee mile. The 2024 Spring inspection report indicates 85% of the items noted in the Fall 
2023 inspection have been corrected. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 537 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations and 
correct issues itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
o The LMA should enhance its rodent control program.  
o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites.  

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

175



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-10 

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

176



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-11 

 
Discussion:  
The District’s sources of revenue consist of special assessments (billed on tax roll), investment earnings, 
intergovernmental revenue, charges for services and other miscellaneous revenue. The area that was RD 
827 also collected property tax revenue, although the district is not reporting this income separately. The 
5-year trend at this point reflects the significant changes has undergone, both with the reorganization 
effective July 2020 and the levee setback project. In fiscal year 2021 there was a negative adjustment to 
fund balance that went to RD 900 due to the reorganization, and as a consequence the District’s total fund 
balance reduced considerably. 

The charges for services line item includes revenue from a Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency 
(SAFCA) JPA maintenance contract. SAFCA is contributing funding to support levee O&M because the 
Yolo Bypass Setback Levee project helps Sacramento by increasing the capacity of the “release valve” off 
the Sacramento River. This funding is intended to be ongoing and will be guaranteed by a forthcoming 
contract (term unknown). 

Over the past 2 years, after passage of a proposition 218 increase, special assessments accounted for 
approximately 30% of annual revenue, intergovernmental 23% and charges for services 47%. The risk is 
that intergovernmental revenues are not guaranteed. These funds must be applied for, often are restricted 
to specific projects and not for ongoing operations and maintenance and are subject to policy changes by 
the grantor agency.  And the charges for services revenue is dependent on a contract with the Sacramento 
Area Flood Control Agency. 

177



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-12 

The general manager indicates RD 537 is in the process of creating a capital improvement plan (CIP) to 
quantify the possible significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure, and consequently 
what the fund balance targets should be.  

The District does not have any written accounting and/or financial policies. However, the District contracts 
with an independent CPA to maintain the financial records of the District. In addition, the District contracts 
with a different independent CPA to perform audits every two years. The audited financial statements are 
presented in accordance to generally accepted accounting principles and as such presents all relevant 
balances of the district. The District does not have any debt issues outstanding nor any pension or other 
postemployment benefits liabilities. 

The District has contracted with an independent CPA, different than that of the auditor, to maintain the 
financial records of the District. The CPA’s tasks include the review of financial transactions posted to the 
County maintained fund and combines these transactions to those processed through the other accounts 
maintained outside the County Treasury to create reports submitted to the trustees. However, the District 
is lacking financial policies.  

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 537 has been through significant financial volatility in the past five years due to reorganization annexing 
RD 785 and RD 827, and detaching assessed industrial area in West Sacramento. In 2020, RD 537 
instituted a new Prop 218 assessment for the updated district boundaries. In FY 2021, over $900,000 of 
fund balance transferred to RD 900 because assessment funds need to remain in the area they were 
collected. In addition, DWR has been constructing the levee setback project which included a new pump 
station. The District appears to be riding out these changes and should maintain its focus on creating 
financial stability.   

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should 
be (and fund accordingly). 

· The District should develop written accounting and financial policies and procedures in order to 
ensure financial transactions are recording consistently and in accordance to generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 537 was reorganized effective July 2020 annexing the territory of RD 785 and RD 827 into it. The District 
is hydrologically connected to RD 1600 in the SacYolo North Levee System, which already operate under 
a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 537 is a member of the West Sacramento Area Flood Control 

178



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-13 

Agency JPA. RD 537 is currently contracting for its staffing services with the same legal and engineering 
firms used by many of the RDs in Yolo County. 

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational efficiencies for the 
SacYolo North (Elkhorn) Basin.  

The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

179



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-14 

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) System it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 1600 into a single 
entity due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive 
Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 
1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single entity 
successor agency.  

When RD 537 annexed RDs 785 and 827, it expanded its board from three to five members. The Board 
meets every other month in-person and offers virtual option for the public. Meeting information and agendas 
are posted on the website. All board member positions are filled with experienced landowners, and it 
appears to be stable. RD 537 employs one half time general manager and contracts with Downey Brand 
LLP for legal counsel and MBK Engineers for engineering services. The District has experienced general 
manager turnover outside of its control, and the new part-time manager has been in place for approximately 
one year.  

The RD secures independent audits on a regular basis and is insured by Inszone Insurance Services. The 
district has written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies, and 
reports it has adopted financial and administrative policies. RD 537 maintains a website that received a 
24% transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
There are long-term recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational 
efficiencies for the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) Basin. However, it is premature to combine RD 537 and RD 
1600 into a single entity due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning Process and the Yolo Bypass 
Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo Bypass east levee that may 
significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated in the next MSR/SOI cycle to 
identify a single entity successor agency. RD 537 has been responsive to LAFCo during this MSR process 
and has had issues with general manager turnover. The District is accountable and operationally efficient 
but could improve its website transparency.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· For the SacYolo North (Elkhorn) System, RD 537 and RD 1600 should eventually combine as a single 
entity. However, it is premature to combine them due to the Upper Yolo Bypass Regional Planning 
Process and the Yolo Bypass Comprehensive Study underway to develop alternatives for the Yolo 
Bypass east levee that may significantly alter the RD 1600 territory. This issue should be reevaluated 
in the next MSR/SOI cycle to identify a single LMA successor agency.  

· RD 537 should improve its 24% website transparency score https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

180



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 537    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

4.2-15 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates RD 537 is partially served with fixed wireless 
speeds of 100/20 Mbps by Succeed.net (but staff is skeptical). Most of the inhabited portion of the district 
has only mobile service up to 43/10 Mbps by T-Mobile or 38/5 Mbps from AT&T. These speeds may meet 
the minimum broadband speeds, but mobile service is expensive and inconsistent.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that RD 537 and RD 1600 
eventually evolve into a single entity, however, there are no specific recommended changes to the District 
boundaries in this MSR/SOI cycle. Therefore, no changes to the District’s SOI are currently needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

181



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.0-1 

West Sacramento Levee System Overview1  
The West Sacramento levee system is a 46.98-mile portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, 
a large-scale levee project. The West Sacramento levee system is comprised of levees authorized by 
congress and a non-federal levee, levee which was locally constructed and is locally operated and 
maintained. The West Sacramento levee system reduces the risk of flooding for a northern portion of the 
City of West Sacramento and adjacent agricultural lands from flood waters in the Sacramento River, Deep 
Water Ship Channel, and the Yolo Bypass. In addition to the urban population of 49,927 within the leveed 
area, a significant number of structures, with property values estimated around $4 billion dollars, are present 
within the leveed area. Highway 50 and Interstate 80 cross through the leveed area. The West Sacramento 
levee system is constructed of a combination of earthen embankments, floodwalls, and four closure 
structures and which they all require year-round maintenance. The closure structures are closable openings 
in the levee, which when closed prevent flood flows from entering the leveed area. The Central Valley Flood 
Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor of the congressionally authorized portion and RD 900 sponsors 
the non-federal portion and both are the responsible agencies for operation and maintenance of the levee 
system. 

The West Sacramento Levee System includes the following Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs): 

· RD 900 

RD 537 was reorganized in 2019 detaching it from this system basin and it is now the LMA for the Lower 
Elkhorn area.  

West Sacramento System Units and LMAs 

 

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 

182



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.0-2 

The levee system was constructed in 1964 and averages 16 feet in height. Its flooding sources include 
Deep Water Ship Channel, Sacramento Bypass, Sacramento Deep Water Channel, Sacramento River, 
Yolo Bypass. The following graphic shows historic flooding occurrences.  

 

Systemwide Mid and Long-Term Projects Identified 
West Sacramento Rail Relocation 
The Sierra Northern Railway line that runs eastward from Woodland across the Yolo Bypass and through 
the Elkhorn Basin into the City of West Sacramento, and the jointly owned Port of West Sacramento and 
UPRR line that connects the Westgate Yard to the Port of West Sacramento and the surrounding industrial 
districts with two new alignments. the removal/realignment of the rail line also presents significant 
opportunity to advance regional flood control projects through the removal of the Fremont Trestle and a 
portion of the rail embankment directly north of the Sacramento Weir. Removing these features would 
facilitate improvements in the flow of floodwater in the Yolo Bypass and, in the case of the Sacramento 
Weir, would present an alternative to plans for a new Sacramento Trestle to support a planned weir 
extension accompanying a widened bypass 

Deep Water Ship Channel Improvements (DWSC)2 
For the east bank, this effort Extends approx. 17,000ft along the DWSC left bank levee from the end of Port 
South levee south to South Cross levee including 14,600ft of Slurry Wall ranging from 50ft to 130ft in depth, 
with other alternatives possible. For the west bank, this project extends approx. 21.4 miles along the DWSC 
right bank levee from the bend in the DWSC at the intersection of Port North levee and Yolo Bypass levee 
south to Miners Slough, including installation of approximately 25,000ft of Slurry Wall ranging from 50ft to 
85ft in depth and 99,000ft of Erosion/Bank Protection the Yolo Bypass side of the levee. 

 

2 USACE Sacramento District Website, West Sacramento Levee Improvement Project Background May 
2024 

183



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-1 

RD 900 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1911, Reclamation District (RD) 900 is responsible for operating and maintaining 14.77 miles of 
levees, 40 miles of drainage canals and ditches, 6 detention basins, and 11 pump stations containing 40 
pumps within the 13,828 acres of land located in its jurisdiction.  

RD 900 was reorganized effective July 2020 to acquire RD 537’s and DWR Maintenance Area #4’s territory 
in the City of West Sacramento. The reorganization also included RD 900 becoming a subsidiary district to 
the City, so the City Council acts as its Board of Trustees. The District has nine (9) full time employees. 

RD 900 is a member agency in the West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency (WSAFCA) Joint Powers 
Authority (JPA), formed to upgrade levees to meet urban 200-year level of flood protection required by SB 
5 (2007). Once levee improvements are completed in 10-15 years, RD 900 will assume ongoing O&M.  

 

184



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The West Sacramento levee system that RD 900 is included in has a population of approximately 55,860 
permanent residents. The 200-year urban level of flood protection standards are already required as the 
area is developed with 10,000 residents or more1. Therefore, significant growth and population anticipated 
in the District that will not impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

185



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 900 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

186



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Except for 2023, RD 900 has had Acceptable ratings from DWR. Last year the inspection reports noted 
0.02 miles of unacceptable slope stability issues. However, the levee will still function as designed.  

187



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 900 A A A A M* 12.96 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A  
 

The U rated miles in 2023 that resulted in the M* overall rating was caused by the storms in January 2023. 
Sloughing occurred at two locations along the Deep Water Shipping Channel (land side). These two 
locations are scheduled to be repaired during the summer of 2024 by the USACE (under PL84-99).  

In the fall 2023 inspection reports, RD 900 contains two-unit segments inspected by DWR that comprise 
the overall rating. Each unit, length, rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 7.70 A 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass LB 5.26 M* 

 

However, RD 900 has also taken over RD 537 units in the West Sacramento system basin with the 2020 
reorganization, but DWR was still including them on RD 537 fall 2023 inspection reports. RD 900 is the 
LMA responsible for an 0.62-mile portion of RD 0537 Unit 1 (the portion south of the Sacramento Bypass) 
and all of Unit 2. DWR resolves these levee segment reassignments in the spring 2024 inspection reports 
below.  

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 02 Yolo Bypass LB 1.19 A 

 
The DWR summary of the 2023 LMA report for RD 900 noted the Southport levee cracking reported from 
the storm in October 2021 was repaired in Oct/Nov 2022 on Unit No. 1. The Agency reported levee erosion 
from 2023 storms on Unit No. 1 along waterside of the Sacramento River levee in three locations (within 
100 feet of each other). Northern site is approximately. 10-feet wide, middle location is approximately 8-
feet wide, southern site approximately 5-feet wide. The Agency reported for PL84-99 support. The Agency 
also reported levee erosion at Unit No. 2, 100-foot-long landside levee slip along Deep Water Shipping 
Channel. Agency reported that levee is currently tarped and reported for PL84-99 assistance. The Agency 
provided a list of expenses and maintenance activities performed on all levee units. Activities include levee 
repairs, office overhead, patrolling, permitting, and vegetation control by mowing, spraying, and trimming. 
The reported total maintenance cost for the previous fiscal year was $375,000. The Agency provided a list 
of planned expenses and maintenance activities for all levee units. Expenses include the cost of 
encroachment control, levee repairs, office overhead, patrolling, permitting, and vegetation control by 
mowing, spraying, and trimming. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $425,000 which 
corresponds to $32,793 per levee mile. The Agency reported that per LAFCo action as of July 1st, 2020, 
RD 900 is the LMA responsible for RD 0537 Unit 1 (the portion south of the Sacramento Bypass) and Unit 
2. 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

188



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-6 

 

 
Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 900 was inspected on April 25, 2024, and the report includes its updated segment responsibility per the 
2020 reorganization. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. The LMA has updated 
O&M Manuals, adequate flood fighting materials on hand, and the crew attended the November 2023 Flood 
Fighting Methods Training.  

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

189



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-7 

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 4 0 4  

Unit No. 02 4 2* 6 Slope stability* (mi 5.09, 5.24) 

Unit No. 03 1 0 1  

Unit No. 04 5 1 6 Animal control (4.69) 

Total % 14 (82%) 3 (18%) 17  

*    These two locations are scheduled to be repaired during the summer of 2024 by the USACE (under PL84-99). If 
these items are counted as “resolved”, percentage of items resolved would be 94%. 

During the storms in January 2023, sloughing occurred at two locations along the Deep Water Shipping 
Channel. These two locations are scheduled to be repaired during the summer of 2024 by the USACE 
(under PL84-99).  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 900 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.    

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 900 has consistently received acceptable ratings except for last year’s minimally acceptable rating due 
to slope stability issues during the 2023 storms, which have already been inspected by USACE and are 
scheduled for repair this summer under the PL84-99 rehabilitation program. The reported total cost for 
levee maintenance in the current fiscal year is $425,000 which corresponds to $32,793 per levee mile. The 
2024 Spring inspection report indicates 14 of the 17 items noted last time have already been repaired, and 
2 more are already scheduled for USACE repair summer 2024. The only item not corrected were some 
rodent burrows. DWR’s inspection noted RD 900’s high level of maintenance.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 900 should implement the Fall 2023 DWR Inspection Report Recommendations as follows: 
o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 
o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

190



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-8 

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 
Discussion:  
RD 900’s financial position appears stable. The District’s sources of revenue consist of special assessments 
(billed on the tax roll), investment earnings, intergovernmental revenue, charges for services and other 
miscellaneous revenue. The District was reorganized effective July 2020. The revenues and expenditures 
have not fluctuated significantly from 2019 to 2023 and during this time District’s fund balance increased 
by $7.0M and as of June 30, 2023, totaled $12.1M.   

Revenues are mostly reliable. Over the past 5 years special assessments accounted for approximately 
62% of annual revenue, intergovernmental 12% and charges for services 21%. The risk is that 
intergovernmental revenues are not guaranteed.  These funds must be applied for and often are restricted 
to specific projects and not for ongoing operations and maintenance.  And the charges for services revenue 
is dependent on a contract with the West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency. 

The District received an overall rating of minimally acceptable as part of the Department of Water Resources 
Fall 2023 inspection which is a good indication that existing revenues are sufficient to fund an adequate 
level of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance and to accumulate reserves for capital 
asset/infrastructure replacement. RD 900 also has a robust fund balance.  

Over the last several years, the District has created a yearly Capital Improvement Program. The District 
intends to create a 10-year plan. 

RD 900 does not have any debt issues outstanding but has a net OPEB liability of $28,405 as of June 30, 
2023. The District has a formal trust agreement with CalPERS to fund the net OPEB liability and funded 
$220,127 during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Currently the District pays the retiree healthcare out 
of pocket, rather than drawing down from the CERBT trust. The District also has set aside funds in the 
County Treasury in the amount of $148,799, as of June 30, 2023, to pay OPEB benefits. 

191



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-9 

 
 

The District does not have any written accounting and/or financial policies. However, the District contracts 
with an independent CPA to maintain the financial records of the District. The CPA’s tasks includes the 
review of financial transactions posted to the County maintained fund and combines these transactions to 
those processed through other accounts maintained outside the County Treasury to create reports 
submitted to the trustees. The District is working with the City on policies but generally follow accepted 
accounting principles. In addition, the District contracts with a different independent CPA to perform audits 
every year. The district provides the necessary audit information to the City of West Sacramento for their 
reporting needs. The audited financial statements are presented in accordance to generally accepted 
accounting principles and as such presents all relevant balances of the district. 

At each meeting the board receives a financial report which is generated by the contracted certified public 
account.  The reports provided to the trustees include a profit and loss statement and a line-item budget-
to-actual report.   

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 900 is financial stable, and its very healthy fund balance has increased each of the last five years. 
These funds will be incorporated into the district’s capital improvement plan, as the district is “pay-as-you-
go”, not wanting to carry debt if possible. RD 900 provides a pension with CALPERS and has pension and 

192



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-10 

OPEB liability but has a plan to fund it and reserves set aside. The District contracts with a CPA firm to 
maintain the district financial records. Audits are also performed regularly every two years. RD 900 has the 
financial ability to provide its services.    

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 900 was reorganized effective July 2020 as a subsidiary district to the City of West Sacramento. It also 
is a member of the West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency JPA. There are no opportunities for 
shared services that are not already being utilized. 

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

193



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-11 

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
There are no recommended changes to RD 900s governance structure as it was recently reorganized 
effective July 2020. The RD secures independent audits and posts them on its website. The District 
contracts with an independent CPA to conduct bi-annual audits.  The District is also included in the City of 
West Sacramento audited financial statements as a blended component unit. RD 900 is insured by Wesco 
Insurance Company.  

Because RD 900 is a subsidiary of the of the City of West Sacramento, the City Council acts as its Board 
of Trustees. The City has explored potential legislation to allow the City Council to appoint some other 
board members with additional technical or subject matter expertise.  

RD 900 has nine full-time employees and contracts with Day Carter Murphy LLP for legal counsel and 
MHM, Incorporated for engineering services. There do not appear to be any issues with board or staff 
turnover. As a subsidiary district, RD 900 is consistent with City policies for personnel, administrative, and 
financial duties. 

The district has written guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. RD 
900 maintains a website that received a 61% transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
RD 900 was reorganized effective July 2020 to become the lead district LMA for the West Sacramento 
system. The district is accountable, functioning well and operationally efficient. It’s currently working on 
developing financial policies with the City’s assistance. However, its website transparency score is low and 
needs improvement.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. 

· RD 900 should improve its website transparency score of 61% https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-
government-website-transparency-scorecards.  

 

194



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 900    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.1-12 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map5 indicates RD 900 is mostly served via fixed broadband 
provided by Astound Broadband Services (previously Wave Broadband) with speeds up to 1,000/30 Mbps.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. RD 900 was successfully reorganized effective 
July 2020. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

5 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

195



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-1 

AGENCY PROFILE1 
The West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency Joint Powers Authority (WSAFCA) was created in July 
1994, under the provisions of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of the Title 1 of the California Government Code 
(commencing with section 6500) for the purpose of controlling and conserving waters for the protection of 
life and property that would or could be damaged by being inundated by still or flowing water. WSAFCA’s 
Governing Board is comprised of one representative from each member agency. The member agencies 
are the City of West Sacramento, Reclamation District No. 900, and Reclamation District No. 537. WSAFCA 
is working toward achieving 200-year level flood protection for the West Sacramento community by 2040. 

The JPA was initially formed to better coordinate flood system management between the RDs and the City 
including flood fighting, geotechnical work, and other issues. But after Hurricane Katrina, the United States 
Corps of Engineers (USACE) increased the standards for levees. The City passed an assessment to fund 
flood protection and WSAFCA responded by implementing the West Sacramento Levee Improvement 
Program (WSLIP). The JPA became tasked with the improvement of West Sacramento’s levee system to 
bring it up to 200-year flood protection standards.  

WSAFCA is partnering with the California State Department of Water Resources, the Central Valley Flood 
Protection Board, and the Army Corps of Engineers to improve levees around the City of West Sacramento 
to meet 200-year state, exceeding 100-year federal flood protection standards by 2040. WSAFCA uses a 
special assessment on property owners and funding from other local agencies to complete its flood 
protection projects. 

Under this program, the California Department Water of Resources (DWR) and WSAFCA completed three 
Early Implementation Projects (EIP): I Street Bridge (2008), CHP Academy (2011) and Rivers Project 
(2011). During the Southport EIP, the West Sacramento Project was authorized by Congress in the Water 
Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act (2016). The Southport Setback Levee Project became the 
first component of the federally authorized Project. 

For the next increment, WSAFCA and DWR led design efforts for the Yolo Bypass East Levee due to 
insufficient Preconstruction Engineering and Design federal funding. The Project is the first increment to 
receive federal funding under the Project Participation Agreement. Construction of the YBEL-South reach 
was completed in 2023.  The YBEL-North reach began construction in 2024. 

WSAFCA is also lead agency in developing the Regional Flood Management Plan (RFMP), which is a state 
grant funded flood risk reduction planning effort for the Lower Sacramento-Delta North Region of the larger 
Central Valley Flood Protection Plan. WSAFCA is funding grant administration costs, and the state 
reimburses WSAFCA for expenditures under the grant, which are reported as intergovernmental revenues 
in the General Fund. The accounting records of WSAFCA are maintained by the City of West Sacramento.  

WSAFCA has no employees.  Through an agreement of the partner agencies, all staff services are 
performed by City of West Sacramento personnel. Costs incurred by the City of West Sacramento to provide 
such services are reimbursed by WSAFCA. WSAFCA is a separate legal entity and is not a component of 
the above members.  

 

1 WSAFCA Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports for Year Ended 2022 and 2023 

196



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-2 

JPA SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Financial Ability  Status of Previous MSR Recommendations 

L A F C O  J P A  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a JPA Service Review is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g).  

 The subject agency has potentially significant determinations and staff recommends that a 
comprehensive JPA Service Review IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in WSAFCA’s services?    
Discussion:  
None. 

Growth and Population Determination: 
Growth and population projections will not impact WSAFCA’s program to achieve 200-year flood protection 
for its residents. The City of West Sacramento is already designated as an urban area for flood protection 
purposes and fluctuations in population will not change the capital projects required to achieve this 
standard.   

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

197



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-3 

2. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which WSAFCA does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding WSAFCA’s capacity and ability to 
meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to WSAFCA’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is WSAFCA needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
WSAFCA provides services related to the financing, design, construction, and maintenance of West 
Sacramento’s levee system. Services include the capital rehabilitation and improvement of the levee 
facilities, fulfilling legal requirements associated with federal and state programs that relate to the JPA’s 
mission, and activities that relate to and provide for the public’s health and safety regarding flood risk 
reduction. WSAFCA studied the needed projects and determined which might qualify for federal and state 
funding. It submitted for federal funding, and it took 13 years for the Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) to 
commit to the project, fund it and go to construction. WSAFCA focused on completing state funded projects 
in the meantime.   

The federal West Sacramento Project (fWSP) has been authorized as a federal project with its inclusion in 
the 2016 Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act of 2016 (P.L. 144-322, § 1401(2)). WSAFCA 
and the Central Valley Flood Protection Board entered into a Project Participation Agreement with the US 
Department of Army, acting through the USACE on 9/7/2022. The Project Participation Agreement is the 
milestone by which the USACE may construct the improvements identified in the fWSP. WSAFCA and 
DWR are currently preparing to close out remaining project work under the EIP/UFRR programs. 

Currently WSAFCA is focused on an ambitious capital improvement of the levee system as outlined in the 
West Sacramento Levee Improvement Program (WSLIP). Staff develops budget proposals for Board 
consideration based on project priority, developed through the Problem Identification and the Alternatives 
Analysis Reports, and the design, environmental, and construction stage of the project. WSAFCA focuses 
its resources on correcting the highest risk system deficiencies first.  

WSAFCA’s planning and project development are informed and greatly facilitated by state and federal 
funding.  To date, WSAFCA has constructed improvements identified in the Major Initiatives section, below, 
in partnership with the State of California through its Early Implementation and Urban Flood Risk Reduction 
Programs.  

198



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-4 

Major Initiatives2 
The south portion of the Yolo Bypass East Levee Project (YBEL) was completed in 2023 with the north 
portion in construction in 2024. YBEL is the first increment to receive federal funding under the PPA. 

Southport Levee Improvement Project 

The Southport Levee Improvement Project is the largest project undertaken by WSAFCA to date.  Phase I 
constructed Village Parkway, which replaced South River Road (previously located on the levee crown) as 
the primary roadway for the east Southport area. Relocating the roadway from the levee to the new 
alignment disentangled levee maintenance operations and flood fighting from the public right of way and 
emergency evacuation route functions.  Phase II, construction of the levee improvements, was completed 
in 2018. Additional drainage improvements at the project’s west boundary and restoration of the borrow 
sites were completed in 2020. 

Phase III, restoration of the floodplain, consists of habitat improvements and planting of the offset area flood 
plain created by Phase II of the project.  The project is in the establishment phase. A Record of Survey has 
been drafted for the SLIP and once all title work has been completed, the Agency will be able to transfer 
flood protection and flowage rights to the State. 

North Area Project Close Out 

The North Area projects were WSAFCA’s initial levee improvement projects constructed to advance the 
WSLIP. Remaining work consists of transfer of real estate rights for the I Street South Project to the 
Sacramento San Joaquin Drainage District.  Staff anticipates close out in 2024. 

The Federal Project 

The Yolo Bypass East Levee Project (YBEL) is the first increment to receive federal funding under the PPA. 
Construction of the YBEL-South reach was completed in 2023.  The YBEL-North reach is under 
construction in 2024.  

In addition to The YBEL Project, the Agency completed “no regrets” work for the Sacramento River North 
Levee (SRNL) consisting of geotechnical investigations, survey and mapping, and environmental corridor 
reviews.  The SRNL reach is almost 6 miles in length and the USACE has delineated several distinct 
segments along this reach to facilitate several “manageable” construction contracts. The first contract for 
Segment 3 is a design contract.  The 2nd contract for Segments 1 and 2 is expected to initiate design late 
in 2024.  Due to numerous encroachments, bridges, rail lines, etc., construction of these segments is not 
expected to start for several years.  

In cooperation with the USACE, and in part due to the long lead time to construct the SRNL segments, the 
Agency was successful in accelerating the design and construction of the Stone Lock Reach.  Design is 
scheduled to kick off mid-2024, with construction in 2025 or 2026.  

Regional Flood Management Program 

WSAFCA received and administrated two rounds of grant funding for the State Regional Flood 
Management Plan for the Lower Sacramento Delta North Plan Region.  The work informs initiatives found 
in the Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and includes capacity development and potential projects. 
WSAFCA received a third round of funding in 2023 to continue the regional planning effort. 

Capacity and Adequacy Determination: 
WSAFCA’s program goal is to address deficiencies in the West Sacramento levee due to climate adaptation 
and improve flood protection to a 200-year standard per state and federal standards and implements an 
ambitious capital improvement of the levee system as outlined in the West Sacramento Levee Improvement 
Program (WSLIP). To date, WSAFCA has constructed improvements identified in the Major Initiatives 

 

2 Meeting with WSAFCA General Manager Greg Fabun on December 8, 2022 and WSAFCA JPA Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2023 

199



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-5 

section, below, in partnership with the State of California through its Early Implementation and Urban Flood 
Risk Reduction Programs. The federal West Sacramento Project (fWSP) has been authorized as a federal 
project, which is the milestone by which the USACE may construct the improvements identified in the fWSP. 
WSAFCA and DWR are currently preparing to close out remaining project work under the EIP/UFRR 
programs.  

WSAFCA has no employees and all staff services are performed by City of West Sacramento personnel. 
As reaches are completed, WSAFCA transfers operations and maintenance activities to RD 900 for the 
work. There are no capacity issues regarding WSAFCA’s capacity and ability to meet the service demand 
of reasonably foreseeable future needs. These improvements will protect all West Sacramento residents 
regardless of economic status. 

Capacity and Adequacy Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has WSAFCA identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does WSAFCA have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does WSAFCA have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s debt 
at an unmanageable level? Does WSAFCA need a clear debt 
management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does WSAFCA have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide WSAFCA in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does WSAFCA staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If WSAFCA uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does WSAFCA review 

   

200



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-6 

monthly the transactions in the County system to transactions 
WSAFCA submitted to the County for processing?  

h) Does WSAFCA board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of WSAFCA’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

Discussion:  
WSAFCA has created partnerships to leverage local funds with State and federal flood risk reduction 
funding. Most of the cost for the levee improvement projects are funded by cost sharing agreements with 
the partnering agencies. The USACE has taken over construction of the federal project and JPA continues 
to share cost. As reaches are completed, WSAFCA transfers operations and maintenance activities to RD 
900 for the work.  

The City’s assessment is indefinite and well-funded with a maximum 2% annual increase. The General 
Manager indicates WSAFCA may not need to issue bonds to pay for the remaining local share of the project.  

WSAFCA is funding grant administration costs and other levee improvement costs, and the state 
reimburses WSAFCA for expenditures, which are reported as intergovernmental revenues in the General 
Fund. WSAFCAs monies are held by the City of West Sacramento in multiple separate major and non-
major funds as of June 30, 20233: 

Costs incurred by the City of West Sacramento to provide such services are reimbursed by WSAFCA. 
WSAFCA is a separate legal entity and is not a component unit of the above members.  

Major Funds 

· General Fund (870) is used to pay all administrative, operating, and other expenditures incurred, 
and to account for the special benefit assessment and development impact fee revenues. 

· 2015 WSAFCA Bond Debt Service Funds (883) accumulate revenues and payments of bond 
principal and interest of the Assessment Revenue Bonds Series 2015 issued to finance 
construction of authorized capital improvements related to flood protection. 

· JPA Construction Capital Projects Fund (871) is used for revenues and expenditures that are 
restricted, committed or assigned to capital outlays for approved capital improvement projects 
associated with grant funds received from the State of California Department of Water Resources 
for levee improvements. 

Non-Major Funds 

· DWR Flood Protection Grant Special Revenue Fund (257) is used for revenues and non-capital 
expenditures associated with the grant funds received from the State of California Department of 
Water Resources that are set aside prior to reconciliation. 

· 2011 Flood Bond Debt Service Fund (882) was used to account for the accumulation of resources 
and payments of bond principal and interest of the Assessment Revenue Bonds Series 2011 issued 
to finance the construction of certain public capital improvements related to flood projection. Was 
refunded by the 2020 Bond. 

· 2020 WSAFCA Bond Debt Service Fund (884) is used to account for the accumulation of resources 
and payments of bond principal and interest of the Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 
issued to finance the construction of specific public capital improvements related to levee 
improvements and flood control and to refund the remaining portion of the Assessment Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2011. 

Union Bank of California Trust Services serves as WSAFCA’s fiscal agent for the special assessment debt 
that funds capital projects.  

 

3 WSAFCA JPA Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2023 

201



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-7 

The 5-year financial trend for the total of all these funds is shown below4. The JPA adopts by resolution a 
biennial budget by June 30 every other year, with mid-term budget updates approved by the Board if/as 
needed. The budget serves as the foundation for the JPA’s financial planning and control. Its budget is 
organized by fund and activities or appropriation level within each category shown in the trend below. The 
JPA may transfer appropriations and amend the budget as needed and resources allow.  

 
The 5-year trend indicates the WSAFCA (the JPA) is in stable position. The JPA’s revenue consists of 
benefit assessment (billed on County tax roll), intergovernmental revenue, contributions from developers, 
interest earnings and other miscellaneous revenue. Its revenue sources are stable primarily from a special 

 

4 WSAFCA JPA Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports for the years ended 2019-2023 

202



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-8 

assessment in perpetuity and state and federal funding. Over the past five years fund balance has 
increased $18.4M, from $7.0 in 2019 to $25.4 in 2023, of which $7.3M is unassigned. The special 
assessment is in perpetuity and can increase up to 2% each year. The intergovernmental revenues 
represent project cost sharing reimbursements primarily from the State government. The agency is well 
funded to achieve its goal of a 200-year flood projection. 

WSAFCA’s revenue is sufficient to fund its goal of achieving 200-year flood projection. Once the fWSP is 
completed estimated in 2037, WSAFCA will transition to a long-term capital replacement program for the 
levee system and managing debt service until 2041. Project operations and maintenance will be turned 
over to RD 900.  

The agency has two bond issues outstanding: 2015 Assessment revenue bond and 2020 Assessment 
revenue bond. The total principal outstanding as of 6/30/2023 is $37.1M, including bond premium. The 
2015 Series bond will be paid off in 2045 while the 2020 Series will be paid off in 2041. Total annual debt 
service is approximately $2.4M. The bonds are payable solely from annual assessments for capital facilities 
levied on all parcels in the City of West Sacramento. In fiscal year 2023 debt service accounted for 22% of 
expenditures and was 42% of special assessments. The JPA does not have any employees and thus, no 
pension or other postemployment benefits liabilities. 

Staff reviews financial data on a regular basis and reviews transactions in the City’s financial system for 
processing. WSAFCA is audited on an annual basis which is posted on the JPA’s webpage hosted on the 
City’s website. At each monthly board meeting the board receives a report of cash flows and various 
expenditure and revenue reports, showing both the current month data and year-to-date. The reports do 
not include budget to actual data, which is presented to the Board annually at the conclusion of the fiscal 
year. 

Financial Ability Determination: 
WSAFCA is in a stable financial position with its unassigned fund balance increasing 48% over the last five 
years. WSAFCA carries a significant amount of debt ($285 million), however, this debt is only 5.5% of total 
assessed valuation and debt payments are 30% of total expenditures. Its current debt service payments 
extend until 2041. Its revenue sources are stable primarily from a special assessment in perpetuity and 
state and federal funding.  

WSAFCA’s revenues are significantly funded by state and deferral funding and are sufficient to fund its goal 
of achieving 200-year flood projection. Once the federal West Sacramento Project is completed estimated 
in 2037, WSAFCA will transition to a long-term capital replacement program for the levee system, and 
managing debt service. The ongoing special assessment is sufficient to fund ongoing operations and 
maintenance. The City of West Sacramento is the treasury and provides financial assistance to WSAFCA. 

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

203



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-9 

Shared Services Determination: 
WSAFCA exists as a shared agency operation including RD 537, RD 900, and the City of West Sacramento. 
WSAFCA also coordinates with multiple regional, state, and federal agencies to efficiently implement 
coordinated projects to achieve the urban standard of 200-year flood protection for West Sacramento.  

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does WSAFCA need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is WSAFCA lacking insurance or a risk management pool to 
manage potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does WSAFCA need adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
None.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Determination: 
There are no recommended changes to the WSAFCA board. Although considering the 2019 boundary 
reorganizations of RD 537 and RD 900, WSAFCA may wish to study modifying its board/member 
composition in any future strategic planning sessions. WSAFCA is audited annually, which is managed by 
the Treasury of the City of West Sacramento.  The Agency has general and public officials/management 
liability insurance policy that provides coverage for the Agency’s work and actions by the Board in their 
capacity as public officials in support of the West Sacramento Levee Improvement Program. The policies 

204



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

West Sacramento Area Flood Protection Agency  JPA Service Review 
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

5.2-10 

exclude the typical business risks associated with a levee improvement project. There are no issues with 
board member turnover/training. WSAFCA has no employees, and all staff services are performed by City 
of West Sacramento personnel. The City of West Sacramento serves as the treasury and provides financial 
assistance to WSAFCA. As such, it follows generally accepted accounting principles including board 
member and meetings and segregating financial and accounting duties. WSAFCA’s Yolo Local 
Government Website Transparency Scorecard score has hovered at roughly the same percentage in the 
last three years and is 74% for 2023. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· WSAFCA received a 74% score in the 2023 Yolo Local Government Website Transparency 
Scorecard. Please review the report appendix to see what improvements can be made: 
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-website-transparency-scorecards. 

 

205



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

SacYolo South Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.0-1 

Sac Yolo South Levee System (Clarksburg Basin) Overview1  
The Sac Yolo South levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a large-scale 
levee project. The map of the 40.47-mile levee system shows the leveed area, the area which would be 
prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. The Sac Yolo South levee system reduces the risk of flooding 
for a portion of a rural area and agricultural lands in Yolo County from flood waters in the Sacramento River, 
Elk Slough, Sutter Slough, Minor Slough and the Yolo Bypass. In addition to the rural population of 1,113 
people within the leveed area, 569 structures including 6 critical structures (1 airport, 1 EMS, 1 fire station 
and 3 schools), with property values estimated at $200 million, are present within the leveed area. The Sac 
Yolo South levee system is constructed of earthen embankments and requires year-round maintenance. 
The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible agency for 
operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

Sac Yolo South includes the following Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs): 

· RD 307 
· RD 765 
· RD 999 

Sac Yolo South System Units and LMAs 

 

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 and USDA Cropland Data Layer 2022 

206



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

SacYolo South Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.0-2 

The levee system was constructed in 1955 and averages 17 feet in height. Its flooding sources include Elk 
Slough, Miner Slough, Sacramento River, and Sutter Slough. The following graphic shows historic flooding 
occurrences.  

 

Regional Long-Term Projects Identified 
Clarksburg Small-Communities Study2 
A feasibility study identified risk reduction by remediating known problems of levees along Elk Slough and 
the Sacramento River from town to the West Sacramento cross levee. In addition, a combination of seepage 
berms and cutoff walls need to be constructed. The preliminary cost is estimated from $44 million to $52 
million. Phasing to be determined.  

 

 

2  Clarksburg Small Community Flood Risk Reduction Feasibility Study presentation, MBK and HDR 
Engineers, Sep 2019. 

207



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-1 

RD 765 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1905, Reclamation District (RD) 765 provides drainage and levee maintenance for 1.7 miles of 
levee and is 1,410 acres in size. Referred to as the Glide Tract, is located at Garcia Bend on the Sacramento 
River. The railroad tracks of the Sacramento Northern Railroad have been removed, but the berm on which 
they were situated acts as the western and northern boundaries of the district. Babel Slough is the southern 
boundary of the district. The District is located immediately south of the City of West Sacramento. It is 
bounded by West Sacramento to the north, RD 999 to the west and south, RD 307 to the south, and the 
Sacramento River to the east. The area that this RD encompasses is exclusively used for agriculture. Most 
of RD 765’s land has been conserved through conservation easements.  

Reclamation District 765 is an independent special district with a three-member board of trustees elected 
by the three (3) landowners in the District. The level of owner contribution is based on expenses for the 
year. The District contracts out for all operations and maintenance as well as legal and engineering 
services. 

 

208



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The overall levee system that RD 765 is included in has a population of approximately 1,113 permanent 
residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection standards 
and District levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards is 
not required until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned 
to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population 
anticipated in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

209



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 765 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

210



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

After three years of “Unacceptable” ratings, the fall 2022 and 2023 DWR inspection report gave the LMA 
an overall rating of “Minimally Acceptable.” Overall, the unacceptable miles are less than 10%.  

211



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 765 U U U M M 1.72 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
 

RD 765 contains one unit segment that is inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, 
length, rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  
 

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating (Fall 2023) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 1.72 M 

 

 
 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

212



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-6 

As shown on the above map, no system repairs were needed for the unit from the DWR 2022 Flood System 
Repair Project Summary.  

The DWR summary indicates RD 765 provided a list of expenses and maintenance activities performed on 
all levee units. Activities engineering and vegetation control by mowing. The reported total maintenance 
cost for the previous fiscal year was $30,000. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and 
maintenance activities for all levee units. Expenses include engineering, levee repairs and vegetation 
control by mowing. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $65,000 which corresponds to 
$37,791 per levee mile. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 765 was inspected on March 19, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The report noted the LMA has a copy of O&M Manuals on hand, however it does not have an adequate 
supply of flood fighting materials and has not attended available flood fight training recently.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 8 5 13 Erosion (mi 0.02, 0.94, 0.95), Remove tree/limbs 
(mi. 1.04), tree stump (mi 1.61) 

Total % 62% 38% 13  

 

There are no critical issues noted on the inspection report. The erosion sites are from foot traffic, likely 
fisherman accessing the river.  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 765 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
After receiving Unacceptable ratings from 2019-2021, RD 765 received Minimally Acceptable ratings in 
2022-2023. The reported total cost for the current fiscal year is $65,000 which corresponds to $37,791 per 
levee mile. The Spring 2024 inspection indicates 62% of the inspection items have been addressed, with 
erosion and removing trees/stumps being the primary issues. DWR indicates RD 765 does not have an 
adequate supply of flood fighting materials and has not had flood fight training recently.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· Prior to the next flood season, obtain an adequate amount of flood fighting materials and store them in 
a centralized location. 

· Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 
“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

· RD 765 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

213



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-7 

o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

214



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-8 

 
Discussion:  
RD 765 is operated by three landowners and does not maintain funds the County Treasury. The information 
provided is from State Controller’s Office reports that appear inconsistent and only go through 2022. The 
District revenues mainly consist of property owner contributions (billed by district) and intergovernmental 
revenues. This revenue was 81% of total revenues from 2019 through 2022. 

The 5-year trend indicates that either the district may be unstable, or the underlying data may be incorrect. 
There was an adjustment, reported in the 2021 State Controller’s Financial Transaction, which decreased 
the overall fund balance reported by $40,000. As of December 31, 2022, the fund balance reported was 
only $8,478. 

Although the District received a rating of M during the Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 inspection, 
the annual revenue the District receives averages only about $50,000 with a little fund balance available at 
the end of 2022. It’s unknown but doubtful RD 765 has a CIP.  

As of June 30, 2022, the District does not have any debt issues outstanding nor any pension or other 
postemployment benefits liabilities. Fiscal year 2023 data has not been provided by the District. It is 
unknown if the district uses generally accepted accounting principles or reviews financial data on a regular 
basis.  

215



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-9 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 765 does not maintain funds the County Treasury and is operated by three landowners that self-assess 
to fund the District. It only partially responded to LAFCo information requests and financial information was 
obtained from the State Controller’s Office, so the financial picture is hazy. The 5-year trend indicates that 
either the district may be unstable, and/or the underlying data may be incorrect. As of December 31, 2022, 
the fund balance reported was only $8,478, insufficient to weather a catastrophic levee issue.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· RD 765 should use the County Treasury to maintain its funds for improved accounting controls and 
accuracy.  

· Institute regular annual landowner assessments rather than on an as-needed basis with an automatic 
inflator to provide for a secure ongoing revenue source and to accumulate reserves. 

· Adopt annual budgets (if not already doing so). Budgets and other financial records/information should 
be provided to the public and LAFCo consistent with state law, including Section 56386 of the Cortese-
Knox-Hertzberg Act Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

· Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

· Provide financial reports for the trustees to review on a regular basis at meetings. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 765 is hydrologically connected to RD 307 and RD 999 in the SacYolo South Levee System. The 
agencies in this levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. The agencies 
in this levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 765 is not a member 
of the California Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA).  

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None. 

216



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-10 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Mid & Upper Sacramento River Regional Flood 
Management Plan (2013) included governance as an implementation strategy to address whether 
consolidation or amalgamation of LMAs could provide an enhanced approach to system maintenance and 
operations. There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational 
efficiencies for the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System basin.  

The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 

217



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-11 

with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should 
absorb RD 307 and RD 765 as the single entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project 
has not yet received funding. This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) has found RD 307 and RD 765 are 
not functioning as responsive, accountable, and transparent government agencies, therefore, these RDs 
should be consolidated.  

RD 765 is an independent special district governed by a three-member Board of Trustees. The District has 
only three landowners in total. The District did not fully respond to LAFCo’s information request, but it is 
last understood RD 765 meets on an as-needed basis and the location of meetings varies. It is unknown if 
the District complies with all Brown Act requirements in publicly noticing its meetings through posting and 
individual notification. 

All three Board member positions are currently filled. There are only three landowners in the District. RD 
765 contracts for all its maintenance needs. Downey Brand LLP is its legal counsel.  

RD 765 does not conduct independent audits as required but does submit annual State Controller’s Office 
special district reports. It is unknown if RD 765 adopts a budget, has insurance coverage, or administrative 
policies. RD 765 does not maintain a website (probably because it only contains three landowners) and is 
in violation of state law.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
There are only three landowners in RD 765 and its three Board member seats are filled and appear stable. 
The District has not responded to repeated requests for information. The District does not obtain 
independent audits (and didn’t in the last 2018 MSR either), nor has adopted administrative policies. It does 
not have a website in accordance with the Government Code. RD 765 maintains only 1.78 miles of levee 
and should be succeeded by RD 999 altogether for better capacity, efficiency, accountability, and 
transparency. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 
become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

· Secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State Controller requirements every 
two years (repeat from 2018 MSR).  

· Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct (repeat from 2018 MSR). 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

218



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 765    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.1-12 

· Create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with Government Code sections 
6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate information about the district 
(repeat from 2018 MSR).  

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates RD 765 is unserved and notes two residential 
serviceable locations. AT&T provides mobile coverage on a 5G network with speeds up to 38/5 Mbps.  

Recommendation(s) 
None.  

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that the District be absorbed by 
RD 999. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

219



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-1 

RD 307 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1877, Reclamation District (RD) 307 provides levee maintenance to 6.56 miles of levee. The 
District is surrounded by waterways, the Sacramento River on the north and east, Babel Slough on the 
north and west, and Winchester Lake on the south. RD 307 does not provide irrigation water services. 

RD 307 is an independent special district with a five-member board of trustees. The District did not respond 
to repeated requests for information, but is understood to contract out for levee maintenance, legal services, 
bookkeeping services, and engineering services. Maintenance actions are accomplished by contracts 
based on decisions made by the Board. 

 

220



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The overall levee system that RD 307 is included in has a population of approximately 1,113 permanent 
residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection standards 
and District levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards are 
not required until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned 
to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population 
anticipated in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

221



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 307 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

222



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
District Infrastructure 

RD 307 has two 150hp electric pumps, one diesel engine gear driven pump, and a 300KW generator to run 
one of the electric pumps in the event of a power outage. The District also owns and maintains 6.56 miles 
of levee.  

DWR Inspections 

The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR rates overall levee segments during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows the overall 
rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

223



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-5 

After multiple years of “Unacceptable” ratings, the Fall 2023 DWR Inspection Report gave the LMA an 
overall rating of “Minimally Acceptable.” Overall, the unacceptable miles are less than 10%. The SWIF 
resulted in improvements to RD maintenance, and the results show. 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 6.56 
RD 307 U U U U M  

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
 

RD 307 contains one unit segment that is inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, 
length, rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating (Fall 2023) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sacramento River RB 6.56 M 

 

T  

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

224



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-6 

The DWR summary report from 2023 reported that RD 307 performed the annual Summer Levee Inspection 
as required. The District concurs with the information contained in the Summer 2023 inspection reports, 
unless otherwise reported or updated, and has no additional issues at this time. The District continues to 
perform routine maintenance including, but not limited to, visual inspections, rodent hole grouting, rodent 
baiting, vegetation management and erosion repairs as needed to address the inspection infractions. 
Encroachment enforcement remains an ongoing process that is leading to varied success. The Agency 
provided a list of planned expenses and maintenance activities for all levee units. Expenses include the 
cost of administration, surveying and engineering, and vegetation control. The reported total cost for the 
current fiscal year is $40,199 which corresponds to $6,128 per levee mile. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 307 was inspected on March 19, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has O&M Manuals and access to adequate flood fighting materials. However, RD 307 hasn’t been 
to any recent training classes. For Unit No. 01, there are numerous locations where there are erosion issues 
and trees need to be thinned. There are numerous report items regarding tree stumps that appear to have 
gone unresolved for some time.  

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items 

Notes Regarding Unresolved Items (w/ levee 
mile marker noted) 

Unit No. 01 18 16 34 Thin trees (mi 0.16, 0.25, 0.62, 1.39, 3.97, 5.99, 6.36), 
erosion (mi 0.20, 1.09-1.24, 3.98-4.01) 

Total % 53% 47% 34  

 

There are no critical issues noted. Most of the “trim/thin trees” issues are fallen trees and old tree stumps 
DWR wants removed.  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 307 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection.   

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
After receiving Unacceptable ratings from 2019-2022, RD 307 received a Minimally Acceptable rating in 
2023, likely due to the recent SWIF correction plan instituted. The District improved its vegetation and 
animal control issues, while tree thinning/trimming and erosion/bank caving are the more significant issues. 
The reported total maintenance cost for the current fiscal year is $40,199 which corresponds to $6,128 per 
levee mile. The 2024 Spring inspection reports indicates 53% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection 
have been corrected. RD 307 hasn’t been to any recent flood fight training, and relative to other district 
reports “recent” appears to mean at least 5+ years. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· Prior to the next flood season, identify a crew and attend flood fight training from DWR. If necessary, 
“just in time” training is available online at https://musrflood.squarespace.com/ to train new crew 
members and emergency volunteers.  

· RD 307 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o There is woody vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
o There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
o The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

225



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-7 

o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies? 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

    

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented?   

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

    

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

226



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-8 

 
Discussion:  
RD 307’s financial position appears to be stable. The District’s sources of revenue consist of an allocation 
of the 1% property tax general levy known as AB8, special assessments (billed on tax roll), investment 
earnings, intergovernmental revenue and other miscellaneous revenue. The District’s revenue and 
expenses have not fluctuated significantly over the past 5 years except for the purchase of a replacement 
generator in 2023 at a cost of $180,825. Total fund balance has increased by $310,722 over the last five 
years. 

On average, almost 70% of the District’s annual revenue come from property taxes and special 
assessments, which are both reliable sources of revenue. However, the special assessment has not 
increased since 1997 and property tax increase, at most, 2% per year. In fact, the total of property taxes 
and special assessments have only increased 6% from 2019 to 2023. This risk is that without undergoing 
a proposition 218 preceding the increase in special assessments and property taxes may not keep up with 
inflation and that intergovernmental revenues are not guaranteed and are subject to policy changes by the 
grantor agencies. 

RD 307 nearly doubled its expenditures in 2023 (exceeding its revenue) to achieve a “minimally acceptable” 
rating from DWR. Previous year’s expenditures resulted in “unacceptable” ratings. Therefore, it doesn’t 
appear that revenues are adequate to consistently fund adequate levee maintenance.  

RD 307 did not respond to LAFCo requests for information; therefore, it is unknown if the District has a 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), if financial data is reviewed on a regular basis, or if the Board receives 
financial reports. The District does not have any debt nor any pension or other postemployment benefits 
liabilities. 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 307 has the financial means to provide services, is financially stable, and has a healthy fund balance. 
In 2023, the District exceeded its revenues because it purchased a generator to operate drainage pumps 

227



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-9 

during an emergency. The District indicates it has a CIP, reviews financial data, and provides financial 
reports to its Board, however samples were not provided to LAFCo for verification. The District has indicated 
that the County Department of Financial Services (DFS) provides financial oversight and can conduct 
annual audits, which is not actually provided for independent districts. DFS inputs transactions but does not 
review them for oversight, mistakes are made, and accuracy needs to be verified.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· RD 307 may wish to consider increasing revenues via a Proposition 218 preceding to increase the 
special assessment including an automatic inflationary factor because revenues may not keep up with 
inflation. 

· RD 307 should review financial data on a regular basis to ensure County Treasury discrepancies are 
identified, investigated and corrective action taken in a timely manner. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 307 is hydrologically connected to RD 765 and RD 999 in the SacYolo South Levee System. The 
agencies in this levee system already operate under a collective work plan via the SWIF plan. RD 307 is 
not a member of the California Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA).  

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting?  

    

228



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-10 

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?     

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

    

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)? 

   

Discussion:  
There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational efficiencies for the 
SacYolo South (Clarksburg) Basin.  

The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 
with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should 
absorb RD 307 and RD 765 as the single entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project 
has not yet received funding. This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) has found RD 307 and RD 765 are 
not functioning as responsive, accountable, and transparent government agencies, therefore, the timing is 
appropriate to combine these districts.  

RD 307 is an independent special district governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. The District did 
not respond to repeated LAFCo’s information requests, but it is last understood RD 307 meets quarterly. It 
is unknown if the District complies with all Brown Act requirements in publicly noticing its meetings through 
posting and individual notification. 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

229



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-11 

All five Board member positions are currently filled. When there is a vacancy on the Board of 
Commissioners, candidates may file for the office of Commissioner, provided that each candidate is either 
a landowner or a legal representative of a landowner. Elections are conducted by an all-mail in ballot in 
accordance with Division 15 of the California Water Code and applicable provisions of the California 
Elections Code. Appointment by the Board of Supervisors are made in the event there are no nominees or 
an insufficient number of nominees for the office to hold an election. RD 307 contracts for all of its staffing 
needs.  

The District does not receive annual independent audits but does submit annual State Controller’s Office 
special district reports as required. RD 307 indicates it is insured with ACWA/JPIA. It is unknown if RD 307 
adopts a budget or has administrative policies. RD 307 does not maintain a website and is in violation of 
state law. The District indicated a website is planned.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational efficiencies for the 
SacYolo South (Clarksburg) Basin. RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should absorb RD 
307 and RD 765 as the single entity LMA for the basin. RD 307 board members appear stable; however, 
the District has not fully responded to requests for information, has not obtained annual independent audits 
since at last the 2018 MSR, has not adopted policies, and does not have a website in accordance with the 
Government Code. RD 307 should be absorbed by RD 999 for better efficiency, accountability, and 
transparency. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 
become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

· RD 307 should immediately secure independent audits of financial reports that meet California State 
Controller requirements every two years (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

· RD 307 should adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, 
board member and meetings, purchasing/contracting, and segregating financial and accounting duties 
among staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (repeat of 2018 MSR 
recommendation). 

· RD 307 is required to create a website or adopt a hardship resolution annually in accordance with 
Government Code sections 6270.6 and 53087.8 to provide the public easily accessible and accurate 
information about the district (repeat of 2018 MSR recommendation).  

 

230



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 307    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.2-12 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates California Broadband Services provides fixed 
wireless services to the RD 307 area with 100/25 Mbps (upload/download) speeds.  
Yolo County is currently working with an internet service provider that will proposing two solutions for the 
Clarksburg area, a phased in wireless approach and a fiber project. However, State budget cuts will impact 
broadband project funding.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that the District be absorbed by 
RD 999. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

231



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-1 

RD 999 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1913, Reclamation District (RD) 999 provides levee maintenance, drainage, and irrigation for 
32.17 miles of levee, some of which extends into Solano County to the south. All of the District levees are 
part of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project (SRFC).  

The District is hydrologically linked to Reclamation Districts 307 and 765, and dependent on the success 
of their levee system. RD 999 is bounded by RD 900 to the north, and the Deep Water Ship Channel to the 
west. The northerly potion of RD 999 is bounded on the east by RD 765 and RD 307. The southerly eleven 
(11) miles of RD 999 is bounded on the east by the Sacramento River, Sutter Slough, and Elk Slough and 
on the south by Miner Slough. The District is completely protected from overflow by a system of substantial 
levees constructed well above floodplain. It is drained by a system of natural and artificial drainage channels 
and pumping plants. It is also both surface and sub-irrigated by the interconnected 275-mile network of 
irrigation and drainage canals/ditches, 8 pumping stations with 16 pumps. RD 999 does not sell ag irrigation 
water.  

Reclamation District 999 is an independent special district with a five-member board of trustees elected by 
the landowners within the District.  

 

232



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The Sac Yolo South levee system that RD 999 is included in has a population of approximately 1,113 
permanent residents. Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection 
standards and District levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection 
standards is not required until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area 
that is planned to have 10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth 
and population anticipated in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1 and California Government Code Section 65007(l) and 
(m) 

233



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 999 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

234



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

Except for 2020, RD 999 has had Minimally Acceptable ratings from DWR. Overall, the unacceptable miles 
are less than 10%.  

235



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023  
RD 999 M U M* M M* 32.17 

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
*   Overall unit threshold percentage is less than 10%; however, U rated miles are present, so the overall unit rating 

is M instead of A.  
 

RD 999 contains 5 unit segments inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, length, 
rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Yolo Bypass LB 15.41 A 

Unit No. 02 Miner Slough RB 2.31 A 

Unit No. 03 Sutter Slough RB 3.74 U 

Unit No. 04 Sacramento River RB 1.22 M* 

Unit No. 05 Elk Slough RB 9.48 M* 

 

The DWR summary of the LMA report indicates RD 999 provided a list of expenses and maintenance 
activities performed on all levee units. Activities include rodent control, surveying and engineering, and 
vegetation control by mowing, spraying, and trimming. The reported total maintenance cost for the previous 
fiscal year was $143,000. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and maintenance activities for 
all levee units. Expenses include the cost of levee crown maintenance, patrolling, rodent control, surveying 
and engineering, and vegetation control by mowing, spraying, trimming and other methods. The reported 
total cost for the current fiscal year is $177,000 which corresponds to $5,504 per levee mile. 

 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

236



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-6 

 

237



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-7 

 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 999 was inspected on April 18, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has the O&M Manuals on hand, adequate flood fighting materials, and the crew had flood fight 
training in 2020.  

Summary Table of Spring 2024 Inspection Items 

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 10 1 11 Rodent control (mi 8.79)  

Unit No. 02 5 1 6 Vegetation (mi 0.10-0.84)  

Unit No. 03 6 2 8 Vegetation (mi 0.66), erosion (0.24-0.65) 

Unit No. 04 3 1 4 Trim/thin trees (mi 0.57) 

Unit No. 05 25 18 43 
Crown surface/rutting (mi 1.10-1.14), trim/thin trees (mi 

0.32, 1.59, 1.98, 2.01, 2.04, 2.98, 3.11, 5.14, 5.61, 
5.67, 7.54, 8.74) vegetation (mi 3.65), unauthorized 

access gates (mi 8.54, 8.59, 8.63, 8.82)  

Total (%) 49 (68%) 23 (32%) 72  

 

The only critical issue noted includes an erosion site along the Sutter Slough (Unit 03), which RD 999 has 
have repaired in the worst sections over the years. No site changes have been observed in the last two 
years, but the issue remains critical status. Most of the “trim/thin trees” issues are old tree stumps DWR 
wants removed.  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 999 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
RD 999 has by far the most levee miles to maintain (32.17 mi) of all the districts overseen by LAFCo and 
received minimally acceptable ratings overall, except in 2020. The reported total cost for the current fiscal 
year is $177,000 which corresponds to $5,504 per levee mile. DWR indicated RD 999 was maintaining its 
levees and structures at a high level. The LMA has the O&M Manuals on hand, adequate flood fighting 
materials, and the crew had flood fight training in 2020. The 2024 Spring inspection report indicates 68% 
of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been corrected. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 999 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o The LMA should ensure that the levee crown and access roads are able to be driven in all 
weather conditions. 

o The LMA should focus more on controlling woody vegetation. 
o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 
o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last inspection. 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

238



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-8 

o The LMA should continue to maintain the area at the high level seen during the last Structure 
inspection. 
 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

 

239



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-9 

 
Discussion:  
RD 999’s 5-year trend indicates the District appears to be in a stable financial position but had incurred a 
loss of $236,449 in 2023 because of increasing services and supplies. The District’s revenue sources are 
comprised of special assessments (billed by District), interest, intergovernmental revenue, and other 
miscellaneous revenue. Service and supplies expenditures have increased by 39% in 2022 and by another 
39% in 2023 as revenues have remained flat. Total fund balance at the end of 2023 was $742,800, a 
decrease of $147,237 from the end of 2017.  

The District revenue source is reliable. Over the past 5 years, excluding proceeds from new debt, special 
assessments accounted for 76% of annual revenues and intergovernmental revenues accounted for almost 
20%. Although billed by the District, delinquent special assessments are enrolled on the County tax roll. 

The District received an overall rating of M as part of the Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 
inspection which is a good indication that existing revenues are sufficient to fund an adequate level of 
service. The District does not have a capital improvement plan. The District owns four pick-up trucks, an 
excavator, fire truck, dump truck, and water truck. 

The District has notes payable outstanding and a pension liability that is currently manageable. The notes 
payable total original amount was $405,369 of which $233,690 was still outstanding. Annual debt service 

240



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-10 

ranges from $32,006 to $90,221 until both are paid off in 2026. The District also participates in CalPERS 
and has a net pension balance of $464,747. 

The District contracts with and independent CPA for an audit annually. At each meeting the board receives 
a balance sheet, a profit and loss statement, check listing by bank account and a payroll summary. 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 999’s 5-year trend indicates the District appears to be in a stable financial position. The District’s 
revenue sources are comprised of special assessments (billed by District), interest, intergovernmental 
revenue, and other miscellaneous revenue. The District received an overall rating of M as part of the 
Department of Water Resources Fall 2023 inspection which is a good indication that existing revenues are 
sufficient to fund an adequate level of service. The District does not have a capital improvement plan but 
maintains a large fund balance. RD 999 contracts with a CPA for annual audits and the Board of Trustees 
receives regular financial reports.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 
None. 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 999 is hydrologically connected to RD 307 and RD 999 in the Sac Yolo South Levee System. RD 999 
participates as members of the California Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA) and the 
Westside Committee for the Regional Flood Management Plan. RD 999 is the largest and most resourced 
district in the Sac Yolo South Levee System., The agencies in this levee system already operate under a 
collective work plan via the SWIF plan. 

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None. 

 

241



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-11 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

g) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Mid & Upper Sacramento River Regional Flood 
Management Plan (2013) included governance as an implementation strategy to address whether 
consolidation or amalgamation of LMAs could provide an enhanced approach to system maintenance and 
operations. There are recommended changes to the governmental structure to improve operational 
efficiencies for the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System basin.  

The DWR Central Valley Flood Protection Plan and Lower Sacramento River/Delta North Flood 
Management Plan (2014) included the recommended action step to “Conduct the necessary stakeholder 
outreach and coordination to develop organizational structure/governance, cost, policy/procedure, training 
requirements and synchronization to consolidate Local Maintaining Agencies, operations and maintenance, 
and emergency response activities”. DWR funded the UC Davis Yolo County Flood Governance Study 
(2014) in collaboration with all the local district stakeholders, which ultimately recommended the “The 
Hydraulic Basin Approach” that “Yolo County RDs would benefit if each hydraulically connected basin 
operated as if it were a single entity”.  

There are seven USACE levee systems/basins that include special district LMAs under Yolo LAFCo 
oversight. The key goal for this MSR/SOI is to identify the recommended “single entity” for each 
system/basin. The DWR Flood System Improvement Branch Chief and staff were consulted and concur 

242



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-12 

with LAFCo’s governance recommendations5. DWR operates roughly 300 miles of the 1,600 total levee 
miles in the State Plan of Flood Control and relies heavily on LMAs, which would benefit from efficiency, 
shared services, expertise, appropriate size/scale, and borrowing power.  

For the Sac Yolo South (Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the more robust district in the basin and should 
absorb RD 307 and RD 765 as the single entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project 
has not yet received funding. This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) has found RD 307 and RD 765 are 
not functioning as responsive, accountable, and transparent government agencies, therefore, the timing is 
appropriate now in 2024.  

RD 999 provides annual audits and posts them on its website, which is a significant improvement as 
compared to the 2018 MSR. The district has insurance coverage through the Association of California 
Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority (ACWA JPIA). 

The RD 999 Board meets monthly at the District’s office. Meeting notices are posted on the District website 
and at the District office and mailed to all board members. All five Board member positions are currently 
filled. RD 999 has five full-time employees and contracts with Downey Brand LLP for legal counsel and 
MBK Engineers for engineering services. There do not appear to be any issues with board or staff turnover.  

The agency has adequate policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, 
board member and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties. The district has written 
guidelines and procedures for operations and maintenance, and emergencies. RD 999 maintains a website 
that received a 97% transparency score in 2023.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
RD 999 is accountable, transparent, functioning well and operationally efficient. It is the largest and most 
resourced district in the Sac Yolo South System. With the governance goal of identifying one district for 
each hydrologic system, RD 999 is the logical choice. All five Board member positions are currently filled, 
and the district is accountable. 

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· The 2014 UC Davis Flood Governance Study funded by DWR determined that one agency should 
become the single Local Maintaining Agency (LMA) for each hydrologic basin. For the Sac Yolo South 
(Clarksburg) System, RD 999 is the most robust district in the basin. Therefore, RDs 307, 765, and 999 
should be reorganized (either via dissolution/annexation or consolidation) into RD 999 as the single 
LMA successor entity for the basin. The Clarksburg Flood Management Project has not yet been 
finalized nor received funding, therefore there is no known reason to delay this reorganization process. 
This MSR (and the previous one in 2018) found RD 307 and RD 765 not functioning as responsive, 
accountable, and transparent government agencies. RDs 307 and 765 have not obtained flood fight 
materials and stored them in a nearby location (although RD 307 has access to the Delta Emergency 
Plan supplies), nor has either district received flood fight training recently (i.e., at least the past 5+ 
years). RD 999 has five full-time employees with the training and resources to respond to an 
emergency.  

 

 

5 Meeting with DWR staff on May 30, 2024. 

243



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-13 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates California Broadband Services provides fixed 
wireless services to the RD 150 area with 100/25 Mbps (upload/download) speeds.  
Yolo County is currently working with an internet service provider that will proposing two solutions in the 
Clarksburg area, a phased in wireless approach and a fiber project. However, State budget cuts will impact 
broadband project funding.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. It is recommended that the District be absorbed by 
RD 999. Therefore, changes to the District’s SOI are needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

 

6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

244



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-14 

 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  S O I  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The SOI determinations below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key policy 
questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. 

 Present and Planned Land Uses  Social or Economic Communities of Interest 

 Need for Public Facilities and Services  Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 

 Capacity and Adequacy of Provide Services   
 

245



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-15 

1. Present and Planned Land Uses 
The present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Would the SOI conflict with planned, orderly, and efficient patterns 
of urban development? Would the SOI impact the identity of any 
existing communities (e.g. community boundaries, postal zones, 
school, or other service boundaries)? 

   

b) Would the SOI result in the loss of prime agricultural land or open 
space?    

c) Would the SOI conflict with any natural or made-made boundaries 
that would impact where services can reasonably be extended?    

d) Is there a conflict with the adopted SACOG Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Present and Planned Land Uses SOI Determination: 
Combining RD 765, RD 307, and RD 999 would not affect the present land uses, which are primarily 
agricultural.  

 

2. Need for Public Facilities and Services 
The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Would the SOI conflict with the Commission’s goal to increase 
efficiency and conservation of resources by providing essential 
services within a framework of controlled growth? 

   

b) Would the SOI expand services that could be better provided by 
a city or another agency?    

c) Does the SOI represent premature inducement of growth or 
facilitate conversion of agriculture or open space lands?    

d) Are there any areas that should be removed from the SOI because 
existing circumstances make development unlikely, there is not 
sufficient demand to support it? 

   

e) Have any agency commitments been predicated on expanding 
the agency’s SOI such as roadway projects, shopping centers, 
educational facilities, economic development or acquisition of 
parks and open space? 

   

Discussion:  
None.  

Need for Public Facilities and Services SOI Determination 

The proposed SOI would promote agency efficiency by establishing one RD/LMA for the Sac Yolo South 
Levee System.  

 

246



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-16 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Provided Services 
The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides or is authorized 
to provide. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity to provide 
adequate services in the proposed SOI territory and ability to 
extend services? 

   

Discussion:  
None.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Provided Services SOI Determination 

RD 999 has minimally acceptable ratings from DWR overall and is generally functioning well. Combining 
these three RDs into one would provide greater efficiencies and resources to pay for levee maintenance.  

 

4. Social or Economic Communities of Interest 
The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the commission determines that 
they are relevant to the agency. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any social or economic communities of interest in the 
area if the commission determines that they are relevant to the 
agency (see also MSR checklist question 2b)? 

   

Discussion: 
None.  

Social or Economic Communities of Interest SOI Determination 

There are agriculture-related social and economic communities of interest that are protected by the RD 
flood protection services. Potential annexation of RD 765 and RD 307 would promote agency efficiency by 
establishing one RD for the Sac Yolo South Levee System. 

 

5. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
For an update of an SOI of a city or special district that provides public facilities or services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, the present and probable need for those public 
facilities and services of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within the existing sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides public services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water or structural fire protection (same 
as MSR checklist question 2a) does the proposed SOI exclude 
any disadvantaged unincorporated community (per MSR checklist 
question 2b) where it either may be feasible to extend services or 
required to be included under SB 244? 

   

Discussion: 
None.  

247



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 999    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

6.3-17 

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities SOI Determination 

The District provides flood protection services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status7. 

 

 

7 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

248



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150 – Merritt Island Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.0-1 

RD 150 – Merritt Island Levee System (Merritt Island Basin) Overview1  
The RD 0150 - Merritt Island levee system is a portion of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project, a 
large-scale levee project. The map of the 17.74-mile levee system shows the leveed area, the area which 
would be prone to flooding in the absence of a levee. The RD 0150 - Merritt Island levee system reduces 
the risk of flooding for agricultural lands located on Merritt Island from flood waters in Elk Slough, Sutter 
Slough, and the Sacramento River. In addition to the rural population of 199 people within the leveed area, 
93 structures, with property values estimated at $30 million, are present within the leveed area. The RD 
0150 - Merritt Island levee system is constructed of earthen embankments and requires year-round 
maintenance. The Central Valley Flood Protection Board is the non-federal sponsor and is the responsible 
agency for operation and maintenance of the levee system. 

This levee system includes the following Local Maintaining Agencies (LMAs): 

· RD 150 

RD 150 – Merritt Island System Units and LMAs 

 
 

Performance and Condition 
The following Risk Characterization is a description of risk associated with this levee system. It is currently 
undergoing review and may be updated in the future. The LSOG considers the risk associated with RD 
0150 Merritt Island Unit 2 – Sacramento River (LST ID 5079), for breach prior to overtopping as moderate 
(LSAC 3) and low for overtopping (LSAC 4). Boils have been noted with limited loading. There are significant 
concerns with embankment seepage and embankment erosion. Records show the levee has never been 
loaded above 59%. The levee toe is loaded annually. Hydraulic conditions in the event of a failure result in 
significant depths throughout the leveed area. Flooding would go to the center of the area and slowly 
inundate out giving ample time to evacuate. The population at risk is likely very aware of risk with moderate 
evacuation planning and good flood warning effectiveness. Egress routes are short with no expected 
transportation congestion. Threatened population is anticipated to be low in the event of a failure. 

 

1 USACE National Structure Inventory 2023 and USDA Cropland Data Layer 2022 

249



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150 – Merritt Island Levee System Overview   
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.0-2 

Overtopping is expected to be a 500-year event. The river is slow rising with advanced warning time for an 
overtopping event further reducing the anticipated threatened population. 

There is no official USACE data on when the levee system was constructed and averages 17 feet in height. 
Its flooding sources include Elk Slough, Sacramento River, and Sutter Slough. The following graphic shows 
historic flooding occurrences.  

 

250



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-1 

RD 150 AGENCY PROFILE 
Formed in 1868, Reclamation District (RD) 150 (or “District”) provides levee maintenance for 17.74 miles 
of levee, The District, known as the Merritt Island district, also provides drainage services with 3 pumping 
stations. RD 150 does not provide irrigation water services.  

Although RD 150 is located in the community of Clarksburg, Merritt Island is not hydrologically connected 
to the other Clarksburg RDs and it is considered its own, separate hydrologic basin since it maintains a 
complete levee ring. RD 150 is bounded by the Sacramento River to the east, Elk Slough to the west, and 
Sutter Slough to the south.  

RD 150 is an independent special district with a five-member board of trustees. The Board meets monthly 
at the Bogle Winery.  

 

251



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-2 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW 

P O T E N T I A L L Y  S I G N I F I C A N T  M S R  D E T E R M I N A T I O N S  

The MSR determinations checked below are potentially significant, as indicated by answers to the key 
policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. If most or all of the 
determinations are not significant, as indicated by “no” answers, the Commission may find that a MSR 
update is not warranted. 

 Growth and Population  Shared Services 

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities  Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 

 Capacity, Adequacy & Infrastructure to 
Provide Services  Broadband Access 

 Financial Ability   

L A F C O  M U N I C I P A L  S E R V I C E  R E V I E W :  

 On the basis of this initial evaluation, the required determinations are not significant, and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR is NOT NECESSARY. The subject agency will be reviewed 
again in five years per Government Code Section 56425(g). 

 The subject agency has significant and/or potentially significant determinations and staff 
recommends that a comprehensive MSR IS NECESSARY and has been conducted via this checklist.  

 

1. Growth and Population 
Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

Significant 
Issue 

Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Will development and/or population projections over the next 5-10 
years impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands?     

b) Do changes in demand suggest a change in the agency’s 
services?    

Discussion:  
None.   

Growth and Population MSR Determination: 
The levee system has a population of approximately 199 permanent residents and 800 seasonal visitors. 
Normal fluctuations in rural population will not change current DWR flood protection standards and District 
levee and drainage services. The more stringent urban level of flood protection standards is not required 
until the area is developed with 10,000 residents or more, or an urbanizing area that is planned to have 
10,000 residents or more within the next 10 years1. There is no significant growth and population anticipated 
in the District that will impact the subject agency’s service needs and demands.  

 

1 Code of Federal Regulations Title 44, Section 59.1, and California Government Code Section 65007(l) 
and (m) 

252



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-3 

Growth and Population Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 
sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) If the subject agency provides services related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, are 
there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per adopted 
Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject agency’s 
sphere of influence that are considered “disadvantaged” (80% or 
less of the statewide median household income) that do not 
already have access to public water, sewer, and structural fire 
protection? 

   

b) If “yes” to a), it is feasible for the agency to be reorganized such 
that it can extend service to the disadvantaged unincorporated 
community? If “no” to a), this question is marked “no” because it 
is either not needed or not applicable. 

   

Discussion:  
None.   

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities MSR Determination: 
RD 150 does not provide sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection. The District 
provides services notwithstanding any communities’ economic status2.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

 

2 CALAFCO Statewide DUCs Refined GIS Layer, RSG, Inc. December 10, 2021 

253



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-4 

3. Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 
deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 
protection in any disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any deficiencies in the infrastructure, equipment, and 
capacity of agency facilities to meet existing service needs for 
which the agency does not have a plan in place to resolve 
(including deficiencies created by new state regulations)? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity and ability 
to meet the service demand of reasonably foreseeable future 
needs? 

   

c) Are there any service needs or deficiencies for disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities related to sewers, municipal and 
industrial water, and structural fire protection within or contiguous 
to the agency’s sphere of influence? 

   

d) Is the agency needing to consider climate adaptation in its 
assessment of infrastructure/service needs?    

Discussion:  
The Department of Water Resources (DWR), under the authority of Water Code Sections 8360, 8370 and 
8371, performs a verification inspection of the maintenance of the Sacramento River Flood Control Project 
(SRFCP) levees performed by the local responsible agencies, and reports to the United States Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE) periodically regarding the status of levee maintenance. The State inspects and 
reports only on the status of maintenance practices and on observable levee conditions. 

DWR completes annual spring inspections by May, documenting the location, size, type, and rating of 
maintenance deficiencies and provides the resulting inspection reports to the LMAs for their use in planning 
maintenance activities prior to the food season. DWR completes annual fall inspections by November, 
verifying the status of previously noted deficiencies, as well as any additional deficiencies, that should be 
corrected to help ensure adequate performance during the food season. LMAs conduct inspections in the 
winter and summer, completing the requirement to conduct four inspections each year. Project facilities are 
inspected at least four times each year. DWR compiles this information for use by stakeholders and will 
report to CVFPB on inspection activities as requested.  

DWR gives an overall levee segment rating only during the annual fall inspections. The table below shows 
the overall rating from 2019-2023. Three possible ratings are given based on the state of its levees:  

· Acceptable (A) – No immediate work required, other than routine maintenance. The food protection 
project will function as designed and intended with a high degree of reliability, and necessary 
cyclical maintenance is being performed adequately. 

· Minimally Acceptable (M) – One or more deficient conditions exist in the food protection project that 
needs to be improved or corrected.  However, the project will essentially function as designed with 
a lesser degree of reliability than what the project could provide. 

· Unacceptable (U) – One or more deficient conditions exist that may prevent the project from 
functioning as designed, intended, or required.  

The Fall 2023 DWR Inspection Report gave the LMA an overall rating of “Unacceptable.” Overall, the 
unacceptable miles are greater than 10%. This determination concludes that the one or more deficient 
conditions exist that may prevent the levee from functioning as designed, intended, or required. In 2023 
Northern California experienced a series of atmospheric rivers in January and again in March characterized 
from moderate to exceptional. The resulting the impact to the flood control features, including levees, is 
evident in the inspection reports. 

254



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-5 

RD Overall Rating 2019-2023 

Local Maintaining 
Agency 

Overall Rating 
A = Acceptable; M = Minimally Acceptable; and U = Unacceptable 

Total Levee 
Miles 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 17.74 
RD 150 M M M M U  

Source: Department of Water Resources 2023 Inspection and LMA Report Table 2-2 
 

RD 150 contains three units that are inspected by DWR that comprise the overall rating. Each unit, length, 
rating is listed in the table and shown in the map below3.  

RD Units, Length and DWR Inspection Rating (Fall 2023) 

Unit Name Bank Length (Miles) DWR Rating 

Unit No. 01 Sutter Slough LB 0.52 U 

Unit No. 02 Sacramento River RB 7.81 M 

Unit No. 03 Elk Slough LB 9.41 U 

 

 

 

3 DWR 2023 Sacramento River Individual Agency Summary Reports 

255



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-6 

The DWR summary of the 2023 LMA report indicated RD 150 provided a list of expenses and maintenance 
activities performed on all levee units. Activities include erosion repair, surveying and engineering, and 
vegetation control by mowing, spraying, and other methods. The reported total maintenance cost for the 
previous fiscal year was $212,500. The Agency provided a list of planned expenses and maintenance 
activities for all levee units. Expenses include the cost of patrolling, surveying, and engineering and 
vegetation control by mowing, spraying, trimming and other methods. The reported total cost for the current 
fiscal year is $200,000 which corresponds to $11,274 per levee mile. 

Spring 2024 DWR Levee Inspection Reports (Maintenance Only, No Rating)4 
RD 150 was inspected on March 13, 2024. DWR spring inspection reports do not provide an overall rating. 
The LMA has updated O&M Manuals, adequate flood fighting materials, and the crew had flood fight training 
in October 2019. For Unit No. 01, all the grasses/weeds and rodent burrows are noted as corrected. For 
Unit No. 02, grass/weeds, vegetation, tree thinning, and an erosion site was rated as corrected or minimally 
acceptable. The only remaining unacceptable item were tree limbs and debris on the levee slope in one 
location (Unit No. 02 at mile 7.81).    

 Items 
Resolved 

Items Not 
Resolved 

Total 
Items Notes Regarding Unresolved Items 

Unit No. 01 6 0 6  

Unit No. 02 11 2 13 Tree stump (mi 0.52), Limb debris (mi 4.68) 

Unit No. 03 31 10 41 Thin trees (mi 1.61, 8.47), erosion (mi 3.39, 4.39-4.43, 
7.99-8.02, 8.26-8.35), slope stability (8.18-8.20) 

Total (%) 48 (80%) 12 (20%) 60  

 

There are no critical issues noted. Most of the “trim/thin trees” issues are fallen trees and old tree stumps 
DWR wants removed.  

USACE Rehabilitation Program Status 
RD 150 currently has an “active” status in the USACE PL 84-99 Rehabilitation Program, which means it is 
eligible for rehabilitation of flood damaged facilities at 100-percent federal cost sharing to pre-disaster 
condition and level of protection. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Determination: 
After receiving Minimally Acceptable ratings from 2019-2022, RD 150 received an Unacceptable rating in 
2023. DWR data indicates vegetation and erosion/bank caving were the more significant issues. RD 150 
indicates the fall 2023 inspection came early, before their annual vegetation maintenance service (via 
goats) could make it to the levees, which is why RD 150 went from minimally acceptable to unacceptable. 
In addition, in 2023 Northern California experienced a series of atmospheric rivers in January and again in 
March characterized from moderate to exceptional. The resulting the impact to the flood control features 
and vegetation is evident in the inspection reports. The reported total maintenance cost for the current fiscal 
year is $200,000 which corresponds to $11,274 per levee mile. The 2024 Spring inspection report indicates 
80% of the items noted in the Fall 2023 inspection have been corrected.  

Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services MSR Recommendations: 

· RD 150 should implement any remaining DWR Fall 2023 inspection report recommendations as 
itemized in the Spring 2024 inspection report: 

o There is vegetation that significantly impacts access and visibility in this Area. 
o The LMA should focus more on controlling vegetation to maintain visibility and access. 

 

4 https://cdec.water.ca.gov/detailed_reports.html 

256



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-7 

o The LMA should focus on repairing erosion sites. 

 

4. Financial Ability 
Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is the subject agency in a stable financial position, i.e. does the 5-
year trend analysis indicate any issues?    

b) Is there an issue with the organization’s revenue sources being 
reliable? For example, is a large percentage of revenue coming 
from grants or one-time/short-term sources? 

   

c) Is the organization’s revenue sufficient to fund an adequate level 
of service, necessary infrastructure maintenance, replacement 
and/or any needed expansion? Is the fee inconsistent with the 
schedules of similar local agencies 

   

d) Does the subject agency have a capital improvement plan (CIP)? 
Has the agency identified and quantified what the possible 
significant risks and costs of infrastructure or equipment failure? 
Does the agency have a reserve policy to fund it? 

   

e) Does the agency have any debt, and if so, is the organization’s 
debt at an unmanageable level? Does the agency need a clear 
debt management policy, if applicable? 

   

f) Can the subject agency improve its use of generally accepted 
accounting principles including: summaries of all fund balances, 
summaries of revenues and expenditures, general status of 
reserves, and any un-funded obligations (i.e. pension/retiree 
benefits)? Does the agency have accounting and/or financial 
policies that guide the agency in how financial transactions are 
recorded and presented? 

   

g) Does the agency staff need to review financial data on a regular 
basis and are discrepancies identified, investigated and corrective 
action taken in a timely manner? The review may include 
reconciliations of various accounts, comparing budgets-to-actual, 
analyzing budget variances, comparing revenue and expense 
balances to the prior year, etc. If the agency uses Yolo County’s 
financial system and the County Treasury, does the agency 
review monthly the transactions in the County system to 
transactions the agency submitted to the County for processing?  

   

h) Does the agency board need to receive regular financial reports 
(quarterly or mid-year at a minimum) that provide a clear and 
complete picture of the agency’s assets and liabilities, fully 
disclosing both positive and negative financial information to the 
public and financial institutions? 

   

257



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-8 

 
Discussion:  
RD 150 appears to be in financially stable. The District’s revenue consists of special assessments, earnings 
on surplus funds, rental income, intergovernmental revenue and miscellaneous revenue. Over the past 5 
years special assessments were 50% of annual revenues and intergovernmental revenues were 46%. 
District’s revenue and expenditures have not fluctuated much except for the purchase of two generators in 
fiscal years 2022 and 2023. Overall total fund balance has increased by $154,124, from $124,989 as of 
July 1, 2019 to $279,113 as of June 30, 2023. The only issue is with the adequacy of fund balance to 
mitigate financial effects of upcoming known significant capital asset replacement and from unanticipated 
infrastructure failure. 

The District’s revenue appears to be mostly reliable with special assessments accounting for 50% of annual 
revenues, while intergovernmental revenue account for 46% of annual revenue. The special assessments 
are enrolled on the County’s tax roll and are subject to proposition 218. The intergovernmental revenue are 
not guaranteed and are subject to change based on policy changes of the grantor agencies. 

The District reports that it’s difficult to fund necessary levee improvements because of the high number of 
levee miles to maintain (17.74 mi.) as compared to the acreage in the district that can be assessed (4,921 
ac.). RD 150 received an overall rating of U as part of the Fall 2023 Flood Control Project Maintenance 
levee inspections. In 2023 Northern California experienced a series of atmospheric rivers in January and 
again in March characterized from moderate to exceptional. The resulting the impact to the flood control 
features, including levees, is evident in the inspection reports. The reported total cost for the current fiscal 
year is $200,000 which corresponds to $11,274 per levee mile.  

258



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-9 

The District does not have any debt nor any pension or other postemployment benefits liabilities. The 
District processes all of its accounting transactions through the County Treasury, using the County’s system 
chart of accounts and is part of the Department of Financial Services annual closing process. In addition, 
the District contracts for an annual audit. 

Does the district staff review financial data regularly and reports it to the Board quarterly and during budget 
reviews. RD 150 also conducts an annual audit. 

Financial Ability MSR Determination: 
RD 150 is financially stable. The District reports that it’s difficult to fund necessary levee improvements 
because of the high number of levee miles to maintain (17.74 mi.) as compared to the acreage in the district 
that can be assessed (4,921 ac.). RD 150 received an overall rating of U as part of the Fall 2023 Flood 
Control Project Maintenance levee inspections. In 2023, Northern California experienced a series of 
atmospheric rivers in January and again in March characterized from moderate to exceptional. The reported 
total cost for the current fiscal year is $200,000 which corresponds to $11,274 per levee mile. RD 150 
adopts budgets, reviews financial information quarterly, and prepares regular audits.  

Financial Ability Recommendation(s): 

· Adopt a capital improvement plan (CIP) or similar analysis to quantify the possible significant risks, 
infrastructure costs, or equipment failure to determine what the District fund balance goals should be 
(and fund accordingly). 

 

5. Shared Services and Facilities 
Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any opportunities for the organization to share services 
or facilities with neighboring, overlapping, or other organizations 
that are not currently being utilized? 

   

Discussion:  
None. 

Shared Services MSR Determination: 
RD 150 is not hydrologically connected to the other Clarksburg RDs and it is considered its own, separate 
hydrologic basin since it maintains a complete levee ring. RD 150 participates as members of the California 
Central Valley Flood Control Association (CCVFCA) and the Westside Committee for the Regional Flood 
Management Plan. 

Shared Services Recommendation(s): 
None.  

 

259



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-10 

6. Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies 
Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies. 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Are there any recommended changes to the organization’s 
governmental structure or operations that will increase 
accountability and efficiency (i.e. overlapping boundaries that 
confuse the public, service inefficiencies, and/or higher 
costs/rates)? 

   

b) Does the agency need to secure independent audits of financial 
reports that meet California State Controller requirements? Are the 
same auditors used for more than six years? Are audit results not 
reviewed in an open meeting? 

   

c) Is the agency insured or in a risk management pool to manage 
potential liabilities?    

d) Are there any issues with filling board vacancies and maintaining 
board members? Is there a lack of board member training 
regarding the organization’s program requirements and financial 
management? 

   

e) Are there any issues with staff capacity and/or turnover? Is there a 
lack of staff member training regarding the organization’s program 
requirements and financial management?  

   

f) Are any agency officials and designated staff current in making 
their Statement of Economic Interests (Form 700) disclosures?    

g) Does the agency have adequate policies (as applicable) relating to 
personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member and 
meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among 
staff and/or board to minimize risk of error or misconduct (see 
suggested policies list)? 

   

h) Does the organization need to improve its public transparency via 
a website (see https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-local-government-
website-transparency-scorecards)?  

   

Discussion:  
RD 150 is an independent special district governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. It meets monthly 
at the Bogle Tasting Room. The District complies with all Brown Act requirements in publicly noticing its 
meetings through posting and individual notification. 

All five Board member positions are currently filled. When there is a vacancy on the Board of 
Commissioners, candidates may file for the office of Commissioner, provided that each candidate is either 
a landowner or a legal representative of a landowner. Elections are conducted by an all-mail in ballot in 
accordance with Division 15 of the California Water Code and applicable provisions of the California 
Elections Code. Appointment by the Board of Supervisors will be made in the event there are no nominees 
or an insufficient number of nominees for the office to hold an election.  

The District has two (2) part time staff (a 0.25 FTE drainage pump superintendent and a 0.25 FTE secretary) 
but is primarily landowner operated. RD 150 contracts out for District Engineering services with MBK 

260



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-11 

Engineers and District Counsel is Downey Brand Attorneys.5RD 150 appears to have stable staffing with 
its employees and contractors. LAFCo is not aware of any issues regarding staff capacity and turnover.  

The District works to maintain transparency by receiving annual independent audits and producing annual 
adopted budgets. RD 150 has insurance coverage from Brown, Meyer & Cook (a broker). RD 150’s 2023 
Yolo Local Government Website Transparency Scorecard score improved to 90% this year, which is a 
significant achievement considering they did not have a website during the 2018 MSR.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies MSR Determination: 
There are no recommended changes to RD 150’s governance structure. Board members and staff are 
stable and capable. The District obtains annual independent audits and received a 90% score in the 2023 
Yolo Local Government Website Transparency Scorecard, which is a significant achievement considering 
they did not have a website during the 2018 MSR. One recommended improvement is consider adopting 
administrative policies.  

Accountability, Structure, and Efficiencies Recommendation(s): 

· Adopt policies (as applicable) relating to personnel/payroll, general and administrative, board member 
and meetings, and segregating financial and accounting duties among staff and/or board to minimize 
risk of error or misconduct. (repeat from 2018 MSR) 

 

7. Broadband Access 
Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy.  

Per Yolo LAFCo Project Policy 6.2 “it is the intent of Yolo LAFCo to comprehensively review broadband access 
in MSRs of local agencies that either serve communities and/or provide emergency services where broadband 
connection is critical (i.e. cities, CSDs, CSAs, FPDs and RDs).” 

 
Significant 

Issue 
Potentially 
Significant No Issue 

a) Is there a lack of high-performance broadband (25/3 Mbps) 
available in the community?    

Discussion: 
None.  

Broadband Access MSR Determination 
The CPUC California Broadband Availability Map6 indicates California Broadband Services provides fixed 
wireless services to the RD 150 area with 100/25 Mbps (upload/download) speeds.  
Yolo County is currently working with an internet service provider that will proposing two solutions for the 
Clarksburg area, a phased in wireless approach and a fiber project. However, State budget cuts will impact 
broadband project funding.  

Broadband Access Recommendation(s) 
None.  

  

 

5 RD response to LAFCo information request 
6 https://www.broadbandmap.ca.gov/ 

261



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

RD 150    
LAFCo No. 23-03  Draft July 8, 2024 

7.1-12 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 
A Sphere of Influence (SOI) is an area delineated on a map and approved by LAFCo that indicates where 
potential future agency annexations could be proposed. RD 150’s territory already aligns with the hydrologic 
basin and ring levee that it is responsible for. Therefore, future expansion of the district’s territory does not 
make sense. Therefore, no SOI Update is needed.  

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

 Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

262



  
  Regular    Regular    9. 9.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Elect new officers to the Commission to serve the remainder of a one-year term, ending February 1, 2025.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION
Discuss and elect new officers to the Commission.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTIONREASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
Each year, the members of the Commission elect a Chair and Vice Chair to serve a one-year term as stated in the
Yolo LAFCo Administrative Policies and Procedures and consistent with state law. After the retirement of Public
Member and Chair Olin Woods, a new Chair must be selected.

AttachmentsAttachments
No file(s) attached.

Form ReviewForm Review
InboxInbox Reviewed ByReviewed By DateDate
Christine Crawford Christine Crawford 06/05/2024 02:08 PM
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 06/05/2024 09:25 AM
Final Approval Date: 06/05/2024

263



264



  
  Regular    Regular    10. 10.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Designate two LAFCo members for an Executive Officer working group on reinvigorating the YED Talks

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION
Discuss and appoint two LAFCo members to a working group.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTIONREASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
This item was moved over from the June meeting to appoint a subcommittee to work on the issue instead of
workshopping the topic at a LAFCo meeting. Legal counsel suggested there would be greater flexibility if a working
group was formed by the Executive Officer, rather than a LAFCo subcommittee. 

BACKGROUNDBACKGROUND
This is the framing of the issues contained in the June 27, 2024, staff report for context and reference. 

Previously known as "Yolo Leaders", YED stands for "Yolo, Education and Discovery" and its name borrows from
the well-known TED-Talks. The summit is "where local city, county and school leaders self-organize community
learning and innovation to foster a culture of collaboration from which positive change can flourish." This culture of
collaboration was credited for helping create the foundation where public campaigns such as Healthy Yolo Together
and Hate Free Yolo could thrive. Engagement and attendance at the YED Talks has waned post-COVID. Yet, the
Commission discussed and agreed that these summits are very valuable for creating a culture of collaboration, and
prioritized reinvigorating these summits as a strategic planning priority. 

HistoryHistory
Staff's understanding is that the first summit was organized circa 2010 and brought the cities and County together in
Winters to discuss a countywide sales tax measure. The summits then continued 3-4 times per year and were
organized by former District 2 Supervisor Don Saylor's Office. In 2012, responsibility for organizing these events
shifted to LAFCo as part of its shared services portfolio. Beginning in 2014, the regularity of these summits settled
into two events per year, one in spring and fall, because engagement in the summer and holiday seasons posed a
challenge. In 2016, Yolo Leaders was rebranded as YED Talks. Over the years, these summits have offered a
diverse range of topics of interest to our local agency community, such as broadband, cannabis regulation, poverty,
transportation funding, mental health, and standing against hate rhetoric/incidents. During the COVID pandemic,
these summits were offered virtually, and in-person attendance has languished somewhat since.  

Key QuestionsKey Questions

Who should be invited?Who should be invited?
The distribution list for summit announcements has historically included elected officials from the cities, County, and
school districts, plus these agencies' executive staff and County department heads. In addition, the State
Assembly/Senate staff and UC Davis government relations staff are included, plus any topic stakeholders who are
invited as speakers. One issue (as a consequence of the organization's role transitioning from the District 2 Office
to LAFCo) is that LAFCo doesn't work with school districts in our normal course of business, so there is presumably
little familiarity with what LAFCo is and why they should engage. Consequently, school district attendance has been
low over the years. Selecting topics of interest to cities and the County that would also be of interest to schools has
sometimes been a challenge. Staff is not necessarily suggesting schools drop off the invitation list, but LAFCo staff
need assistance bridging stronger connections with the school district's elected officials. 

How can we enhance engagement in both the planning committee and summit attendance?How can we enhance engagement in both the planning committee and summit attendance?
Once the audience for YED Talks has been re-calibrated, the planning committee needs to be reformed. Selecting
topics and speakers of interest will directly correlate with higher attendance. Staff will need help from

265



commissioners finding engaged representatives from a cross-section of these agencies to form a planning
committee to select topics and speakers for the summits. The time commitment is typically only a one-hour virtual
meeting several months before each summit, two times per year. 

Other than staff sending emails and meeting invitations, what can we do to bolster meeting attendance? For
example, when this event was led by the District 2 Office, the supervisor would make personal phone calls to solicit
attendees. One suggestion from the Strategic Plan discussion was to secure higher profile speakers to draw greater
attendance. This is a great suggestion, and staff would like to point out that this is something a strong planning
committee and/or commissioners need to take on because LAFCo staff don't necessarily have the needed
connections. 

Where should meetings be: rotate hosts among cities and the County, negotiate one central location,Where should meetings be: rotate hosts among cities and the County, negotiate one central location,
or virtual? or virtual? 
Before COVID, YED Talks rotated among the cities and the County. We've also occasionally held summits at
special locations, such as the Yolo County Office of Education conference center or at UC Davis. Staff recalls
attendance at events in both West Sacramento and Winters were relatively low, but this could be a topic issue and
not a geographic one. During COVID, events were virtual, and there was a recent Commission discussion when we
adopted the Strategic Plan indicating in-person was preferred. Therefore, the remaining question is whether we
continue to rotate hosts around the county or find one central regular location such as the Woodland Community
Center, subject to their approval, of course. The City of Woodland has allowed LAFCo to use their facility for free on
occasion, but it may not if this becomes a regular occurrence. 

Anything else?Anything else?
Please offer any other ideas and suggestions this staff report may have missed.

AttachmentsAttachments
No file(s) attached.

Form ReviewForm Review
InboxInbox Reviewed ByReviewed By DateDate
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 07/16/2024 02:02 PM
Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 07/16/2024 01:01 PM
Final Approval Date: 07/16/2024

266



  
  Regular    Regular    11. 11.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
Consider CALAFCO 2024 Board of Director Nominations for one County Member for the Central Region and
designate a voting delegate and alternate for the election

RECOMMENDED ACTIONRECOMMENDED ACTION

1. Determine any nominee for a County Member to the 2024 CALAFCO Executive Board.
2. Authorize the Chair to sign a letter of recommendation of support if a nominee is chosen.
3. Designate the voting delegate and alternate.

FISCAL IMPACTFISCAL IMPACT
CALAFCO Executive Board members are not reimbursed by the Association. Each LAFCo absorbs the traveling
costs of its own member on the Executive Board. The estimated annual traveling costs will vary depending on the
location of Board meetings. Board members may participate in meetings via conference call. However, because of
the length of Board meetings, those who choose to conference into a meeting have a more difficult time
participating. The Board meets four to five times each year at alternate sites around the state. The annual cost could
range from $500 to $1,000 if air travel is required. Sufficient funds can be budgeted for this expense.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTIONREASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
The CALAFCO Recruitment Committee is accepting nominations to the Executive Board. The Executive Board is
composed of 16 members, four from each region including a city, county, public and special district member. The
office of the County is open in the Central Region, where Yolo LAFCo is located. County Member Rodrigo Espinosa
(Merced) was not reelected to his seat on the Merced County Board of Supervisors. Therefore, he is ineligible
to run for reelection to the CALAFCO Board.

Nominations are due to the recruitment committee by Monday, September 16, 2024. The election will be conducted
during Regional Caucuses at the CALAFCO Annual Conference prior to the Annual Membership Meeting on
Thursday, October 17, 2024, at the Tenaya Lodge at Yosemite in Fish Camp, CA.

BACKGROUNDBACKGROUND
The 2024 CALAFCO Board of Directors Election Nomination packet includes an invitation from the Recruitment
Committee, details on any changes to the election process, current CALAFCO Board members, and nomination
forms. Any submitted changes in bylaws or other association administrative documents may also be voted upon at
the annual conference. Electronic ballots will be available for LAFCos in good standing that cannot send
representatives to the Annual Meeting. Additionally, to accommodate the smaller number of voters in each region, a
runoff election will be required in the event of a tie or a non-majority vote.

According to the Yolo LAFCo Administrative Policies and Procedures, the most senior Regular Commissioner
attending the conference will be the voting member. If no regular commissioner attends the CALAFCO conference,
the Executive Officer will be the voting member.

AttachmentsAttachments
ATT A-2024 Board Recruitment and Nomination Packet

Form ReviewForm Review
InboxInbox Reviewed ByReviewed By DateDate
Christine Crawford Terri Tuck 06/05/2024 11:51 AM
Christine Crawford Terri Tuck 06/05/2024 01:58 PM
Christine Crawford Christine Crawford 06/05/2024 02:05 PM

267



Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 06/05/2024 09:23 AM
Final Approval Date: 06/05/2024

268



1451 River Park Drive, Ste. 185, Sacramento, CA 95815 

(916) 442-6536

www.calafco.org 

Date: May 21, 2024 

To: Local Agency Formation Commission Members and 
Alternate Members 

From: Kenneth Leary, Committee Chair 
CALAFCO Board Election Committee 
CALAFCO Board of Directors 

RE: Nomination Period Now Open for 2024/2025 CALAFCO Board of Directors 

The Nomination Period is now open for the fall elections of the CALAFCO Board of Directors for 
the following seats: 

CENTRAL REGION COASTAL REGION NORTHERN REGION SOUTHERN REGION 

County Member 
District Member 

County Member 
District Member 

City Member 
Public Member 

City Member 
Public Member 

Please inform your Commission that the CALAFCO Election Committee will be accepting 
nominations for the above-cited seats until:   

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

Should your Commission nominate a candidate, please return the completed Nomination 
Form and Candidate’s Résumé Form by the deadline. Completed nomination forms and all 
materials must be RECEIVED by CALAFCO by the deadline. 

Electronic filing of nomination forms is highly encouraged to facilitate the recruitment process. Please 
email to info@calafco.org. However, hard copy forms and materials may also be mailed to: 

Election Committee c/o Executive Director 
California Association of Local Agency Formation Commissions 
1451 River Park Drive, Suite 185 
Sacramento, CA 95815 

2 24 
CALAFCO 

ELECTIONS 

Serving on the CALAFCO Board is a unique 
opportunity to work with other commissioners 
throughout the state on legislative, fiscal, and 
operational issues that affect us all. The Board 
meets four to five times each year, generally 
virtually. However, strategic plan retreats and 
other meetings may be scheduled in-person and 
will alternate around the state. A job 
description is attached that more fully discusses 
director responsibilities and time commitment. 

Board terms span a two-year period, with no 
term limits, and any LAFCO commissioner or 
alternate commissioner is eligible to run for a 
Board seat.  

Elections will be  conducted during Regional 
Caucuses at the CALAFCO Annual Conference 
prior to the Annual Membership Meeting on 
Thursday, October 17, 2024 at the Tenaya 
Lodge in Fish Camp, California.  

Item 11-ATT A

269

mailto:info@calafco.org


Complete nominations received by the September 16th deadline will be included in the Election 
Committee’s Report that will be distributed to LAFCO members. Candidate names will be listed in the 
report, and on the ballot, in the order nominations are received. The Election Committee Report will be 
distributed no later than October 3, 2024, with ballots made available to Voting Delegates at the Annual 
Conference.  

Nominations received after the deadline will be returned; however, nominations may be made from the 
floor during the Regional Caucuses or during at-large elections, if required, at the Annual Membership 
Meeting.  

For those member LAFCOs who cannot send a representative to the Annual Meeting, an electronic 
ballot will be made available if requested in advance. Ballot requests must also be received no later than 
Monday, September 16, 2024, with completed absentee ballots due by no later than Thursday, October 
10, 2024.  

If you have any questions about the election process, please contact CALAFCO Executive Director René 
LaRoche at rlaroche@calafco.org or by calling 916-442-6536. 

Members of the 2024/2025 CALAFCO Election Committee are: 

Kenneth Leary, Committee Chair Napa LAFCO (Coastal Region) 

Bill Connelly Butte LAFCO (Northern Region) 

Kimberly Cox San Bernardino LAFCO (Southern Region) 

Anita Paque Calaveras LAFCO (Central Region) 

To assist you in this consideration, you will find attached for your reference a copy of the CALAFCO 
Board Member Job Description, the CALAFCO Board of Directors Nomination and Election 
Procedures and Forms, and the current listing of Board Members and corresponding terms of 
office. 

I sincerely hope that you will consider joining us! 

Attachments.

NOMINATION/ELECTION PROCESS DEADLINES AND TIMELINES 

• May 21 – Nomination Announcement and packet sent to LAFCO

membership and posted on the CALAFCO website.

• September 16 – Completed Nomination packet due

• September 16 –Request for an absentee/electronic ballot due

• September 16 – Voting delegate name due to CALAFCO

• October 3 – Distribution of the Election Committee Report (includes all

completed/submitted nomination papers)

• October 3 – Distribution of requested absentee/electronic ballots.

• October 10 – Absentee ballots due to CALAFCO

• October 17 - Elections

Local Agency Formation Commission    Page 2 

CALAFCO Board of Directors Nominations May 21, 2024 

270



 

 
 
 

CALAFCO Board Member Job Description, Approved: 4/12/2024 
Last Revised: 4/12/2024 

Page 1 of 2 

 
 

Board Member Job Description 

California Association of Local Agency Formation Commissions (CALAFCO) 
Member of the Board of Directors 

 
 
Mission 

As a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization, CALAFCO supports LAFCOs by promoting efficient and 
sustainable government services based on local community values through legislative advocacy 
and education. 
For more information, please see CALAFCO’s website at www.calafco.org. 

Values 

The underlying values that define our organization are: dependability, efficiency, honesty, and 
transparency. 

Duties 

Board members have the following legal duties: 

1. Duty of Care: Ensuring prudent use of all assets including financial, facility, people, and 
good will. 

2. Duty of Loyalty: Ensuring that the association’s activities and transactions are, first and 
foremost, advancing its mission; Recognizing and disclosing conflicts of interest; Making 
decisions that are in the best interest of the association and not in the best interest of an 
individual board member, or any other individual or entity. 

3. Duty of Obedience: Ensuring that the association obeys applicable laws and regulations; 
follows its own bylaws and policies; and that it adheres to its stated corporate 
purposes/mission. 

Position 

The Board is a governing body and is expected to support the work of CALAFCO by providing 
mission-based leadership and strategic governance. While day-to-day operations are led by 
CALAFCO’s Executive Director (ED), the Board-ED relationship is a partnership and the 
appropriate involvement of the Board is both critical and expected. Board Members are tasked 
with the Leadership, Governance, and Oversight of the association. Responsibilities include, but 
are not limited to: 

 Representing CALAFCO to stakeholders; acting as an ambassador for the organization 
to regional members and California legislators. 

271



 
 

Board Member Job Description 

 
CALAFCO Board Member Job Description, Approved: 4/12/2024 

Last Revised: 2/19/2024 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 Approving policies that provide the appropriate authority and guidance for/to the ED 
in the administration of the organization. 

 Serving as a trusted advisor to the ED.  
 Participating in strategic planning retreats. 
 Reviewing agenda and supporting materials, and communicating question to the 

Executive Director, prior to board and committee meetings. 
 Weighing the organization’s outcomes against strategic plan initiatives. 
 Approving CALAFCO’s annual budget, financial reports, and business decisions; being 

informed of, and meeting all, legal and fiduciary responsibilities. 
 Assisting the ED and board chair in identifying and recruiting other Board Members to 

ensure CALAFCO’s commitment to a diverse board and staff that recognizes the 
differing perspectives among LAFCOs. 

 Partnering with the ED and other board members to ensure that board resolutions are 
carried out. 

 Serving on committees or task forces and taking on special assignments, as needed. 

Board Terms/Expected Participation 

CALAFCO’s Board Members are elected during regional caucuses held at the association’s 
annual meeting, and serve two-year terms.  

Regular board meetings are held quarterly, special meetings are called as needed, strategic 
planning retreats are held every two years, committee meetings are called at different times 
during the year, and legislative canvasing in Sacramento may be needed. Two absences, within 
a calendar year, from any regularly scheduled board meetings constitutes a resignation of the 
Board member. 

Qualifications 

Board Members must be seated LAFCO Commissioners at their local level.  

This is an extraordinary opportunity for an individual who is passionate about the importance of 
the role that LAFCOs play in the sustainable growth of a region, and who has a track record of 
leadership. His/her accomplishments will allow him/her to interface effectively with the state 
legislature, as well as attract other well-qualified, high-performing Board Members. 

Remuneration 

Service on CALAFCO’s Board of Directors is without remuneration. Administrative support, 
travel, and accommodation costs are typically provided by a director’s home LAFCO. 

272



Board of Directors Nomination and Election 
Procedures and Forms 

 
The procedures for nominations and election of the CALAFCO Board of Directors [Board] are designed to 
assure full, fair and open consideration of all candidates, provide confidential balloting for contested 
positions and avoid excessive demands on the time of those participating in the CALAFCO Annual 
Conference. 
 

The Board nomination and election procedures shall be: 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF AN ELECTION COMMITTEE: 

 
a. Following the Annual Membership Meeting the Board shall appoint an Election Committee of 

four members of the Board. The Election Committee shall consist of one member from each 
region whose term is not ending. 

 
b. The Board Chair shall appoint one of the members of the Election Committee to serve as 

Committee Chair. The CALAFCO Executive Director shall either serve as staff to the Election 
Committee or appoint a CALAFCO regional officer to serve as staff in cooperation with the 
Executive Director. 
 

c. Each regional officer shall serve as staff liaison to the Election Committee specifically to assist 
in conducting the election as directed by the Executive Director and Committee.  
 

d. Goals of the Committee are to encourage and solicit candidates by region who represent 
member LAFCOs across the spectrum of geography, size, and urban-suburban-rural population, 
and to provide oversight of the elections process. 

 
2. ANNOUNCEMENT TO ALL MEMBER LAFCOs: 

 
a. No later than four months prior to the Annual Membership Meeting, the Election Committee 

Chair shall send an announcement to each LAFCO for distribution to each commissioner and 
alternate. The announcement shall include the following: 

 
i. A statement clearly indicating which offices are subject to the election. 

 
ii. A regional map including LAFCOs listed by region. 

 
iii. The specific date by which all nominations must be received by the Election Committee. 

The deadline shall be no later than 30 days prior to the opening of the Annual Conference. 
Nominations received after the closing date shall be returned to the proposing LAFCO 
marked “Received too late for Election Committee action.” 

 
iv. The names of the Election Committee members and the name of their LAFCO, regional 

representation, email address and phone number. The name, email address and phone 
number of the Executive Director shall also be included. 

 
v. The email address and physical address to send the 

nominations forms. 
 

vi. A form for a Commission to use to nominate a candidate 
and a candidate resume form of no more than one page 
each to be completed for each nominee.  
 

vii. The specific date by which all voting delegate names are 
due. 

 
viii. The specific date by which absentee ballots must be requested, the date CALAFCO will 

 

Key Timeframes for 

Nominations Process 

Days*  

120 Nomination announcement 

30 Nomination deadline 

14 Committee report released 

*Days prior to annual membership meeting

  

 

These policies and procedures were adopted by the CALAFCO Board of Directors on 12 January 2007 and amended on 9 November 2007, 8 February 2008, 13 
February 2009, 12 February 2010, 18 February 2011, 29 April 2011, 11 July 2014, 27 October 2017, 11 May 2018, 24 July 2020, 30 April 2021,  
30 July, 2021, and 21 January, 2022. They supersede all previous versions of the policies. 

 

273



distribute the absentee ballots, and the date by which they must be received by the 
Executive Director.  

  
b. A copy of these procedures shall be posted on the web site. 

 
3. THE ELECTION COMMITTEE: 

 
a. The Election Committee and the Executive Director have the responsibility to monitor 

nominations and help assure that there are adequate nominations from each region for each 
seat up for election. No later than two weeks prior to the Annual Conference, the Election 
Committee Chair shall distribute to the members the Committee Report organized by regions, 
including copies of all nominations and resumes, which are received prior to the end of the 
nomination period. 

 
b. At the close of the nomination period, the Election Committee shall prepare regional ballots. 

Each region will receive a ballot specific to that region. Each region shall conduct a caucus at 
the Annual Conference for the purpose of electing their designated representatives. Caucus 
elections must be held prior to the annual membership meeting at the Conference. The 
assigned regional officers along with a member of the Election Committee shall tally ballots at 
each caucus and provide the Election Committee the names of the elected Board members and 
any open seats. In the event of a tie, the regional officer and Election Committee member shall 
immediately conduct a run-off ballot of the tied candidates.   

 
c. Make available sufficient copies of the Committee Report for each Voting Delegate by the 

beginning of the Annual Conference. Only the designated Voting Delegate, or the designated 
Alternate Voting Delegate shall be allowed to pick up the ballot packet at the Annual 
Conference.  
 

d. Make available blank copies of the nomination forms and resume forms to accommodate 
nominations from the floor at either the caucuses or the annual meeting (if an at-large election 
is required). 
 

e. Advise the Executive Director to provide “CANDIDATE” ribbons to all candidates attending the 
Annual Conference. 
 

f. Advise the Executive Director to provide “VOTING DELEGATE” ribbons to all voting delegates 
attending the Annual Conference.  
 

g. Post the candidate statements/resumes organized by region on a bulletin board or other easily 
accessible location near the registration desk. 

 
h. Regional elections shall be conducted as described in Section 4 below. The representative from 

the Election Committee shall serve as the Presiding Officer for the purpose of the caucus 
election and shall be assisted by a regional officer from a region other than their own, as 
assigned by the Executive Director  
 

i. Following the regional elections, in the event that there are open seats for any offices subject 
to the election, the Election Committee Chair shall notify the Chair of the Board of Directors 
that an at-large election will be required at the annual membership meeting and to provide a 
list of the number and category of seats requiring an at-large election. 

 
4. ELECTRONIC BALLOT FOR LAFCO IN GOOD STANDING NOT ATTENDING ANNUAL MEETING 

Limited to the elections of the Board of Directors 
  

a. Any LAFCO in good standing shall have the option to request an electronic ballot if there will be 
no representative attending the annual meeting. 

 
b. LAFCOs requesting an electronic ballot shall do so in writing to the Executive Director no later 

than 30 days prior to the annual meeting. 
 

c. The Executive Director shall distribute the electronic ballot no later than two weeks prior to the 
These policies and procedures were adopted by the CALAFCO Board of Directors on 12 January 2007 and amended on 9 November 2007, 8 February 2008, 13 
February 2009, 12 February 2010, 18 February 2011, 29 April 2011, 11 July 2014, 27 October 2017, 11 May 2018, 24 July 2020, 30 April 2021,  
30 July, 2021, and 21 January, 2022. They supersede all previous versions of the policies. 

 

274



annual meeting. 
 

d. LAFCO must return the ballot electronically to the Executive Director no later than three 
working days prior to the annual meeting. 

 
e. LAFCOs voting by electronic ballot may discard their electronic ballot if a representative is able 

to attend the annual meeting. 
 

f. LAFCOs voting under this provision may only vote for the candidates nominated by the Election 
Committee as noted on the ballot and may not vote in any run-off elections.  

 
5. AT THE TIME FOR ELECTIONS DURING THE REGIONAL CAUCUSES OR ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP 

MEETING: 
 

a. The Presiding Officer shall: 
 

i. Review the election procedure with the membership of their region. 
 

ii. Present the Election Committee Report (previously distributed). 
 

iii. Call for nominations from the floor by category for those seats subject to this election:  
 

1. For city member. 
 

2. For county member. 
 

3. For public member. 
 

4. For special district member. 
 

b. To make a nomination from the floor, a LAFCO, which is in good standing, shall identify itself 
and then name the category of vacancy and individual being nominated. The nominator may 
make a presentation not to exceed two minutes in support of the nomination. 

 
c. When there are no further nominations for a category, the Presiding Officer shall close the 

nominations for that category. 
 

d. The Presiding Officer shall conduct a “Candidates Forum”. Each candidate shall be given time to 
make a brief statement for their candidacy. If a candidate is absent from the regional caucus, 
they may ask someone in their region to make a brief statement on their behalf. 
 

e. The Presiding Officer shall then conduct the election: 
 

i. For categories where there are the same number of candidates as vacancies, the Presiding 
Officer shall: 

 
1. Name the nominees and offices for which they are nominated. 

 
2. Call for a voice vote on all nominees and thereafter declare those unopposed 

candidates duly elected. 
 

ii. For categories where there are more candidates than vacancies, the Presiding Officer 
shall: 

 
1. Poll the LAFCOs in good standing by written ballot. 

 
2. Each LAFCO in good standing may cast its vote for as many nominees as there are 

vacancies to be filled. The vote shall be recorded on a tally sheet.  

These policies and procedures were adopted by the CALAFCO Board of Directors on 12 January 2007 and amended on 9 November 2007, 8 February 2008, 13 
February 2009, 12 February 2010, 18 February 2011, 29 April 2011, 11 July 2014, 27 October 2017, 11 May 2018, 24 July 2020, 30 April 2021,  
30 July, 2021, and 21 January, 2022. They supersede all previous versions of the policies. 

 275



3. Any ballots submitted electronically for candidates included in the Election 
Committee Report shall be added to the tally. 

 
4. With assistance from the regional officer, tally the votes cast and announce the 

results. 
 

iii. Election to the Board shall occur as follows: 
 

1. A majority of the total number of LAFCOs in a given region are required for a 
quorum. Returned absentee ballots shall count towards the total required for a 
quorum. 

 
2. The nominee receiving the majority of votes cast is elected. 
 
3. In the case of no majority, the two nominees receiving the two highest number of 

votes cast shall face each other in a run-off election. Electronic ballots are not 
included in the tally for any run-off election(s). 

 
4. In case of tie votes: 

 
a. A second run-off election shall be held with the same two nominees. 
 
b. If there remains a tie after the second run-off, the winner shall be determined 

by a draw of lots. 
 

6. ADDITIONAL PROCEDURES 
 

a. For categories where there are more candidates than vacancies, names shall be listed on the 
ballot in the order the nomination was received and deemed complete. 

 
b. The Election Committee Chair shall announce and introduce all Board Members elected during 

the Regional Caucuses at the annual business meeting. 
 
c. In the event that Board seats remain unfilled after a Regional Caucus, an election will be held 

immediately at the annual business meeting to fill the position at-large. Nominations will be 
taken from the floor and the election process will follow the procedures described in Section 4 
above. Any commissioner or alternate from a member LAFCO may be nominated for at-large 
seats.  

 
d. Seats elected at-large become subject to regional election at the expiration of the term. Only 

representatives from the region may be nominated for the seat.  
 
e. As required by the Bylaws, the members of the Board shall meet as soon as possible after 

election of new Board members for the purpose of electing officers, determining meeting 
places and times for the coming year, and conducting any other necessary business. 

 
7. LOSS OF ELECTION IN HOME LAFCO 

 
Board Members and candidates who lose elections in their home office shall notify the Executive 
Director within 15 days of the certification of the election. 

 
8. FILLING BOARD VACANCIES 

 
Vacancies on the Board of Directors may be filled by appointment by the Board for the balance of 
the unexpired term. Appointees must be from the same category as the vacancy, and should be 
from the same region.  

  

These policies and procedures were adopted by the CALAFCO Board of Directors on 12 January 2007 and amended on 9 November 2007, 8 February 2008, 13 
February 2009, 12 February 2010, 18 February 2011, 29 April 2011, 11 July 2014, 27 October 2017, 11 May 2018, 24 July 2020, 30 April 2021,  
30 July, 2021, and 21 January, 2022. They supersede all previous versions of the policies. 

 

276



 

CALAFCO’s Four Regions 

277



The counties in each of the four regions consist of the following:  

 

Northern Region Coastal Region 
Butte Alameda 
Colusa Contra Costa 
Del Norte Marin 
Glenn Monterey 
Humboldt Napa 
Lake San Benito 
Lassen San Francisco 
Mendocino San Luis Obispo 
Modoc San Mateo 
Nevada Santa Barbara 
Plumas Santa Clara 
Shasta Santa Cruz 
Sierra Solano 
Siskiyou Sonoma 
Sutter Ventura 
Tehama  
Trinity CONTACT: Dawn Longoria  
Yuba Napa LAFCO 
 dawn.longoria@napa.lafco.ca.gov  
CONTACT: Steve Lucas 
Butte LAFCO 
slucas@buttecounty.net Central Region 
 Alpine  
 Amador  
 Calaveras  
Southern Region El Dorado 
Orange Fresno 
Los Angeles Inyo 
Imperial Kings 
Riverside Madera 
San Bernardino Mariposa 
San Diego Merced 
 Mono 
CONTACT: Gary Thompson Placer 
Riverside LAFCO Sacramento 
gthompson@LAFCO.org   San Joaquin 
 Stanislaus 
 Tulare 
 Tuolumne 
 Yolo   
 
 CONTACT: José Henriquez 
 Sacramento LAFCO 
 henriquezj@saccounty.net

278



CURRENT BOARD MEMBERS AND TERMS 
  

NAME REGION TYPE & TERM 

Bill Connelly 
Butte 
Northern 

County 
(2025) 

Kimberly Cox 
San Bernardino 
Southern 

District 
(2025) 

Rodrigo Espinosa 
Merced 
Central 

County 
(2024) 

Yxstian Gutierrez 
Riverside 
Southern 

County 
(2025) 

Blake Inscore, Secretary 
Del Norte 
North 

City 
(2024) 

Gay Jones, Treasurer 
Sacramento 
Central 

District 
(2024) 

Kenneth Leary 
Napa 
Coastal 

Public 
(2025) 

Gordon Mangel 
Nevada 
Northern 

District 
(2025) 

Michael McGill  
Contra Costa  
Coastal 

District 
(2024) 

Derek McGregor 
Orange 
Southern 

Public 
(2024) 

Margie Mohler, Chair Napa 
Coastal 

City 
(2025) 

Anita Paque 
Calaveras 
Central 

Public 
(2025) 

Wendy Root Askew 
Monterey 
Coastal 

County 
(2024) 

Josh Susman 
Nevada 
Northern 

Public 
(2024) 

Tamara Wallace  
El Dorado 

Central 

City 
(2025) 

Acquanetta Warren, Vice-Chair 
San Bernardino 
Southern  

City 
(2024) 

279



 

Board of Directors 

2024/2025 Nomination Form 
(Must accompany the Candidate Résumé Form) 

 
Nomination to the CALAFCO Board of Directors 

 
 
In accordance with the Nominations and Election Procedures of CALAFCO,  

  LAFCO of the   Region  

Nominates   

for the (check one)   City   County  Special District   Public 

Position on the CALAFCO Board of Directors to be filled by election at the next Annual 

Membership Meeting of the Association. 

 
 
 

   
LAFCO Chair 

 
 

   
Date 

NOTICE OF DEADLINE 

 

Nomination Packets must be received by September 16, 

2024 to be considered by the Election Committee.  

 

Send completed nominations to 

info@calafco.org 

Or, mail to: 

CALAFCO Election Committee 

CALAFCO 

1451 River Park Drive, Ste. 185 

Sacramento, CA 95815 

 

 

Date Received  

  

280

mailto:info@calafco.org


 
 

Board of Directors 
2024/2025 Candidate Résumé Form 

(Complete both pages) 
 

Nominated By:    LAFCO Date:   

Region (please check one):  ❑ Northern  ❑ Coastal  ❑ Central  ❑ Southern 
 
Category (please check one):  ❑ City  ❑ County  ❑ Special District  ❑ Public 

Candidate Name   

 Address   

 Phone Office   Mobile   

 e-mail    
 
Personal and Professional Background: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LAFCO Experience: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CALAFCO or State-level Experience: 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Received  

  

281



Availability: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other Related Activities and Comments: 
 
 

 
 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NOTICE OF DEADLINE 

 

Complete Nomination Packets must be received by 

September 16, 2024 to be considered by the Election 

Committee.  

 

Send completed nominations to 

info@calafco.org 

Or, mail to: 

CALAFCO Election Committee 

CALAFCO 

1451 River Park Drive, Ste. 185 

Sacramento, CA 95815 

 

282

mailto:info@calafco.org


  
  Executive Officer Report    Executive Officer Report    12. 12.             

LAFCOLAFCO
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 07/25/2024  

InformationInformation
SUBJECTSUBJECT
A report by the Executive Officer on recent events relevant to the Commission and an update of staff activity for the
month. The Commission or any individual Commissioner may request that action be taken on any item listed.  

a.  07.25.2024 Long Range Planning Calendar 

b.  EO Activity Report - June 24 through July 19, 2024 

c.  CALAFCO Legislative Summary

AttachmentsAttachments
ATT a-07.25.2024 Long Range Planning Calendar
ATT b-EO Activity Report Jun24-Jul19
ATT c-07.25.2024 CALAFCO Legislative Summary

Form ReviewForm Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 07/16/2024 08:40 AM
Final Approval Date: 07/16/2024

283



284



Long Range Meeting Calendar – Tentative Items 

July 25, 2024  

Meeting Date Tentative Agenda Items 

Sep 26, 2024 • FY 23/24 Q4 Financial Update

• Consider the MSR/SOI Initial Study for the City of Woodland and
determine a comprehensive Update is not needed for this 5-year
review cycle per Government Code §56425(g)

Oct 24, 2024 • FY 24/25 Q1 Financial Update

Dec 5, 2024 • Adopt LAFCo 2025 Meeting Calendar

• Adopt MSR/SOI for Cemetery Services (6 districts)

New Applications Received Since Last Meeting 

Date Received Application Name 

None 

Item 12-ATT a

285



286



 Executive Officer’s Report 

July 25, 2024 

1 

LAFCo EO Activity Report 
June 24 through July 19, 2024 

Date Meeting/Milestone Comments 
06/27/2024 Meeting w/Counsel Eric May Confirming reorganization protest process & 

prop 218 implications 

06/28/2024 Meeting w/Dotty Pritchard (Dep. Supervisor to Mary V. Sandy) and 
Elisa Sabatini (Yolo County Manager of Natural Resources) 

Elkhorn FPD dissolution 

07/01/2024 Meeting w/Eric Zane (City of Woodland’s Fire Chief) Springlake FPD south of CR 29 

07/02/2024 Meeting w/Counsel Eric May Confirming reorganization protest process & 
prop 218 implications 

07/08/2024 Meeting w/Elisa Sabatini (Yolo County Manager of Natural 
Resources) 

MSR Flood Protection for CSA #6 (Snowball) 
in Knights Landing 

07/10/2024 Meeting w/Supervisor Jim Provenza Springlake FPD south of CR 29 

07/11/2024 Meeting w/Acting Chair Bill Biasi LAFCo agenda review 

07/11/2024 Meeting w/Supervisor Oscar Villegas Flood Protection MSR – Clarksburg Basin 

07/12/2024 Meeting w/Public Member Pamela Miller Yolo LAFCo briefing 

07/16/2024 Meeting w/Supervisor Mary V. Sandy Elkhorn FPD briefing 

07/18/2024 Meeting w/ Tom Kane, Bill Mattos Sr., and Dotty Pritchard Elkhorn FPD dissolution 

07/19/2024 Meeting w/Supervisor Lucas Frerichs Springlake FPD south of CR 29 

07/19/2024 Interviews for LAFCo Analyst position Four interviews today 

Item 12-ATT b

287



288



1 

CALAFCO Legislative Summary 
July 25, 2024, LAFCo Meeting 

The CALAFCO Legislative Committee is currently tracking 10 pieces of proposed legislation. Two of these 
items are bills sponsored by CALAFCO: 

• AB 3277 CALAFCO’s omnibus bill was signed by the Governor on July 2, 2024

• SB 1209 regarding LAFCo indemnification was significantly watered down and does not offer as
much legal protection. It passed the Assembly Local Government Committee and was read in
Assembly a second time on June 24, 2024, and ordered to a Third Reading.

Additional bills of potential Yolo LAFCo interest include: 

• AB 805 (Arambula D) This bill has been gutted and amended and no longer addresses
consolidation of wastewater systems but, rather, would set up a program in which the state would 
provide technical, managerial, administrative, and financial assistance, where applicable, to
disadvantaged communities. CALAFCO has taken a “watch” position. On June 5, 2024, the bill
passed Senate Environmental Quality Committee and re-referred to Appropriations due to recent
amendments on June 24, 2024. This bill may be potentially valuable for Yolo LAFCo if
disadvantaged community wastewater systems fail to maintain adequate service.

• AB 2302 (Addis D) This bill would enact changes to Brown Act provisions that allow members of
legislative bodies to teleconference for meetings. Currently, the law limits teleconferencing to no
more than 3 consecutive months, 20% of the regular meetings in a calendar year, or 2 meetings
for bodies that meet less than 10 times in a calendar year. This bill redefines those limits as 2
meetings per year for bodies meeting monthly or less; 5 meetings per year for those meeting
twice per month; or 7 meetings per year if the body meetings three times or more per month.
CALAFCO has taken a “watch” position. On July 3, 2024, it was scheduled for a Third Reading in
Senate but not heard.

• SCR 163 (Cortese D) This would reaffirm the sole authority of LAFCos for changes of organization
and extraterritorial services. Its not clear where this bill came from or why. On July 3, 2024, it
failed in the Senate Local Government Committee, but reconsideration has been granted.
CALAFCO has taken a “support” position. However apparently Senator Cortese will not be
pursuing this again this legislative cycle.

Please see the attached CALAFCO List of Current Bills dated 7/16/2024. CALAFCO currently does not 
oppose any bills.  

Item 12-ATT c

289



�����������	�
������	����������������� ������ ���������� ���!�"����#�$�%�&���&#��	�'�&�$
�����	���(����� ����	�)�*	%�+,-./-/0�12123435���67,8���9/:� ;�	
&�$�&%�32<=2343=� ���	�����&%�12123435� !	�	��%�123523435>?.�@A,,B77--0�C-:-DD-/�7A�EFE9-.E-�:B8-G� �
$�	�
�%�123523435>HG�+IICG�HJHIKLHK�M?NK� O-EPIA8B@QMBE@R8M8AADO-EPIA8B@Q���$��M8AADSA.:GSA.@GK.DA88-/ T-7A-/ S6R97-D-/<E7�UAFE- 3./�UAFE-� !����V%�W6-�H7R7-�XR7-D�C-EAFD@-E�SA.7DA8�YARD/�R./�76-�Z�SR8B:AD.BR�D-[BA.R8�\R7-D�]FR8B7Q@A.7DA8�̂ARD/E�D-[F8R7-�\R7-D�]FR8B7Q�B.�R@@AD/R.@-�\B76�76-�IAD7-D>SA8A[.-�XR7-D�_FR8B7Q�SA.7DA8+@7�R./�76-�:-/-DR8�S8-R.�XR7-D�+@7G�SFDD-.7�8R\�RF76ADB̀-E�R�D-[BA.R8�̂ARD/�7A�AD/-D�76-�9DAaBEBA.A:�E-\-D�E-DaB@-�̂Q�R�D-@-BaB.[�E-\-D�EQE7-,b�RE�/-:B.-/b�7A�R�/BER/aR.7R[-/�@A,,F.B7Q�E-Da-/�̂QR.�B.R/-]FR7-�A.EB7-�E-\R[-�7D-R7,-.7�EQE7-,b�RE�/-:B.-/G�W6BE�̂B88�\AF8/�RF76ADB̀-�76-�E7R7-ÂRD/b�F.7B8�cR.FRDQ�<b�343Zb�R./�R:7-D�B7�,RP-E�R�E9-@B:B-/�:B./B.[�AD�:B./B.[E�̂Q�D-EA8F7BA.b�7AD-]FBD-�R�/-EB[.R7-/�E-\-D�EQE7-,�7A�@A.7DR@7�\B76�R.�R/,B.BE7DR7AD�/-EB[.R7-/�AD�R99DAa-/�̂Q�76-E7R7-�̂ARD/�:AD�R/,B.BE7DR7Ba-b�7-@6.B@R8b�A9-DR7BA.R8b�8-[R8b�AD�,R.R[-DBR8�E-DaB@-E�7A�REEBE7�R/-EB[.R7-/�E-\-D�EQE7-,�\B76�76-�/-8Ba-DQ�A:�R/-]FR7-�E-\-D�E-DaB@-b�RE�/-:B.-/G� � � d
��	�
�� � � !��e�$	� �� � � XR7@6� � � OBER/aR.7R[-/SA,,F.B7B-EbXRE7-�XR7-D� �� � ���������
����	�%��4123523435�C-:-DD-/�7A�+99DA9DBR7BA.E�EFE9-.E-�:B8-G12f234350�IREE-/�H-.R7-�K.aBDA.,-.7R8�_FR8B7Q�SA,,B77--�R./�D->D-:-DD-/�7A�+99DA9DBR7BA.E�/F-�7AD-@-.7�R,-./,-.7EGf2<f234350�+,-./-/G�LA\�9DAaB/-E�R/,B.BE7DR7Ba-b�:B.R.@BR8b�R./�7-@6.B@R8�REEBE7R.@-�7A�6-89R//D-EE�R./�@ADD-@7�E-\-D�EQE7-,�:RB8FD-E�AD�A76-D�D-[F8R7ADQ�.A.>@A,98BR.@-�-g6B̂B7-/�̂Q�-gBE7B.[B.:DRE7DF@7FD-Gf2<234350�+EEB[.-/�7A�H-.R7-�K.aBDA.,-.7R8�_FR8B7Q�@A,,B77--G�LA�6-RDB.[�/R7-�Q-7�E@6-/F8-/G<231234350�HF99AD7b�B:�R,-./-/b�R99DAa-/G�+,-./,-.7�D-]F-E7-/�BE�76-�B.@8FEBA.�A:�8R.[FR[-D-]FBDB.[�76-�E7R7-�̂ARD/�7A�@A.EF87�\B76�76-�8A@R8�N+MShG<233234350�iF77-/�R./�R,-./-/G�LA�8A.[-D�R//D-EE-E�@A.EA8B/R7BA.�A:�\RE7-�\R7-D�EQE7-,E�̂F7bDR76-Db�\AF8/�E-7�F9�R�9DA[DR,�B.�\6B@6�76-�E7R7-�\AF8/�9DAaB/-�7-@6.B@R8b�,R.R[-DBR8bR/,B.BE7DR7Ba-b�R./�:B.R.@BR8�REEBE7R.@-b�\6-D-�R998B@R̂8-b�7A�/BER/aR.7R[-/�@A,,F.B7B-EG�IAEB7BA.@6R.[-/�7A�EF99AD7�B:�R,-./-/�7A�B.@8F/-�R�9DAaBEBA.�D-]FBDB.[�76-�E7R7-�̂ARD/�7A�@A.EF87�\B76�76-8A@R8�N+MSh�D-[RD/B.[�76-�EQE7-,G+E�B.7DA/F@-/b�76BE�̂B88�\AF8/�6Ra-�RF76ADB̀-/�76-�E7R7-�̂ARD/b�B:�EF::B@B-.7�:F./E�RD-�RaRB8R̂8-b�7AAD/-D�@A.EA8B/R7BA.�A:�E-\-D�E-DaB@-�R8A.[�\B76�R.�AD/-D�A:�@A.EA8B/R7BA.�A:�/DB.PB.[�\R7-D�EQE7-,E\6-.�̂A76�A:�76-�D-@-BaB.[�R./�EF̂EF,-/�\R7-D�EQE7-,E�9DAaB/-�E-\-D�E-DaB@-�R./�R:7-D�76-�E7R7-ÂRD/�-.[R[-E�B.�@-D7RB.�R@7BaB7B-EG�?7�:RB8-/�7A�,--7�343=�/-R/8B.-E�R./�̂-@R,-�R�3�Q-RD�̂B88�76R7@R..A7�̂-�R@7-/�F9A.�F.7B8�cR.FRDQb�3435G�� ������ �d�$j�$
�� ����k������	��'�%�	���$
�����$��'%������&��V��
&V(����� ����	�)�*	%�+,-./-/0�f23Z23435���67,8���9/:� ;�	
&�$�&%�32<=2343=� ���	�����&%�f23Z23435� !	�	��%�l2323435>MRB8-/�O-R/8B.-�9FDEFR.7�7A�CF8-�1<m̂nm<=nG�mNRE7�8A@R7BA.�\RE�NG�ihTG�A.f2<23435n� �
$�	�
�%�l2323435>HG�OK+O� O-EPIA8B@QMBE@R8M8AADO-EP���& MBE@R8M8AADSA.:GSA.@GK.DA88-/ T-7A-/ S6R97-D-/<E7�UAFE- 3./�UAFE-� !����V%�W6-�CR896�oG�YDA\.�+@7b�D-]FBD-Eb�\B76�E9-@B:B-/�-g@-97BA.Eb�-R@6�8-[BE8R7Ba-�̂A/Q�A:�R8A@R8�R[-.@Q�7A�9DAaB/-�.A7B@-�A:�76-�7B,-�R./�98R@-�:AD�B7E�D-[F8RD�,--7B.[E�R./�R.�R[-./R@A.7RB.B.[�R�̂DB-:�[-.-DR8�/-E@DB97BA.�A:�-R@6�B7-,�A:�̂FEB.-EE�7A�̂-�7DR.ER@7-/G�SFDD-.7�8R\RF76ADB̀-E�76-�8-[BE8R7Ba-�̂A/Q�A:�R�8A@R8�R[-.@Q�7A�FE-�R87-D.R7-�7-8-@A.:-D-.@B.[�9DAaBEBA.E�/FDB.[R�9DA@8RB,-/�E7R7-�A:�-,-D[-.@Q�m-,-D[-.@Q�9DAaBEBA.En�R./b�F.7B8�cR.FRDQ�<b�3431b�B.�@-D7RB.@BD@F,E7R.@-E�D-8R7-/�7A�76-�9RD7B@F8RD�,-, -̂D�B:�R7�8-RE7�R�]FADF,�A:�B7E�,-, -̂DE�9RD7B@B9R7-�:DA,

pqrsqtuv�rwtx�yz {|}~��{���|��|��{��{��q�����{q����������������xr�t�ttr���t��upts��r����~u�~{���x��

�||��wqq{|}~��{���|��|��{��{��q�����{q����������������xr�t�ttr���t��upts��r����~u�~{���x�� rqp290



���������	�
������������������������
����������
���������������������������������������	����������������	�	����	��������	�������������	�����
	�������������		����������
����������	���	����	���������	��������������������
�����
�	���
����������
	��	������������������������������������������	�������������	������
	��������������������	�����
	�����������
����	���	���������	������
�	���
����������������	�����������������������������	����	��������������������������
	������
�����������������������
���������	�����������	������������������	�������������������������������� ����	��!��"#"$�������������	�%������������	���������������������������������	�����	��������������	������
	���������������������
����	����	���������	��������������������
����
�	���
����������
	��	���������������������	����	��������������������������	������������������������
	����������������������
	���	��
�������������������������	�������������������������������	����	��������������������
����������������������
	���	��
��������������������������������������	����	�����������	�����������������	�������������������

��	�������	����	���������
���
�	�������������������������
����������������������������	�����	�����	��������
�����	�������
���������������������������	����	��������������	����������������������	����������������	�����������
�	���
�����������������	�������������	�����	���������������������������������������������&���	��	���������������	������
�	���������������������������������	����	���������������������������������������������������	������������	��	���	��������	������������	�����	���	���������������'���
����������������������	��������������	��������������	��������������������	��������	�������	���������������	��!"����������	�����	�� � � ()*+,+)-� � � ./0123,� �� � � 4���� � � 5	����6�� �� � 7898:7;�7)<<2-,*=��>?"?"#"@A�B�������>?"?"#"@���	��������������������� ����!������������������������������������	�
���������������������������	�
�	��������$?C?"#"@A��������	������D������E����F���	���������������������������������	�������	������	������!?"C?"#"@A�G����������������6����������������������������D������E����F���	�����������������������D������ �����	������������!?!>?"#"@A�6����������������D�������������� ����	��!��"#"$�H?!$?"#"HA��������������������������
��'��
��������������������	�������������������������	����������������������������������	�����I���������������������	���
����������������������	�%�������'������������������������������	���������������	��������������
�	�������	���������	��������������J�	������������������������������������	����������	����	���������
�������������������������������������������	������������	���������
�	���
�������	�����������K�
	����������������������������������������	����������������	�����������
	�������������������������������������������	����������������������������	��������������������
���������������������
	�������������	��������	����������������	��������������������	��������������
�	��	��������������������������������	����������������	����	�
���������������������	��!"�����������	�����	�����������������	�����	������������	�
	���������������5	����6���	���

������������������	���������J����������������������������������"����	��������������������������
��������� ����	���"#"@��� 8L�MNM O7)--)PPQ�RS���./*,T+-T0P2�UV)/-WXT,2V�<T-TU2<2-,=�<T-TU2W�X2,PT-W*Y����� 7/VV2-,�Z2[,=�6������A�>?!?"#"@����������
��� \-,V)W/32W=�"?!H?"#"H� 9T*,�8<2-W=�>?!?"#"@� .,T,/*=�>?!?"#"@K]����������������������������]�K	���		��������������6̂ ]̂�� 9)3T,+)-=�$?"C?"#"@KD��6̂ ]̂�� B��' �̂���J����J���	B��' �̂���:+*3TPJ���	���������_�	����� �̀���� ���
��	��!���a���� "���a����� 7TP2-WTV=��b?C?"#"@��!#������K�!#"!�c�D�	�����]����""##�D_d6�_�6̂ ]̂ĉ ]&6�&cdD���656EE_]c��6dd6������	� ./<<TVQ=�����D�����������F	��������	�G����������6��	����	��������	��������	�������������������������K��	�������K
	��	������������������B�
�	���������4���	�]����	��������������������	����	��������	����������������
�����	���	���������	��������	����������������
������I�
������
��������_I���������������������	�������	�����	�
�	
�������������������������������������	���������������	�����	�
�	
�������������������������������	���e���������������f�����e������������������	��������f� � � ()*+,+)-� � � ./0123,� �� � � d���������������� � � 4���	� �

ghijhklm�inko�pq rstuvwrxyzs{|s}xr~wr{�hy�v|zrhy�v|z��wx�y��z��oivk�kki���k��lgkj��i���xulvur���o��

�ssy�nhhrstuvwrxyzs{|s}xr~wr{�hy�v|zrhy�v|z��wx�y��z��oivk�kki���k��lgkj��i���xulvur���o�� khg291



� � ������������	
����������������������������������������� ���!"�#�""������$%%"�%"�������&'�"����������'��()���#�"�'��"��*����+�,����� -��,�����.�������(���#�/������0������������1��("�)�����("��������2���"�&��'�����������3����"�!"�#�""������$%%"�%"������� ���4�����.������$����5)6�7)��"�������8������/���������5����'��()���#�"�%�)��6�'��"��* ���+�����.�������(���#�$����5)6�$%%"�%"��������0�������� ���������$������������"�9��%"�8�������"�*�"���*����))�����(���6�&���"��6��������"8��*�����8����*�������(�����������%�8�������*"�(��&���"��(������5�)��6��*������ �1�&�%"�8�������&�"�����������'��5�))��'���&�()��'�8���'���##�����#���"8��*��(���#��'���:�����*�)�&3�(���)�;��(�"6��3����+3���))�����(���6�&���"��6��������"8��*������8����*�������(�������#"���%�"�������%(5)���&���"�(%%)6�&�))� �$#��"�;��(�"6��3����+3��'���%"�8�������(�����������'��)�&�&�()��"�8�"��5��9��������(""����������&��'�(���'����"8���(� ��4�����.������$����5)6�2���"3�.�"9���������"�������0�������� ��������<��$������������#�����*��������������������"�=(�"����"��:�)(����#"����:�����*�����- ��>�?>�? �$������2���"�0���������������<� ���������)��*(�*��"�*�"���*�#���3������������2���"�0��������������<<�������"����*"�(��&���"��(������5�)��6�%)��� 7��)��������9��$%"�)�%�)��6���������������)����������&��������5��������(%���(���)�;��(�"6����� $�����"��(���3�&�()��������#���������#�"�@���*���2��)����3�����/��))�����(���6�&���"��6�������2���"�0����/������������ �� �A�BCDB E�FFG��HI����J	
��		�G
K��L�MNL�NK	
MG	���	L	M�
O	P	
M	�Q����� �RPP	
��S	T��U��"��(�����������������'��)���%�#� V
�P�FRM	F����������� W�N�R��-�-�����!���������������� �X"��"�������'�"��"�����* � ��MN�G�
�-�-�����!/ �YZU�[��\$[U1]� [��9.�)��67����)7)��"[��9.�)��67����)�L��P0��# 0��� \�"�))�� �̂���� 0'�%��"������Z�(�� ����Z�(��� WR��NP_�Y'����)%'�@ �̀"�&��$���*���"�))6�"�=(�"���#�"���)����#�"�����*��'����'��)�*��)���8��5��6�#���)���)��*���6��'����)��������(�����)����#�"�����*�%�����*����������))���)����#�"�����)��������3������#6����'���)����#�"�����)������������'��������������*������#��'��������*��"�%"�������*3����'�8�����'���)����#�"�����)��������5���������5)������'��%(5)�� �0(""����)�&��)���"�=(�"����'��3��("��*�'����)����#�"����3����)�������=(�"(���#��'�����5�"���#��'��)�*��)���8��5��6�%�"����%����#"��)���������&��'����'��5�(���"�����#��'����""���"6��8�"�&'��'��'��)���)��*���6��:�"������a("��������� Y'������%"�8���������:��%���������'��a("����������)�"�=(�"������#�"�'��)�'��(�'�"�����3������#���� 0(""����)�&3�(���)�;��(�"6��3����-3��(�'�"�b����'��)�*��)���8��5��6��#���)���)��*���6����(���)��"����8����)����#�"�����*�����%���#������"�(����������#3��("��*��'����)����#�"�����������*3���)�������=(�"(���#��'�����5�"���#��'��)�*��)���8��5��6�%�"����%��������%�"����#"��������*()�"%'6����)�)���������)��")6�������#��������'���*������'�������%�������'��%(5)����������(�����&��'����'�5�(���"�����#��'����""���"6��8�"�&'��'��'��)���)��*���6��:�"������a("���������3������'��)�*��)���8�5��6����%)����&��'�%"���"�5���"�=(�"������ �0(""����)�&���%�����%"���"�5���"���"�����������"�����%�"����%������56������5�"�(���"��'�����)��"����8����)����#�"�����*�%"�8������3����)(���*����5)��'��*�)����������'���(�5�"��#�������*�������5�"���6�%�"����%���������)�)6�56���)����#�"����#"�����"������)�������3�%"�'�5����*��(�'�%�"����%������#�"���%�"�����#���"���'���<�������(��8�����'���"���c��#��'��"�*()�"�������*��#�"��'��)���)��*���6�&��'�������)����"�6��"3��"���"���'����������*���#��'��)�*��)���8��5��6�"�*()�")6�������#�&�"��'������������%�"���)����"�6��" �Y'���5�))&�()��"�8�����'����)�����3���������%"�'�5����*��(�'�%�"����%������#�"���"���'������%���#�����(�5�"��#������*��%�"�6��"3�5��������'�&�#"�=(���)6��'��)�*��)���8��5��6�"�*()�")6������ � � � d��G�G�
� � � WRef	M�� �� � � 2���'� � � "̀�&��$��� �� � ������������	
������<�������2�����'��()���#�"�Y'�"��������*����/������5(������'��"� �1���&������6�����'��()�� -�,�������.������/������g���)�]�8�"������0��������3�"�������������������;(���,3����� �Y'�"�������*���'��()���#�"��-���������5(��%(�'����(�����-��,�����3��'���%(�'����*���������<����� ,�4�������.������$����5)6�Y'�"��������*�������8������/����� ��������%������$����5)6�g���)�]�8�"������0���������������������$����5)6�7)��" U��"��(����������������3��'���5�))�&�()���������'��*������̀"�&��$���%"�8��������'����))�&����5�"��#�)�*��)���8��5�����������)����#�"�����#�"�������*� �0(""���)63��'��)�&�)��������)����#�"�����*��������"���'���<�������(��8������'�3���c��#��'��"�*()�"�������*���������)����"�6��"3��"���������*��#�"5�������'��������)�����'�������������������)����"�6��" �Y'���5�))�"���#������'����)�����������������*�%�"�6��"�#�"�5������������*�����')6��"�)���h�,�������*��%�"�6��"�#�"��'����������*��&����%�"����'h��"���������*��%�"�6��"��#��'��5��6�������*���'"����������"���"��%�"�����' �

ijkljmno�kpmq�rs tuvwxytz{|u}~u�zt�yt}�j{�x~|tj{�x~|��yz�{��|��qkxm�mmk���m��niml��k���zwnxwt���q��

�uu{�pjjtuvwxytz{|u}~u�zt�yt}�j{�x~|tj{�x~|��yz�{��|��qkxm�mmk���m��niml��k���zwnxwt���q�� qji292



� ������� ��	
������������
���������������������
����
��������� ��

����������� !"#!#$�%&'(&)*)+���,- .���/#0� 1��
	�������)&'+&)*)+� 2�����3�����%&'(&)*)+� ��������4&5&)*)+67!8#�9!:;"#�-< !=�>?#!?!#�-;�-,<?#�?!8#<"@=� 2	����	���4&5&)*)+6A=�BCD7E�7F�EDGH� E!9IJ;.<:KL<9:8.L.;;?E!9IJ;.<:KL<9:8.M�		
N;"0=N;":=F"?;..!# O!-;!# N,8/-!?!#'9-�C;P9! )"#�C;P9!� ��33�
���Q;P.#�8P-,;?<R!�-,!�Q!9-.8"#9�Q8-!?�E<9-?<:-�-;�/?;S<#!T�@!"!?8-!T�8"#�#!.<S!?�9;.8?/,;-;S;.-8<:�;?�,K#?;!.!:-?<:�!.!:-?<:<-K�8"#�-;�:;"9-?P:-T�;/!?8-!T�8"#� 8<"-8<"�U;?I9T�08:<.<-<!9T< /?;S! !"-9T�8"#�/?;/!?-K�"!:!998?K�;?�:;"S!"<!"-�0;?�@!"!?8-<"@�8"#�#!.<S!?<"@�-,8-�!.!:-?<:<-K=B,!�V<..�U;P.#�?!WP<?!�-,!�#<9-?<:-�-;�P9!�-,!�!.!:-?<:<-K�0;?�-,!�#<9-?<:-X9�;U"�/P?/;9!9T�8"#�-,!�V<..U;P.#�8P-,;?<R!�-,!�#<9-?<:-�-;�9!..�9P?/.P9�!.!:-?<:<-K�-;�8�/PV.<:�;?�/?<S8-!�!"-<-K�!"@8@!#�<"�-,!#<9-?<VP-<;"�;?�98.!�;0�!.!:-?<:<-K=�B,!�V<..�U;P.#�8.9;�8P-,;?<R!�-,!�#<9-?<:-�-;�:;"9-?P:-T�;/!?8-!T�8"# 8<"-8<"�!"!?@K�9-;?8@!�9K9-! 9�8"#�!.!:-?<:�-?8"9 <99<;"�.<"!9T�8"#�-;�:;"9-?P:-T�;/!?8-!T�8"# 8<"-8<"�U;?I9T�08:<.<-<!9T�< /?;S! !"-9T�8"#�/?;/!?-K�"!:!998?K�;?�:;"S!"<!"-�0;?�-,!�;/!?8-<;"�;0-,!�!"!?@K�9-;?8@!�9K9-! �8"#�!.!:-?<:�-?8"9 <99<;"�.<"!9T�U<-,<"�-,!�V;P"#8?<!9�;0�-,!�#<9-?<:-T�899/!:<0<!#=�B,!�V<..�U;P.#�?!WP<?!�-,!�#<9-?<:-�-;�?!/;?-�-,!�8 ;P"-�;0�<":; !T�8"#�-,!�/P?/;9!9�0;?!Y/!"#<-P?!�;0�-,8-�<":; !T�0?; �-,!9!�!.!:-?<:<-K�08:<.<-<!9�<"�8�9/!:<0<!#�?!/;?-=� � � Z	����	�� � � ��[\���� �� � � Q8-:,� � � A/!:<8.�E<9-?<:-J;U!?9� �� � ��2�M�]��	33�������*4&*5&)*)+$�7!8#�9!:;"#�-< !T�8"#�;?#!?!#�-;�-,<?#�?!8#<"@=4&)&)*)+$�J899!#�A!"8-!�F"!?@KT�̂-<.<-<!9T�8"#�N;  P"<:8-<;"9�:;  <--!!�8"#�;?#!?!#�-;�9!:;"#?!8#<"@=*(&''&)*)+$�J899!#�A!"8-!�_;:8.�H;S!?" !"-�N;  <--!!�8"#�?!6?!0!??!#�-;�A!"8-!�F"!?@KT-̂<.<-<!9T�8"#�N;  P"<:8-<;"9�N;  <--!!=*(&*%&)*)+$�7!0!??!#�-;�A!"8-!�_;:8.�H;S!?" !"-�N;  <--!!T�8"#�F"!?@KT�̂-<.<-<!9T�8"#N;  P"<:8-<;"9�N;  <--!!=*%&)+&)*)+$�D"�A!"8-!=�7!8#�0<?9-�-< !=�B;�7P.!9�N;  <--!!�0;?�899<@" !"-=*%&)5&)*)+$�B,<?#�?!8#<"@�/899!9�<"��99! V.K=�̀<..� ;S!9�-;�A!"8-!=*%&)*&)*)+$�7!8#�9!:;"#�-< !�<"��99! V.K=�>?#!?!#�-;�-,<?#�?!8#<"@=*%&'(&)*)+$�J899!#�VK��//?;/?<8-<;"9�89�� !"#!#=�A!:;"#�?!8#<"@�89�8 !"#!#=*%&*a&)*)+$�7!0!??!#�-;��//?;/?<8-<;"9�9P9/!"9!�0<.!=*+&)%&)*)+$�7!6?!0!??!#�-;��//?;/?<8-<;"9=*+&)+&)*)+$�7!8#�9!:;"#�-< !=�� !"#!#=*+&)5&)*)+$�J899!#�<"��99! V.K�G8-P?8.�7!9;P?:!9�N;  <--!!�89�8 !"#!#=�7!6?!0!??!#�-;�//?;/?<8-<;"9=*+&'a&)*)+$�J899!#��99! V.K�̂-<.<-<!9�8"#�F"!?@K�N;  <--!!=�7!6?!0!??!#�-;�G8-P?8.�7!9;P?:!9N;  <--!!=*+&'%&)*)+$��99! V.K�7P.!�%(�9P9/!"#!#=�bJ!"#<"@�?!6?!0!?�-;�G8-P?8.�7!9;P?:!9�N;  <--!!=c*+&*'&)*)+$�7!6?!0!??!#�-;�̂-<.<-<!9�8"#�F"!?@K�N;  <--!!�#P!�-;�9PV <99<;"�;0�8P-,;?8 !"# !"-9=*5&)a&)*)+$�L<?9-�,!8?<"@�9!-T�-,!"�:8":!.!#�8-�-,!�?!WP!9-�;0�8P-,;?=*5&)'&)*)+$�J899!#�N;  <--!!�;"�̂-<.<-<!9�d�F"!?@K=*)&'+&)*)+$�7!8#�0<?9-�-< !=�� ����e�f ��	�
��
�����g��hi�j���
	k���������	���������	�������� ��

����������� !"#!#$�+&)+&)*)+���,- .���/#0� 1��
	�������)&'+&)*)+� 2�����3�����+&)+&)*)+� ��������(&)4&)*)+67!8#�9!:;"#�-< !=�>?#!?!#�-;�-,<?#�?!8#<"@=� 2	����	���(&)4&)*)+6A=�BCD7E�7F�EDGH� E!9IJ;.<:KL<9:8.L.;;?E!9IJ;.<:KL<9:8.M�		
N;"0=N;":=F"?;..!# O!-;!# N,8/-!?!#'9-�C;P9! )"#�C;P9!� ��33�
���B,!�78./,�l=�̀?;U"��:-�?!WP<?!9�-,8-�8..� !!-<"@9�;0�8�.!@<9.8-<S!�V;#K�;0�8�.;:8.�8@!":KV!�;/!"�8"#�/PV.<:�8"#�-,8-�8..�/!?9;"9�V!�/!? <--!#�-;�8--!"#�8"#�/8?-<:</8-!=�NP??!"-�.8U8P-,;?<R!9�8�.!@<9.8-<S!�V;#K�-;�,;.#�8�:.;9!#�9!99<;"�U<-,�9/!:<0<!#�<"#<S<#P8.9�;"T�8 ;"@�;-,!?-,<"@9T� 8--!?9�/;9<"@�8�-,?!8-�-;�-,!�9!:P?<-K�;0�!99!"-<8.�/PV.<:�9!?S<:!9T�89�9/!:<0<!#=�B,<9�V<..U;P.#�8##<-<;"8..K�8P-,;?<R!�8�.!@<9.8-<S!�V;#K�-;�,;.#�8�:.;9!#�9!99<;"�U<-,�;-,!?�.8U�!"0;?:! !"-;?�9!:P?<-K�/!?9;""!.�8"#�-;�,;.#�8�:.;9!#�9!99<;"�;"�8�-,?!8-�-;�:?<-<:8.�<"0?89-?P:-P?!�:;"-?;.9�;?:?<-<:8.�<"0?89-?P:-P?!�<"0;? 8-<;"T�89�#!0<"!#T�?!.8-<"@�-;�:KV!?9!:P?<-K=

mnopnqrs�otqu�vw xyz{|}x~��y��y�~x�}x��n��|��xn��|����}~�������uo|q�qqo���q��rmqp��o���~{r|{x���u��

�yy��tnnxyz{|}x~��y��y�~x�}x��n��|��xn��|����}~�������uo|q�qqo���q��rmqp��o���~{r|{x���u�� rnm293



� � � ��������� � � �	
���� �� � � ����������������� � � ���������� �� � ���� �!���""����#��$%&%&'&()�*���+,-�+�.�������+����+��/�0,���������+1��������+����2������+,-�+1'3%&$%&'&()�4��+������+��������+���+���+��������+����+��/1'3%&3%&'&()�5����+�*������6,+�����2�7��������13%8%&'&()�5����+�*������9���-�:�;��������7�����������+���<��.����+��������*������6,+�����27��������=�����+,-�+�.���3%&818%>%&'&()�5����+������0-2�9���-�:�;��������7��������1(%&(%&'&()�����+�+�������-,+���20�����,���2�������������/���������/�����������0��+���,���+����-���+��������1�5��;�+�����+�.���������.�?�������-���.�����,��,���������-�?�������-,+��@1A1�������B�1��������+,��+����&%>(%&'&(C���,-+���B������������/�������������������1�D��������/1�� �E�FGHI J�KLL�MM�N�O��PQ�RS�����	��Q��T�������U�M��#�VK���������U�M��#�L�W�L�X����� �	LL����Y�Z�#�����+�+)�$%[%&'&(������-���\+.� ]��L�P	�P#�&%>3%&'&(� �K����"��P#�$%[%&'&(� ��K�	�#�$%[%&'&(<̂�������������)�����+C���+�+��\�����������+�+���+���<��.������7��1����5541�_�2���81������'1̀�_6,-2�[̀1�4��+������+��������+�����+�+1�4�<��.����+����7��1�����5541� ��K����#�$%[%&'&(<*1��5541� a��B5�-��2 �̂���- -̂���a��B5�-��2 ��KM -̂���7��.17���1b���--�+ c����+ 7��\����+>���d�,�� &�+�d�,��� �KM��PKL#��e%8%&'&(��>'��1�1�<�>'&>�f�*�����C�4����&&''�*b��Ab��554f54@�A@f�*C�7���99b4fC�����C�7����� �	""KLQ#�A���7������<g��h<d���i0��/�9���-�:�;��������4���/���i�����������.�&'''�\��;�+�������h�-,��;���,������2���+�\����+,���.�����������������C����+,��C���+����\-�������.�����/����.��/���i��������+�����/���i������.������������+�+��������C��h��\������\���.��+1�A�������������,������h������������������,��2���-���-��/���2�.��������������������_9�̂7f̀����������������.����0����\\�����+C�����\���.��+C���+�������;�����������������/����.���/���i��������+�����/���i�����1�A�������,�����i�����9�̂7f���C�����/�����������/�C���;������+��\\��;���������������,������+����C���--2C�\�����--2C�������+������--2C����+���\\��;��\��\���-��.�������/����.���/���i������������/���i�����C����-,+��/������\���������.������2����.����������.���+�������C�����\���.��+1�7,������-����j,������������,��2������;����0���+��.��,\��;��������+�\��;�+���.���������/���i��������+�\�������.����0���+��.��,\��;�����1�A����0�--���,-+���j,��������7�,��2��.�9�����/�-��C����-����������D�����>C&'&8C�����,0�����������9�/��-��,�������\������������-,+����\���.��+���.��������C����-,+��/C�����/����������/�C�.���b����9�����/�-��C�����.����0�-��2��.�.�����/����,����\�-��+;����2���,���-C���-���-�������,���-C����������+������/���,���-��������,-+���\��������������\�������;�������������.�����������b����9�����/�-�������,���21�@.�������,��2�����\��+,��+�����\�������������������,0�������--2����-�����.������������������.�����������j,���+�02������0�;�<+�����0�+�\��;������C������0�--���,-+�,�����i��������,��2�����,0�����������\�������-��,��.����\-����/�����\��������\���1� � � ��������� � � �	
���� �� � � ����������������� � � � �� � ���� �!���""����#��'$%'[%&'&()�����+�+��������;��9��9�̂7f�������-2�.��������\���������+���.����,���������j,����������������7�,��2��.�9�����/�-��1�5����+�9���-�:�;��������7���������������+�+C���+���<��.����+�����\\��\��������1'8%['%&'&()�*������9���-�:�;������������������������/�\���\���+�02��������������1'8%&>%&'&()�4��+�����+�����1�5����+���+���+���+��������*�����=�����/��+��������9���-�:�;�������7��������1'8%&'%&'&()�4��+������+�����1�f�+���+��������+����+��/1'8%>3%&'&()�6�����4,-��3&_�̀C�.�-����������,�\��+�+1�5����+��,���.��\\��\��������1'8%>8%&'&()�@�����������)�*��C�.�����������/1�4�.����+�����,�\�����.�-�1'(%['%&'&()�4�<��.����+�����\\��\��������1(%&k%&'&()�����+�+�;����������\����1�D�B�������0�--�������/��������\\��\���������.�.,�+��������0,����9��9�̂7f�.��������������.�����A��B�̂����1(%&(%&'&()�5����+������0-2�9���-�:�;��������7���������������/����������+��������+���<��.����+�����\\��\��������1[%&>%&'&()�����0�--�����/,���+���+�����+�+���+�������j,���������9��9�̂7f����+�;�-�\����b����9����/�-���̂���������A��B�̂����1��������������+�����,�1�� �E�lFmm J��""�����������KM�n�o�L�"���S�����KM�KU��Q�T�L"K������""������#�P���L���#WL�W�L�Q��KZX����

pqrsqtuv�rwtx�yz {|}~��{���|��|��{��{��q�����{q����������������xr�t�ttr���t��upts��r����~u�~{���x��

�||��wqq{|}~��{���|��|��{��{��q�����{q����������������xr�t�ttr���t��upts��r����~u�~{���x�� �qp294



� ����������	�
��������������������������������� ����������
�����������  �!��"
���������#$���%&���'(�����)%&��*%�+����������'(�,�-����(�%��,����#����������.,��/��0�%������+� 1��!�2��
���������#$+��3$456768� 8�094%�:-(;:0-�;�%%�8�094%�:-(;:0-�;�%%��%*�+�%*-+6*�%���� <��%�� �=!>�����?0��3%/0� �*��3%/0��  �@@!�A
�5����%���0�#B*%C#3���D'��E�F%-��)%&��*��*��7�%�E*:D�:%*�$-��%��������0�'�:0��0����0%���*���C-�/0:&��/��%�:�(�*����%-��/��0��%������:*:�:�:%*.�-%*�/-�.�*��-%�����:%*�%�-�*E�0�%��%�E*:D�:%*�*����%�E*:D�:%*��%��-:�:�0�*���:0��:-�0+��/���*���G���H/:��0���%-���:*E0�%�������%���:%*�%����:0��:-���%�'��-%*�/-����0�/��%�:D���'(�������:*-:���-��%��������%�%0���:0��:-�.�*��/��%�:D�0������%-��E�*-(��%���:%*�-%��:00:%*�:*��-��-%/*�(��%�0��&��0����-%*�/-�:*E�/��%�:�(.�0�0��-:�:��+��/���*���G���H/:��0��-%��:00:%*��%�������:*�������%/*��%���%����(��C���&�*/���%�'���C-�*E���'(�*����-�����%-��E�*-(.�0�0��-:�:��.�:��������%�%0�:*-�/��0������%���:%*�%����:0��:-�.�0����:*��+�5�:0�':���G%/��.�:*0���.���H/:����-%��:00:%*��%������:*�������%/*��%����%����(��C���&�*/���%�'���C-�*E���'(�*����-�����%-��E�*-(�:�������%�%0��:*-�/��0������%���:%*�%����:0��:-��*���������:-*��:0�0��9:*E��0����%������?I��&�%������%����(��C�0+� � � J�"2�2��� � �  �KL���� �� � � ,�%*0%�� � � M*-%��%��:%*4�%-���:*E0� �� � �N1NO�P���@@���"
���$F$;�Q�,�%*0%����':��+����������,:E*���'(�����)%&��*%��*����������+�R:���'�-%�������-�:&��%*�S*/�(�?.����T+�U��T�������6*�%�����*�����0�*�����%�����)%&��*%�������+�+�U�?V�������7�����:����:���:*�,�*���*��%��������%�����$00��'�(+�M*�$00��'�(+�Q��������%6*E�%00:*E�*��6*�%��:*E+�U����������7��%&�����%��$���%��:�:%*0�U�?�������-��*��+�$G:�:*E�*�G����+�T��W�������400���'(�,�*���F%-��)%&��*��*���%��:�����*����#����������%�$���%��:�:%*0.G�����:��:0�0-���/�����%�'�������%*�U�?����+���W�������7��%&�����%��$���%��:�:%*0�*��0�*���%�$00��'�(���%%��G�����:���00��+�$00:E*����%,�*���F%-��)%&��*��*���%��:�����*��$���%��:�:%*0+��?��������400���$00��'�(�F%-��)%&��*��*���%��:�����*��G0�����������%�$���%��:�:%*0+��  X�YZ[\ ]�����"��̂_���1��!̀�!a���A�b��@!�2�����@@2""2��
�2���@�2b2�!�2��c����� ����������	�
�$��*�����U�??������������������� ����������
���?T������ 1!"��N@���
�U�??������  �!��"
�U��������#7���0�-%*���:��+�Q��������%���:������:*E+� 1��!�2��
�U��������#$+�53M78�76$8Md)� 8�094%�:-(;:0-�;�%%�8�094%�:-(;:0-�Ò����%*�+�%*-+6*�%���� <��%�� ��������?0��3%/0� �*��3%/0��  �@@!�A
�5����%���0�#B*%C#3���D'��E�F%-��)%&��*��*��7�%�E*:D�:%*�$-��%���������%&:��0�����C-�/0:&��/��%�:�(�*����%-��/����%������:*:�:�:%*.�-%*�/-�.�*��-%�����:%*�%��-�*E�0�%�%�E*:D�:%*�*����%�E*:D�:%*��%��-:�:�0�*���:0��:-�0.��C-����0�0��-:�:��+�5���-��-%*�:*/�0�:*�C:0��*-��:*��-��-%/*�(���%-��E�*-(��%���:%*�-%��:00:%*�eF$;�Qf�����-%*0:0�0�%�����'��0��%:*���.�0�0��-:�:��.�*��%&��0��0���%0��-�*E�0�%��%�E*:D�:%*�*����%�E*:D�:%*+�5���-�/��%�:D�0��F$;�Q��%.��%*E�%�������:*E0.���&:�G�*�����%&��G:���%��G:��%/����*���*�.G�%��(.����:��(.�%��-%*�:�:%*��(.�%���:0���%&����%�%0�0��%��-�*E�0�%��%�E*:D�:%*�%���%�E*:D�:%*.�0�0��-:�:��+�5�:0�':���G%/���/��%�:D���F$;�Q��%���H/:��.�0��-%*�:�:%*��%�.��%*E%�������:*E0.���%-�00:*E��-�*E��%��%�E*:D�:%*�%����%�E*:D�:%*.������������:-*��E���0��%����*�.�:*���*:�(.�*���%��������00�����F$;�Q.�:�0�E�*�0.�%��:-��0.�*������%(��0���%��*�E:*0��*(�-�:�.�-�:%*.�%����%-���:*E.�0�0��-:�:��.��%���-9.�0���0:��.�&%:�.�%��**/��*���%&��'(�����F$;�Q+�5���':���G%/�����H/:�������F$;�Q��%���%����(�*%�:�(��������:-*��%��*(-�:�.�-�:%*.�%����%-���:*E��%���-9.�0���0:��.�&%:�.�%��**/��*����%&��'(�����F$;�Q�*���H/:�������F$;�Q��%��/��(�-%%������:*���������*0�+�5���':���G%/���0��-:�(�����*����:-*��G�%�:0����(��%�����E�����*��:0�*%����0�%*0:'����%�����*�.�:*���*:�(.�%���%��������00�����F$;�Q�:�����F$;�Q��:�0��%�*%�:�(��������:-*��%��-%%�������/��(�:*���������*0�.�*��:0�*%����H/:�����%��(�%�����%���*(�0�������*������:*E��%�����E�����*�.�/*��00��������:-*�����%&�0�����0�������*�+� � � J�"2�2��� � �  �KL���� �� � � ,�%*0%�� � � F$;�%$��:*:0���:%*��

ghijhklm�inko�pq rstuvwrxyzs{|s}xr~wr{�hy�v|zrhy�v|z��wx�y��z��oivk�kki���k��lgkj��i���xulvur���o��

�ssy�nhhrstuvwrxyzs{|s}xr~wr{�hy�v|zrhy�v|z��wx�y��z��oivk�kki���k��lgkj��i���xulvur���o�� jhg295



� � ������������	
�������������������������������� �����!� "#� "�$%%�&'�(�'���"�����!�)�*��"�+�!���(���%��������)�,����������-�!�� "�$%%�&'�(�%���"��� &�)�.������������ �����!� "#)�,����������/!%%���$%%�&'�(�0��!��1�2��"&�"��3�&&& ����)�,�44�������$������!&�"�%)�-�!��%���"��� &��!"��!&�"���)�-�5������������0��!��1�2��"&�"�3�&& ����)�6��7�������-�����������$%%�&'�(�0��!��1�2��"&�"��3�&& �����!"��+! � "#��"���!� "#��!��)�6��4�������/!%%������������"!���!"��&�2������$%%�&'�()������������/!%%�����"!���0��!��1�2��"&�"��3�&& �������!� "#)�*�+�8������%������"!��������2��������"�+ ���&�2�����$%%�&'�()3$0$93.�%8�"%�����' ��� "���%8�"%�����!������!88���!������ % �"���������!"�0� %�.' %8����!��������!��0$93.%�������"����%�� "��&" � �!� �"�8��2 % �"%� "�!88� �!� �"%�'��!�%�� "��&" � �!� �"%�!���!���&����!#���&�"����!��0$93.%�!��������"��(�"���!����� :�������"���� "��)�$%� "��������������' ��+�����!���+�0$93.%�����%��8��2 % �"%�% & �!��������"� �%�!"��� � �%)�� ;�<�=>? @��A�	�	�BC�����DEF�EG	
DH�I�A�E�J�
�D���J��J�
�K����� �LAA	
��M	N��$&�"���O�,��,����������&����8��� P
�A�QLD	Q�,�4R������ �E�����	
Q�,��,������ ;�E�L����������5S.TUO�V��5��5����W���!� "#O�X�� �"����-���"% ���)�V-���"% ���!� �"�1�!"���)WY/$��Z� ��DE�J�
�,��,�����5�)�0)�1.S)� [�%\]�FJDH 9 %�!�9����[�%\/�� �(9 %�!�9����3�"�)3�"�)U"������ S����� 3�!8�����4%��̂��%� �"��̂��%�� ;L��EAH�_�������!�� �&�����%����!����� �(�������!��!#�"�(����&!� �"���&& %% �"%�������� " � !� �"����"������!"����&8��� �"������!"#�%������#!" :!� �"������#!" :!� �"%��!"���̀��!���� ��� !�%��2 ��%������ � �%�!"��� %�� ��%)� � � ]��J�J�
� � � ;Lab	D�� �� � � ��88���� � � .����� �� � ������������	
��������������O�3�"% ������ "���"!���0��!��1�2��"&�"��3�&& �����'����! ����+ �����!2���������"% ���)�,��,�����O�-�5��������������"!���0��!��1�2��"&�"��3�&& ��������!��%���"��� &��!"��!&�"���'(�!�����)�,�4R�����O�c"��������)�-�����������-���%�3�&& ���������!%% #"&�"�)M��EF�d	E�LA	��=eM��EF�MAEDfJ
G���A���=eghijhklkm�inkonmk�pq

ghijhkmr�inko�pq stuvwxsyz{t|}t~ys�xs|�hz�w}{shz�w}{��xy�z��{��oiwk�kki���k��mgkj��i���yvmwvs���o�l

�ttz�nhhstuvwxsyz{t|}t~ys�xs|�hz�w}{shz�w}{��xy�z��{��oiwk�kki���k��mgkj��i���yvmwvs���o�l ghg296


	Agenda
	Item 5-LAFCo Minutes 06/27/2024
	ATT-Minutes 06.27.24

	Item 6-Update to Admin Policies Re Role of Commissioners
	Item 7-Correspondence
	ATT A-CHW Bulletin-Update on Public Law 06.26.24

	Item 8-Flood Agencies MSR/SOI LAFCo No. 23-03
	ATT A-Flood Protection Districts Performance Indicators and Map
	ATT B-Reso 2024-10 Adopting MSR-SOI for Flood Protection Services July 25 2024
	Exhibit A-RD 999 Bound. and SOI Adopted July 25, 2024
	Exhibit B-List of Recommendations

	ATT C-Draft MSR-SOI for Flood Protection Services July 8,2024
	Executive Summary
	MSR/SOI Background and Context
	Yolo County Flood Protection Context
	Yolo County Levee Systems/Basins
	District Services Provided
	1.0 Sac River Westbank System Levee System Overview
	1.1 RD 787 Draft MSR-SOI
	2.0 Knights Landing Unit 2 - Yolo Bypass - CSA 6 Levee System Overview
	2.1 CSA 6 Draft MSR-SOI
	2.2 KLRDD Public Draft MSR-SOI
	2.3 RD 730 Draft MSR-SOI
	3.0 Cache Creek-RD 2035-Willow Bypass (Conaway) Levee System Overview
	3.1 RD 2035 Draft MSR-SOI
	4.0 Sac Yolo North (Elkhorn) Levee System Overview
	4.1 RD 1600 Public Draft MSR-SOI
	4.2 RD 537 Public Draft MSR-SOI
	5.0 West Sacramento Levee System Overview
	5.1 RD 900 Draft MSR-SOI
	5.2 WSAFCA Draft JPA Review
	6.0 SacYolo South Levee System (Clarksburg) Overview
	6.1 RD 765 Draft MSR-SOI
	6.2 RD 307 Draft MSR-SOI
	6.3 RD 999 Draft MSR-SOI
	7.0 RD 150 - Merritt Island Levee System (Clarksburg) Overview
	7.1 RD 150 Draft MSR-SOI


	Item 9-Elect new Chair
	Item 10-Reinvigorate YED Talks
	Item 11-2024 CALAFCO Board Nominations
	ATT A-2024 Board Recruitment and Nomination Packet

	Item 12-EO Report
	ATT a-07.25.2024 Long Range Planning Calendar
	ATT b-EO Activity Report Jun24-Jul19
	ATT c-07.25.2024 CALAFCO Legislative Summary




